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COMPANY PORTRAIT
Varia US Properties is a Swiss based real estate company exclusively investing in the US multifamily market. It
focuses on secondary and tertiary markets that are
characterized by strong population and employment
growth.
The Company targets the low to moderate income
households for the American workforce. Currently,
42% of Varia’s units are benefitting from Low Income
Housing Tax Credit (LIHTC).
4

Established in September 2015 as a Swiss company,
Varia US Properties offers an alternative to the Swiss
real estate market. Investors benefit in addition to the
attractive return perspectives of the US real estate
market from the US Swiss double tax treaty.
Varia’s unique setup – characterized by an experienced
Swiss team, a US dedicated staff and a broad network
of highly qualified local partners backed by a majoritarian non-executive, independent Board – allows Varia
US Properties to successfully navigate through the
opportunities of the US real estate market.
The Company’s asset manager is Stoneweg SA, a Geneva
based international real estate asset manager with over
CHF 900 million of real estate assets transactions.
Stoneweg SA supports Varia US Properties in the portfolio management and implementation of its investment
strategy.
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PORTFOLIO SUMMARY AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2016

PORTFOLIO
VALUE
USD
million

343.5

MONTHLY
RENT
PER UNIT
USD

674

AVERAGE
MARKET
VALUE PER
UNIT
USD

64,160

NUMBER OF
PROPERTIES

NUMBER OF
UNITS

5,353

38
LOAN-TOVALUE

59.4%

GROSS
POTENTIAL
INCOME
USD
million

OCCUPANCY
RATE

95.5%

MANAGED BY

49.7
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GEOGRAPHIC BREAKDOWN OF VARIA PROPERTIES AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2016

Colorado 4.1%

6

VARIA PORTFOLIO – GEOGRAPHIC BREAKDOWN

North Carolina 2% Indiana 2%
New Mexico 2%
Mississippi 2%
Georgia 4%
Colorado 4%
Florida 41%

Nebraska 4%
Idaho 4%
Oklahoma 6%

Appraised value:
value:
Appraised

USD 343,450,000

Kansas 8%

Texas 10%

MANAGED BY

Utah 11%
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COMPANY MILESTONES

Full deployment of new capital
expected by
June 30, 2017

2017
7

Sourcing of new
opportunities

IPO and listing of shares
at SIX Swiss Exchange
raising CHF 124.7 million
December 8, 2016

2016
New acquisitions
deploying full equity

Selected non-strategic
property disposals

Ariston portfolio acquisition
& capital increase
February 2016

Sourcing of new
opportunities

2015
Equity raising
November 2015

Florida
portfolio acquisition
December 2015

Company formation
September 28, 2015
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FY 2016 HIGHLIGHTS
The Company saw a successful IPO at SIX Swiss
Exchange on December 8, 2016 raising USD 124.7 million new equity. This additional equity is expected to
be deployed until end of June 2017 with the purpose
to expand the real estate portfolio increasing its value
to approximately USD 600 million.

8

In 2016, 28 assets were acquired and three properties
sold, expanding the number of assets to 38 properties
spread in 13 different States of the US sunbelt region
and increasing total value of assets under management
to USD 343.5 million as of December 31, 2016.
On December 29, 2016, the Company swiftly started
to deploy the equity newly raised with the IPO by
acquiring a 346 units’ complex called Wood Hollow
(close to Dallas Fort Worth Airport and next door to
the planned new headquarters of American Airlines).
Reinforcement of the Board of Directors with Manuel
Leuthold and Beat Schwab, two additional highly
experienced non-executive directors in order to
support strong growth and to comply with all regulatory rules.
Following its strategy to successfully generate a return
on the capital invested, the Board proposes a distribution of CHF 9.0 million in total to the Company’s
shareholders. (CHF 8.0 million as a reduction of the
agio and CHF 1.0 million out of the profit reported in
the statutory accounts)

MANAGED BY
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FY 2016 KEY FIGURES

EFFECTIVE
GROSS
INCOME
USD
million

39.1

PORTFOLIO
RENT
GROWTH

5.4%
CASH-ONCASH YIELD

8.3%

FAIR VALUE
PORTFOLIO
ADJUSTMENT

NET
OPERATING
INCOME1

USD
million

USD
million

21.2

REPAIR
AND
CAPEX
USD
million

OPERATING
RESULT BEFORE
DEBT, TAXES AND
EXCEPTIONAL1

5.8

EARNINGS
PER SHARE2

USD

19.9

3.37

17.4

USD
million

NAV PER
SHARE

USD

33.65

1) See page 33.
2) Calculated on the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding.
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“ VARIA OFFERS THE OPPORTUNITY

TO INVEST IN THE US, THROUGH A
NETWORK OF LOCAL PARTNERS, BUT
WITH A SWISS TOUCH AND BASIS.”

MANUEL LEUTHOLD
CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

VARIA US PROPERTIES AG I ANNUAL REPORT 2016 I FOREWORD

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,
Varia US Properties AG (hereafter Varia, the Company) has been established to offer an
alternative real estate investment solution to Swiss and foreign investors, private and
institutional. Varia’s ambition is to bring the US multifamily real estate market and its strengths
into the investment environment of these investors, whilst having proximity to the asset
manager and its values.

Being a listed Swiss company brings all the advantages of
a solid setup, with a strict regulatory compliance framework and checks and balances in place, whilst benefiting
from the US-Swiss double tax treaty. Its Swissness also
gives it a Swiss touch or a Swiss way of doing business
that reassures investors and that comes with values of
integrity, hard working and trust.
At the end of the period under review, the portfolio of
Varia comprised 38 properties spread across 13 different states and representing 5,3531 units or apartments.
This portfolio represents a yearly gross potential income of more than USD 49 million and a net oper-

ating income of more than USD 19.9 million2 . It is not
always easy to compare these figures with the benchmarks used on other markets; this report is intended
to explain as transparently as possible the differences –
for instance, between the way Swiss investors look on
figures and the way the American market does, or the
differences between US and Swiss presentations on the
financial statements – and the ways these figures work
together.
The US real estate market offers higher returns on investment than the Swiss market and is a very large and
deep market in each of its segments. Varia chose to

1) According to Colliers International year end appraisals.
2) See page 33.
MANAGED BY
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invest solely in the US residential real estate market,
in secondary and tertiary markets, in B and C types
of products. This means that Varia invests beyond the
primary markets, in properties that are usually between
15–35 years old with average rents of about USD 800 a
month. Some of the Varia assets are LIHTC properties
(according to the low-income housing tax credit program), but they are all designed for the workforce of
America (low to moderate-income population).
Varia US Properties mostly follows a value-add strategy, which means that it invests in the renovation and
addresses the deferred maintenance of the properties
bought, which allows for a faster and larger rent increase
as well as an increase in the values of the properties.

12

LIHTC properties are bound by tenant and rent restrictions. They are acquired with the objective of transitioning them to market and hence benefiting from a
significant increase of value.
Each property of the portfolio is appraised twice a year
by Colliers International and the appraised value forms
the basis of the financial statements.
Varia was launched by the founders of Stoneweg SA, a
Swiss-based real estate asset management platform established in 2015. These founders were all senior Swiss

MANAGED BY

and international real estate managers and entrepreneurs who wanted to pool their competencies and to
offer alternatives for accessing international real estate
markets. Varia is one of the alternatives that was formed
at that time.
In order to ensure strong and successful growth as
well as to comply with all regulatory rules, the Board
of Directors of the Company was strengthened in
November 2016 and two additional non-executive
directors were elected, and one delegate executive
board member was designated.
The listing of the Company on December 8, 2016 followed a successful capital increase that doubled Varia’s
equity. The proceeds of this capital increase are being
deployed as these lines are being written. All of the new
equity has already been invested and the Company is
now working on building up leverage, strategically fixed
between 60% and 65%.
The Board of Directors is very pleased to present to the
General Assembly the attached financial statements.
They demonstrate the strength of the market as well
as the effectiveness of the strategy adopted. Significant amounts of capital has been invested in properties
whose value is now rapidly increasing, without having
changed the parameters of the valuation formulas.

VARIA US PROPERTIES AG I ANNUAL REPORT 2016 I FOREWORD

On the following pages, two sets of financial statements
are presented. The first corresponds to the IFRS accounting standard and the second gives the statutory
picture of the financial statements according to statutory law, i.e. the Swiss Code of Obligations. Both
sets of financial statements represent different views of
one single company, the IFRS financial statements provide a true and fair view of the operating side of the
business, while the statutory accounts best reflect the
Company’s balance-sheet strength and the ability to pay
dividends.
For this year, the Board of Directors decided to propose a distribution to shareholders out of the agio

reserves from the Company (CHF 8.0 million) as well
as out of the profit reported in the statutory financial
statements (CHF 1.0 million). The underlying success
that justifies the distribution of the agio reserve is
the result of the value-add strategy, which resulted in
unrealized capital gains. This distribution is not subject
to Swiss withholding tax. The Board also decided to
distribute some of the profits realized in Switzerland
as an additional dividend. This distribution will be
subject to Swiss withholding tax.
The Board of Directors is grateful for the confidence
Varia’s investors have placed in the Company and looks
forward to a very successful 2017.

13

Manuel Leuthold
Chairman
of the Board of Directors

Jaume Sabater Martos
Vice Chairman
of the Board of Directors

Patrick Richard
Delegate
of the Board of Directors
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“ THE CURRENT TRENDS IN THE

US REAL ESTATE MARKETS CONFIRM
AND FOSTER THE POTENTIAL OF
VARIA US PROPERTIES’ BUSINESS
MODEL.”

JAUME SABATER MARTOS
VICE CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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ACTUAL TRENDS IN THE
US REAL ESTATE MARKETS
The current trends in the US real estate markets confirm and foster the potential of
Varia US Properties’ business model with an investment focus on regions with stable
population, job growth and solid economic fundamentals. There are currently five
favorable trends for the Company.

1.

SHIFT FROM HOME OWNERSHIP
TO RENTING
Since 2004, there has been a shift from home ownership to renting in the US. At the end of 2016, home
ownership stood at just 63.7%, the lowest in over
30 years. The main driver for this trend are tightened
credit requirements for single family home ownership
following the financial crisis of 2008. Therefore, more
and more households delayed or forewent home
ownership, which resulted in the significantly increased

US
HOMEOWNERSHIP
RATE

demand for rental housing. In addition, a demographic shift
towards a renting population could also be observed,
especially within the under-40 age group and among
persons in the range of 60–70 years. Young adults
aged 20–30 represent the predominant renting population given their life stage, income levels and desire for
mobility. At the end of 2016, the homeownership rate
among those under the age of 35 fell to 34.5%, down
from a high of 43.1% back in 2004.

percent
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67
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Source: US Bureau of the Census

QUARTERLY HOMEOWNERSHIP
RATES AND SEASONALLY
ADJUSTED HOMEOWNERSHIP
RATES FOR THE UNITED STATES:
1995–2016
Recession
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69
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“ IN 2016, OUR PORTFOLIO

REPRESENTED A YEARLY RENTAL
INCOME OF MORE THAN
USD 39 MILLION AND A NET
OPERATING INCOME JUST BELOW
USD 20 MILLION.”
TOM BUCKLEY
SENIOR ANALYST STONEWEG US LLC

VARIA US PROPERTIES AG I ANNUAL REPORT 2016 I ACTUAL TRENDS IN THE US REAL ESTATE MARKETS

2.

DEMAND FOR RENTAL PROPERTIES
OUTPACES SUPPLY
Since 2010, the construction of multifamily houses has
been increasing. To meet the high demand, more than
300,000 units have been built every year since then.
380,000 units are expected to be put on the market in 2017, which is for now seen as the peak of this
trend. Nevertheless, the intense propensity among
young households will further boost demand for rental apartments. However, the gap between affordable

MONTHLY MULTIFAMILY
UNIT CONSTRUCTION
(IN THOUSANDS)

rental supply and low to moderate income tenants is
estimated to continue to widen in the foreseeable
future. One reason for this is that, especially in 2016,
there were some cost pressures on development
budgets and construction lenders displayed greater
caution. However, absorption rates are estimated
to remain high, vacancy rates are expected to be
sustained at 5%, and rents will continue to increase
for the growing population of young adults and aging
seniors.

500
450
400
350
300
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Source: US Census Bureau, Mill Creek: 2016 Outlook for the US Multifamily
Housing Market, Berkadia Forecasts 2016, Axiometrics, US Bureau of Economic
Analysis (BEA), Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation

3.

STRONG RENT AND
OCCUPANCY GROWTH
IN MULTIFAMILY HOUSING
Varia US Properties and its shareholders benefit from
the steady rent growth rates achieved in the last ten
years: From 2006 to 2016, the average annual growth
rate was 3.1% despite the financial crisis and an even
higher 4.3% from 2011 to 2016. The strong demand for
rental houses led to a quick recovery and also strong
growth from 2012 onwards.

At the beginning of 2017, average effective rent growth
continues to grow, albeit at a more moderate pace. The
effective year-to-date rent growth through February
2017 was estimated at 0.8%.
The Company however remains cautious when it
underwrites its new deals. Varia usually uses figures
between 3.5 and 3.75% for the first two to three years
and then 2.75–3% for the next couple of years and
then 2.5–2.75% for the rest of the projected holding
period, all this depending on the intensity of the valueadd strategy and of the region where the asset is
located.

MANAGED BY
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At the same time, the Company also profits from
the currently lowest vacancy rates in over 30 years –
the nationwide multifamily vacancy rate has been decreasing since Q3 2009, and this development has
been driven mainly by a substantial increase in the
20–34-year-old demographic group. The so-called
“sunbelt markets” continue to lead the US absorption

MEDIAN ASKING
RENTS IN THE US

rates, led by the areas Raleigh-Durham, Charlotte,
Orlando and Tampa. In 2016, the physical vacancy rate
within the Varia portfolio was on average 5.3%.
The US national occupancy rate improved during the
first two months in 2017 compared to last year and is
now estimated at 94.5%.
1,195

1’225
1’175

%

+20
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1’025
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Source: BMO Capital Markets, CBRE, Real Capital Analytics

SECONDARY AND
TERTIARY MARKET GROWTH
Given the demographic distribution and strength of the
US job market, the supply-demand dynamics will likely
continue to be favorable for the rental market in secondary and tertiary markets. Due to the fact that development and financing costs are very high, developers
look to areas where they can attract the highest paying
tenant base. Given the preference of young professionals with high incomes to live in city centers, development is driven towards urban cores. As a consequence,
low to moderate income residents in those urban cores
are being forced out by continuously increasing rents,
4.

CUMULATIVE SUPPLY
AND DEMAND GROWTH

and relocating to the secondary outer market neighborhoods. Thus, suburban apartment rent growth has
exceeded urban apartment rent growth over the past
five years.
This trend is a good demonstration of Varia’s investment strategy: people have to leave A locations and
move to B properties, pushing themselves the B tenants
into C multifamily housing assets. This move also pushes
up rents and allows Varia to implement its added-value
strategy, hence increasing again the level of rents and
the values of the properties it owns.
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Source: BMO Capital Markets, CBRE, Real Capital Analytics
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5.

INTEREST RATES HIGHER
BUT CAP RATES REMAIN FLAT
Interest rates have increased since the November
presidential elections. The 10-year US treasury yield,
which acts as the benchmark for the majority of the
10-year fixed-rate multifamily loans, stood at 1.79%
at the end of October 2016. The same index was at

CAP RATE
DECOMPOSITION

2.38% at the end of March 2017, an increase of 59 basis
points. This is 22 basis points lower than the peak of
2.60% in December 2016. Interest rate volatility and a
certain degree of uncertainty about the overall market
direction have impacted prices for multifamily properties. However, this impact remains rather insignificant in
terms of cap rates.
1.5%

8%

1.5%
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7%
6%
5%
4%
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Source: REAL capital analytics: 2016

To deal with the current volatility, the Company only
used 7-year and 10-year fixed-rate loans for its new
acquisitions in 2017 and only 21% of the loan portfolio
was variable at the end of 2016.

Higher interest rates, which is what was expected
following the election of the new president, would
trigger inflation and higher rents, which should protect
Varia’s investments and push up valuations. However, if
the new president fails to put through his policies, that
would push interest rates down and favor more investment activities.

MANAGED BY

“ONE PRIORITY FOR 2017 IS

REFURBISHING SEVERAL OF OUR
PROPERTIES, THUS INCREASING
RENTS AND OPTIMIZING RETURNS
TO INVESTORS.”
PATRICK RICHARD
DELEGATE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
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MANAGEMENT REPORT
Varia offers the opportunity to invest in the US, through a network of local partners,
but with a Swiss touch and basis. Varia’s investors benefit also from the Swiss way of
doing business, the Swiss set-up of the Company, the Swiss reporting system and its
listing on the SIX Swiss Exchange.

FORMATION AND STRATEGY
Varia US Properties AG (Varia or the Company) was
formed on September 28, 2015 in Zug. The purpose
of the Company is to acquire, hold and sell real estate
assets in the United States of America (the US) with a
focus on US multifamily apartments.
Varia was formed by a group of Senior Swiss Executives
active in Swiss and international real estate markets.
The main considerations in creating Varia were:
Real estate is an investment category that still has
room to grow with regular returns on equity and a
strong resilience to variable economic conditions.
Need for an alternative to the Swiss real estate
market, which offers lower returns and whose size
is limited
Need for an income-generating strategy in a world
of low interest rates.
To meet the demand of investors, the Company adopted
the following investment strategy:
US residential multifamily housing
Secondary and tertiary markets (outside of the large
and expensive primary markets)
B and C products: 15–35 year-old buildings, well
maintained with an opportunity to add value through
renovations, leading to rent increases
Apartments made for the workforce of America
LIHTC strategy (buy low income housing tax credit
properties, keep them until their restriction period
ends and do the transition to market in order to get
the added value out of it).

Varia offers the opportunity to invest in the US, through
a network of local partners, but with a Swiss touch
and basis. It is important Varia’s investors benefit
from the Swiss way of doing business, the Swiss reporting system, Swiss setup of Varia and its listing on the SIX
Swiss Exchange. Being a Swiss corporation, Varia is also
a strong and durable vehicle that complies with high
standards of regulations and best business practices, in
addition to benefiting from a strong double tax treaty.
MILESTONES AND
PORTFOLIO ACQUISITIONS
After its formation on September 28, 2015, the Company
raised CHF 99,994,636 through two capital increases in
November 2015 and January 2016.
Following the first capital increase, the Company acquired in December 2015 a portfolio of 13 properties, located in Florida (Orlando, Daytona, Jacksonville,
Pensacola). All these properties were built in the 70s
and 80s according to a standard building process called
“Cardinal”. Cardinal was a US company that developed
and sold millions of one-story cottages. These are all
built exactly the same way, which makes their maintenance quite easy and relatively inexpensive, which is
exactly the strategy of the Company (buy at a good
price, rent at an affordable level).

MANAGED BY
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All these acquisitions are driven by a few strong
elements that are key to Varia’s strategy and long-term
performance:
Strong demographic and income growth in the area
Room for rent increases (current rent at acquisition
below market rent)
Property conditions. The Company will address deferred maintenance but not fully reposition an asset.
In November 2016, an extraordinary General Meeting of
the shareholders decided to accept the board proposal
to organize a capital increase. It also decided to enlarge
the Board of Directors with two additional non-executive Board members, Mr. Manuel Leuthold and Mr. Beat
Schwab. The General Meeting also elected Mr. Patrick
Richard, Head of US investments for Stoneweg SA, as
Executive Delegate of the Board of Directors.
22

In January 2016, the Company bought 100% of the
shares of Ariston Opportunity Fund Ltd. The fund
held 23 properties throughout the United States, 18 of
which were LIHTC properties. This portfolio was well
diversified in 13 different states of the US, all compliant
with the investment strategy of Varia.

On December 6, 2016, the Company closed its third
capital increase and raised CHF 124.7 million (including
greenshoe option exercised on January 6, 2017). This
new equity will be deployed during the first semester of
2017 with the same strategy and key selection elements
applied until today.
On December 8, 2016, the Company was listed at the
SIX, Swiss stock exchange (VARN).

In April 2016, the Company acquired a 305-unit Senior
LIHTC facility called Woodland Manor in Tulsa (Oklahoma). The property has age and income restrictions
that can be lifted in the next few years.
During the same month, the Company acquired two
other properties, both located in Tallahassee, capital of
the State of Florida, which is located in the northern
part of the state. Tallahassee mainly employs state civil
servants as well as education-related people, as the city
has two major universities in its downtown area.
In July 2016, the Company sold three small assets all
located in the State of Iowa and purchased a property
called Brent Village in Bellevue (Nebraska), a few miles
south of Omaha. This 180-unit property is also under
a LIHTC regime that can be transitioned in the next
few years.

MANAGED BY

The first acquisition closed on December 29, 2016 after
the capital increase: Varia acquired the area of a 346unit property called Wood Hollow, which is located in
Dallas. This asset is located less than 20 minutes away
from the main Dallas airport (DFW) and very close to
the future American Airlines Headquarters.
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EXISTING PORTFOLIO AS
OF DECEMBER 31, 2016
A.

PORTFOLIO DESCRIPTION
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2016
(SEE ALSO PAGE 37)
(All reported figures and numbers in this section are
based on the Colliers appraisal of December 31, 2016).
At the end of the period, the portfolio comprised
38 assets in 13 States. The smallest asset is Eagle’s
Nest in Colorado with 30 units and an appraised value

of USD 1,520,000. The largest one is Wood Hollow
with 346 units; however, the most valued one is
Altitude on Fifth with an appraised value of USD
39,000,000. In the future, Varia will focus on assets
usually between USD 10 million and USD 20 million.
In terms of geographical breakdown, Florida represents
41% of the portfolio, Utah 11% and Texas 10%. The
Company intends to continue to reduce the Florida
Colorado 4.1%
allocation by acquiring more properties outside of this
state in order to reinforce diversity.

VARIA PORTFOLIO – GEOGRAPHIC BREAKDOWN
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North Carolina 2% Indiana 2%
New Mexico 2%
Mississippi 2%
Georgia 4%
Colorado 4%
Florida 41%

Nebraska 4%
Idaho 4%
Oklahoma 6%

Appraised value:
value:
Appraised

USD 343,450,000

Kansas 8%

Texas 10%

Utah 11%
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As of December 31, 2016, Varia owned 15,456,937
square feet of land, which equals to 1,435,996 m2 or
143.6 hectares. The total number of units in the portfo-

lio was 5,353 with a total gross potential income of USD
49,658,734. The total appraised value of the portfolio
was USD 343,450,000.

Property Name

City

State

Site Size
(Square
foot)

Site size
(m2)

Year
Built

Net
rentable
area in
m2

Units
Number

Gross
Pontential
Income
in USD

Proforma
Net
Operating
Income
in USD

Capitalization
Rate
in %1

Appraised
value in
current
conditions
in USD

Eagle’s Nest

Rifle

Colorado

256,131

23,795

2000

2,519

30

267,644

102,523

6.75

1,520,000

Woodbridge Senior Apar tments

For t Collins

Colorado

83,842

7,789

2001

2,708

50

360,420

184,325

6.50

2,840,000

Washington Heights Senior Residence

Kansas City

Kansas

231,038

21,463

2001

3,066

48

453,120

225,838

7.50

3,000,000
3,300,000

Wyndam Place Senior Apar tments

Shawnee

Kansas

190,357

17,684

2001

3,105

48

412,840

205,278

6.25

Stonegate Village

Pueblo West

Colorado

190,357

17,684

2000

5,570

55

458,939

234,246

6.75

3,470,000

Cottages of Topeka

Topeka

Kansas

478,768

44,478

1999

6,134

72

638,500

242,482

6.75

3,600,000

Parkview Apar tments

Caldwell

Idaho

207,346

19,262

1999

6,910

87

590,899

249,923

6.75

3,700,000

Oak Shade Apar tments

Orange City

Florida

303,505

28,196

1985

4,762

82

662,500

300,375

7.50

4,000,000

Broadview Oaks Apar tments

Pensacola

Florida

209,959

19,505

1985

4,281

90

759,680

314,746

7.50

4,200,000

South Hills Apar tments

Bellevue

Nebraska

185,039

17,190

1995

5,793

72

657,800

324,674

7.00

4,600,000

Reflections Senior Apar tments

For t Collins

Colorado

118,265

10,987

2000

3,995

72

563,660

308,606

6.50

4,750,000

Senior Cottages of Norman

Norman

Oklahoma

450,429

41,845

1999

7,434

84

679,720

328,131

6.75

4,800,000

Sky Pines

Orlando

Florida

364,495

33,862

1985 &
1986

6,796

140

1,054,234

376,137

7.75

4,850,000

Villas at Kings Crossing Apar tments

Jacksonville

Florida

368,082

34,195

1984

7,358

133

1,044,740

390,244

8.00

4,900,000

Wingwood

Orlando

Florida

211,126

19,614

1980

4,441

86

797,292

370,605

7.25

5,110,000

Brentwood Oaks

Fredericksburg

Texas

220,370

20,472

1998

6,928

74

758,900

384,923

7.00

5,500,000

Stonewood Apar tments

Jacksonville

Florida

264,055

24,531

1980

6,287

117

932,540

433,928

7.75

5,660,000

Nova Wood II

Daytona Beach

Florida

436,135

40,517

1980

6,796

119

1,030,180

467,171

8.00

5,800,000

Tuscany Bay Apar tments

Lawrenceburg

Indiana

392,040

36,421

1998

9,717

96

881,126

427,491

7.25

5,900,000

Highland Vista

Creedmoor

Nor th Carolina

704,478

65,446

1997

7,031

86

950,239

471,071

7.50

6,200,000

Pelican Pointe

Jacksonville

Florida

473,497

43,988

1987

7,572

160

1,209,840

508,557

7.75

6,700,000

Aspen Ridge

Albuquerque

New Mexico

268,839

24,975

2001

9,523

96

940,344

440,754

6.25

7,100,000

Applewood Apar tments

DeLand

Florida

493,407

45,838

1982

9,204

160

1,288,380

541,553

7.50

7,200,000

Nova Glen

Daytona Beach

Florida

538,530

50,029

1984

8,241

143

1,294,520

649,597

8.00

7,700,000

Volusia Crossing

Daytona Beach

Florida

327,599

30,434

1979

8,722

148

1,354,760

632,146

8.00

7,700,000

Branchwood

Winter Park

Florida

482,109

44,788

1980

5,993

117

1,156,692

597,923

7.75

7,720,000

Brent Village

Bellevue

Nebraska

404,236

37,554

1971

13,738

180

1,461,326

591,196

7.25

8,150,000

The Woodlands

Jackson

Mississippi

522,720

48,561

2000

16,199

200

1,568,520

598,498

7.00

8,500,000

Countryside

Daytona Beach

Florida

691,261

64,218

1982

10,889

190

1,712,760

895,361

8.25

10,200,000

Towne Square Village

Boise

Idaho

338,374

31,435

1990

10,421

160

1,412,855

676,853

6.25

10,830,000

Willows of Cumming

Cumming

Georgia

554,318

51,496

1996

13,670

156

1,517,472

793,668

6.50

12,200,000

Sundance Pointe

Jacksonville

Florida

945,221

87,811

2001

27,251

288

2,473,308

1,010,893

6.50

15,600,000

Woodland Manor

Tulsa

Oklahoma

678,096

62,995

1997

20,256

305

2,363,552

1,126,397

6.75

16,750,000

Shawnee Station

Shawnee

Kansas

673,873

62,603

2001

19,569

228

2,404,560

1,195,476

6.50

18,400,000

Tally Square Apar tments

Tallahassee

Florida

838,966

77,940

1972

25,664

228

2,703,660

1,333,924

6.50

20,000,000

Parkway Square Apar tments

Tallahassee

Florida

574,121

53,336

1975

20,840

277

2,930,600

1,499,765

6.50

22,500,000

Wood Hollow

Euless

TX

534,612

49,665

1985

20,040

346

3,959,380

1,722,589

6.00

29,500,000

Altitude on Fifth

Salt Lake City

Utah

251,341

23,350

2002

22,892

330

3,951,232

2,226,952

5.75

39,000,000

15,456,937

1,435,949

382,314

5353

Total
1) Weighted average capitalization rate.
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49,658,735 23,384,821

6.81 343,450,000

40,000

20,000

0
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85,260

68,750

54,918

42,500

56,800

59,419

78,205

62,500

52,027

61,458

67,688

50,000

87,719

140,000

54,167

48,376

63,091

623

696

715

872

583

556

943

688

634

1,090

701

917

1212

1019

578

1,090

866

523

924

1400

63,889

34,643

597

509

810

855

625

615

620

953

595

880

904

617

512

1,008

822

551

In the graphs below, a few key indicators are described:
The average unit size throughout the portfolio is
769 square foot (71,44 m2).
The average market value per unit is USD 64,160.

80,702

65,972

41,875

81,227

42,529

48,780

48,739

53,846

57,143

36,842

72,093

50,667

53,684

46,667

74,324

45,278

65,983

1,068

619

747

400

73,958

45,000
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The average rent per unit is USD 674 per month.
The weighted average capitalization rate is 6.8%.
The average cash-on-cash yield in 2016 was 8.3%.

VARIA PORTFOLIO – AVERAGE SIZE PER UNIT
Varia Portfolio Square Feet/Unit I Based on leaseable square footage per unit

1200
The Portfolio’s average unit size is approximately 769 square feet per unit

1000

800
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VARIA PORTFOLIO – MARKET VALUE PER UNIT
Varia Portfolio Value/Unit I Based on December 2016 market value per unit

120,000
The Portfolio’s average market value per unit is USD 64,160
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8.00%
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602

944
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667

681

503

789

641

565

851

515

574
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577

812

696
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802

634

721

789

573

927
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8
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9
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VARIA PORTFOLIO – RENT PER UNIT
Varia Portfolio Rent Per Unit I Based on 2016 gross potential rent (USD 41,642,827)
The Portfolio’s average revenue per unit
is USD 674/month
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Note: For Wood Hollow it is the annualized Rent Roll from December 2016 upon acquisition.

VARIA PORTFOLIO – CAPITALIZATION RATE
Varia portfolio Capitalization Rate I Based on 2016 Colliers valuation

The Portfolio’s 2016 weighted average capitalization rate is 6.8%

7

6

5

4

3

0

Note: Yield for each property is determined on the basis of its 12 month net cash flow versus the total equity invested. Included in the analysis,
but not shown on the graph, is the net operating income contribution from 3 Iowa properties that were sold in mid-2016.
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12.8%
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VARIA PORTFOLIO – 12 MONTH YIELD
Varia Portfolio Yields I Based on 2016 net cash flow and total invested equity
The Portfolio’s 2016 cash on cash yield is 8.3%
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B.
FINANCING
All of the properties have been acquired through a
loan (except Eagle Nest and Wood Hollow). The loans
are contracted mostly with Freddie Mac (54%) and,
to a lesser extent, with Fannie Mae (35%) and HUD
(11%). In the majoriy of cases, the servicer of the loan is
Berkadia.
79% of the loans are with fixed rates, whilst 21% are
with variable rates.

The average loan to value ratio is 59.4%, which is low
for the US market, and the average interest rate is
4.08%.
The distribution of maturity dates is illustrated in the
graph below. Half of the Company loans are due in
2026.

MATURITY BREAKDOWN USD

COUNTERPARTY RISK %

VARIABLE/FIXED %

102,982,500

HUD 11%
Fannie 35%

46,898,000Variable 21%

28

2021

Freddie 54%

K%

D 11%
Variable 21%

0

0

2022

2023

2024

2025

2026 >2026

C.
STRUCTURE OF ACQUISITIONS
Fixed with
79% four levels:
The Company portfolio is structured
i)
ii)
iii)
iv)

VARIABLE/FIXED %

22,441,479

20,182,893

11,627,818

The Swiss company
The Blocker
The Property company (propco)
The physical asset

The Swiss company is a regular corporation, with headquarters in the Canton of Zug, and whose shares are
listed on the SIX Swiss Stock Exchange in Zurich under
the symbol VARN.
The blocker layer is divided into two different setups.
On one side, Varia purchased on January 1, 2016 100%
of the units of a Bahamian Fund called the Ariston
Opportunity fund. On the other side, Varia is 100%
owner of a set of Delaware limited liability companies
that elected to be treated as US corporations and that
are therefore US tax entities.

Freddie 54%

Fixed 79%
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As a third layer, the blockers hold interests in Property
companies (called propco). These propcos are usually
limited liability companies, with no election to be treat-
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ed as a corporation, which means that they are mostly
tax transparent. They file a tax return every year but
the burden of their taxes is supported by their members (shareholders).

Stoneweg SA has formed an entity in the US (Stoneweg
US LLC) to lead the asset acquisition, management and
disposition activities in the US and Stoneweg SA is responsible for all control and reporting activities.

Until the acquisition on December 28, 2016, all acquisitions were conducted through Varia’s local partner Peak
Capital Partner (Peak), which is based in Provo (Utah).
Usually, Peak is a 5% co-investor in the propcos and the
details of their participation are shown in the notes to
the Financial statements (see pages 78 ff.). For these
assets, Peak is also the Manager of the related propco, asset manager and often property manager of the
assets. They are entitled to an acquisition fee, an asset
management fee, a property management fee (when
applicable) and a performance commission (promote
fee).

After the November 2016 board election, a majority of the Board members has no links with Stoneweg
SA and the number of non-executive Board members
is higher than the number of executive Board members, which ensures fair representation of the investors
on the Board of the Company and a good balance
between operational and strategic/control responsibilities.

For the December 2016 acquisition Varia is, through its
blocker, 100% equity owner of the propco. The propco
manager is Stoneweg US LLC, which is entitled to a
promote fee.
In the future, the Company is open to work under both
models, or even other JV structures, as long as it is in
the best interest of the Company’s investors.
The fourth layer is the asset in itself. It is owned 100%
by the propco. The asset is managed by a third-party
property management company. Varia works with both
nationwide and local property management companies,
depending on the location of the asset and the respective strength of the local players.
ASSET MANAGEMENT ORGANIZATION
Varia is the investment vehicle formed by Stoneweg SA
to hold US investments. There is therefore a strong link
between the two companies.
Since inception, Stoneweg SA has been represented
on the Board of Directors of Varia and an exclusive
asset management agreement has been signed between
the two companies. Varia outsourced all operational
activities to Stoneweg SA, yet retained at its level
board supervision and strategic tasks as well as other
functions that cannot be outsourced.

Stoneweg SA is entitled to the following compensation
for its services:
Acquisition fee: max 1% of the purchase price.
Current practice is for Stoneweg to invoice 0.5% of
the acquisition price.
Asset management fee: max 1% of deployed equity.
Current practice for Stoneweg is to invoice 1% of
deployed equity.
Disposition fee: max 1% of the selling price
or promote. Stoneweg invoiced a 0.5% fee on the
three properties sold in July 2016.
Placement fee: a maximum of 3% of the new
money raised. In respect to the 2016 pre-IPO
capital increase, Stoneweg SA invoiced a total of
CHF 249,314.50; which represents 0.2% of the
new equity raised.
At the end of the period under review, there were
3 FTE (full time equivalent) working exclusively on the
US portfolio at the Geneva headquarters of Stoneweg
SA and an additional 3 FTE in the US. The plan is to
increase this number to a total of 10 FTE by the end of
2017, (4 in Geneva and 6 in the US).
ACCOUNTING POLICIES
During the course of the year, many significant decisions had to be made in relation to the accounting
policies of the Company.
In terms of organization, the accounting and audit process has been simplified to the following:
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Property accounting:
Respective property management companies
Propcos accounting:
Peak Capital partners (for 37 out of the 38 propcos
in the portfolio)
Blockers accounting:
Gregory Sharer & Stuart, CPA, St Petersburg, FL
Varia US Properties AG accounting:
BDO Switzerland
Consolidation of operating structures:
Gregory Sharer & Stuart, CPA, St Petersburg, FL
Audit of consolidated and statutory financial
statements:
KPMG Switzerland (with the help of the Tampa (FL)
team of KPMG US).

30

In terms of accounting strategy, the Company decided
that it had to be considered as a real estate company.
The main and most obvious reason for that is that the
Company’s focus is on the ownership of real estate assets rather than the management of participations. All
investment decisions are based on the asset purchased,
whereas the vehicle that holds the asset is secondary.
The major outcome of this decision is that the Company is entitled to consolidate its accounts, which gives its
investors a clearer picture of its income, expenses and
returns.
The second significant decision was to apply in parallel
the IFRS and the Swiss Code of Obligations (CO) rules,
the first to provide the best transparency regarding the
business and the second one to comply with the strict
and conservative rules applicable in Switzerland.
The two sets of financial statements published in this report provide different insights to investors. The notes published along with both sets of financial statements explain
the rationale and the outcome of each set of accounts.
With regard to the IFRS accounts, a decision was made
to treat all acquisitions made with Peak as co-investor
as a business combination transaction and to treat the
acquisition made without Peak as a purchase of investment property. In the first case, the Company has to
apply IFRS 3 standards and in the second case, it has to
apply IAS 40.
There are arguments to defend each of these positions
and there is no clear definition of what is applicable
to the business of the Company. A decision was made
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by the Board of the Company as explained above, but
this decision may be revisited in the future. According
to the Company’s initial assessment, the accounting
standards applied only have a limited impact on the
reported financial results of the Company. The largest
impact is related to the way the financial statements are
presented and what has to be taken into consideration.
For example, under IFRS 3, the Company has to book
goodwill and bargain purchases upon acquisition, which
is not the case under IAS 40. As well, the Company has
to value the loans under IFRS 3, which is also not the
case under IAS 40.
With regard to the IFRS accounts, the last significant
decision concerned the ability of the Company to consolidate its financial statements. If the Company were
considered a passive investor with no real authority over
its investments, then the Company would not have to
include the blockers and the propcos in the consolidation of its account. Based on all the agreements signed
with its local partners and based on its daily activities,
the Company was able to demonstrate enough control
over its assets in order to be authorized to consolidate
its financial statements.
As for the statutory accounts, the Company applies
the rules of the CO. With regard to the valuation of
the investments, they are valued at the lower of the
historical cost basis or net realizable value if permanently impaired.
FIRST YEAR RESULTS
(SEPTEMBER 28, 2015–
DECEMBER 31, 2016)
The published first year financial statements cover the
period from inception of the Company (September 28,
2015) to the end of the period (December 31, 2016).
However, it is worth remembering that the first investment of the Company took place on December 15,
2015 and that the second one took place on January 1,
2016. No activity was conducted before that and most
of the equity raised was deployed at the end of 2015,
beginning of 2016, and then later in April 2016 (Woodland Manor, Parkway Square and Tally Square) and even
as recently as August 2016 (Brent Village).
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Below are additional comments on the Company’s
accounting practices and financial results.
A.
IFRS ACCOUNTS
A)
INCOME STATEMENT
The income statement published in the financial statements includes realized and non-realized incomes, as
well as the ordinary expenses and the extraordinary
expenses.
In terms of realized income, the Company made USD
39,147,765 (USD 36,525,232 + 2,622,533), less a realized loss of USD 230,110. This loss covers the selling costs incurred by the Company for the three Iowa
properties as the sale price was already included in the
June 30, 2016 mid-year financial statements, but no
disposition fees were included.
The bargain on purchase of subsidiary and the net gain
from fair value adjustment for a total of USD 25,416,493
is the change of valuation for the whole portfolio since
its acquisition by Varia. This value increase is significant. It is not driven by a modification of the cap rate
used to appraise the properties, but by positive market
developments and, most importantly, by the translation
of the Company’s investment strategy in the value of
the assets purchased.
As mentioned above, the Company’s strategy is to
buy, renovate and hold. This is the so-called “value-add
strategy”. Each time a property is bought, a significant
amount of money (usually between USD 750,000 and
1,500,000) is contributed by Varia into the propco,
in order to finance “Year 1 capex”. With this money,
the propcos address deferred maintenance, renovate
the units that need it most, renovate the common
areas such as swimming pool, fitness, leasing office,
etc. These works bring the property to the next
level of attractivity, which means better tenants, higher
rents and less economic vacancy. It often also translates
into less expenses for the propcos and an enhanced
management.

The result of this strategy appears in the non-realized
gain. During the accounting period, the propcos invested USD 5,827,515 in terms of real estate maintenance
and renovation.
All these amounts were expensed during the year according to accounting policies in place, which is to expense any capital expenditures less than USD 2,500 or
those capital expenditures which do not extend the
useful life of the investment property. The impact of
this expense policy is that it reduces the realized gain
and increases the non-realized gain. It has however no
impact on the ability of the Company to make planned
distributions to the shareholders.
In terms of expenses, the Company supported total
operating expenses of USD 19,254,4841, which is about
half of the total income. The challenge in the coming
year will be to reduce this ratio, but it is quite within
market average for the type of investments made by
Varia.
The net operating income is USD 19,893,2811, which
represents 8.11% of the weighted average of the
value of the portfolio over the period and 20.8% of the
weighted average of the equity between November
11, 2015 and the end of the period). At that stage, it
is worth remembering that these results were accomplished during the investment period with half of the
current equity taken into consideration.
The income tax expense at USD 5,800,197 is comprised
of a provision for current Swiss taxes of approximately
USD 116,000 and a provision for deferred US income
taxes of approximately USD 5,684,000. This expense is
mostly based on the variation of the non-realized gain
for the current period and it has to be included in the
income statement.

1) See page 33.
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The split of the profit between the Company and the
non-controlling-interests (NCI) requires the following
explanation:
The NCI is a combination of the equity value attributable to co-investors at propco level and a provision for performance fees, which is only due when
the asset is sold.
The NCI part of the profit is pretax as it relates to
the propcos, which are non-tax paying entities for
US income tax purposes, whilst the profit attributable to Varia is after tax as it is generated at the
blocker level, which are tax-paying entities for US
income tax purposes.
Varia incurred some specific costs during this initial
accounting period such as setup fee of the company,
and this was not reported on the NCI.
32

Compared to June 30, 2016, the split is already more
favorable to Varia, and it will continue to improve in the
following years.
Earnings per share amounted to USD 3.37 calculated
on the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding and 1.43 calculated on the number of ordinary shares outstanding at the end of the period.
B)
BALANCE SHEET
With regard to the balance sheet, there are the following comments to make:
The high cash position is mostly due to the capital increase, even though USD 29 million of the proceeds
were already invested as of December 28, 2016. In this
regard, it is worth remembering that there is quite a
lot of cash in the structure, which reflects the results of
operations and the reserves created for capex, insurance and taxes (accrued expenses).
The trade and other payables are all the accrued
expenses (mostly property taxes and insurance) that
are escrowed.

The non-controlling position (NCI) is the addition of
the equity interests of the NCI, which is USD 6,585,938
and the promote due at the day of closing, if all properties were sold at the price appraised.
With regard to the Net Asset Value and according to
the following calculations, the NAV per share is up to
USD 33.65/share (USD 32.46 on June 30, 2016). If the
net deferred tax liability is disregarded, the NAV per
share is up to USD 35.93 (USD 35.82 on June 30, 2016)
Expressed in
US Dollars

Equity attributable to
Varia US Properties AG Shareholders
Number of shares outstanding as of
December 31, 2016
NAV per share

208,411,914
6,194,148
33.65

Equity attributable to
Varia US Properties AG Shareholders

208,411,914

Net deferred tax liability

14,146,208

Number of shares outstanding as of
December 31, 2016
NAV per share

6,194,148
35.93

B.
STATUTORY ACCOUNTS
The statutory accounts represent the Swiss view of the
business and do not reflect the consolidated value of
Varia and its portfolio.
The income is composed of the interest paid by the
blockers to Varia. Interest is calculated on 65% of the
investments made by Varia, 35% being the equity transferred and 65% being the loans made to the blockers.
The vast majority of the operating expenses registered
at that level concerns legal, accounting and audit fees.
They are high as they also cover the formation of the
Company and all the fees paid at that occasion.
Financial income and financial expenses are linked with
the exchange rate variation.
The net profit for the period from a Swiss perspective
is CHF 1,274,229.
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C.

OPERATING RESULTS1

Item

Realized Income
Total Operating expenses

Figure

% of the weighted
average equity
USD 95,549,030
(since Nov 11, 2015)

% of the weighted
average portfolio, USD
245,009,219

39,147,765

40.97%

15.97%

20.8%

8.11%

18.17%

7.08%

(19,254,484)

Net Operating Income

19,893,281

Administratitve expenses
(mainly asset and portfolio management fee)

(2,525,611)

Operating result before debt, taxes
and exceptional

17,367,670

Debt interests

(8,388,476)

Operating result before taxes ) and exceptional
2

8,979,194

9.39%

1) The operating results are abstracted and recalculated from the consolidated IFRS financial statements.

2) The regular tax burden on this amount is offset by capex, exceptional
expenses and depreciations. Therefore, no taxes are paid in the US, but
they are deferred on the company accounts. The company expects to pay
Swiss taxes for an equivalent amount of USD 115,913. The taxes mentioned below are mostly provisions on the variation of the non-realized
profit

Considering that the amount of taxes paid is not significant (mainly due to capex expensed, depreciations and
exceptional expensed) this last figure above gives an

indication on the operating cash flow of the Company
before exceptional and capex.

Total of expenses capex 3)

(2,590,116)

Exceptional expenses4)

(9,828,923)

Realized losses before taxes

(3,439,845)

Swiss taxes
Realized losses after taxes

(115,913)
(3,555,758)

3) This capex amount is not activated but expensed in the IFRS financial
statements of the Company. The impact of this accounting policy is to
reduce the realized profit and to increase the unrealized gain.

4) For detail, refer to Note K of the IFRS financial statements. The majority of this position is related to the acquisition costs of the properties,
which have to be expensed and cannot be capitalized. The impact of this
accounting policy is as well to reduce the realized profit and to increase
the unrealized gain.

In terms of non-realized profit, the spreadsheet below
shows the performance of the portfolio.
Non realized profit

25,416,493

Tax provision on the variation of the
non-realized profit

(5,684,284)

Profit attributable to Non-Controlling Interest

(7,302,182)

Net non-realized profit

12,430,027

Realized losses after taxes

(3,555,758)

Total profit attributable to Varia

8,874,269

13.01%

5.07%

9.28%

3.62%
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DISTRIBUTION
Based on these results, the Board of Directors decided
to propose to the General Meeting of shareholders the
following distribution:
Distribution of CHF 7.99 million of the profit reported under IFRS, which corresponds to CHF 1.20 per
issued share at the time of distribution, by a reduction of the agio.
Distribution of CHF 1.0 million of the profit reported in the statutory accounts, which corresponds to
CHF 0.15 per issued share.

34

CURRENCY:
US DOLLAR VS SWISS FRANC
The Company raises capital in Swiss francs and pays its
distributions in Swiss francs, but 99% of its activities and
financial transactions are in US dollars.
Therefore, the Company is exposed to the USD/CHF
currency exchange rate and investors have been told
from the beginning that they have to consider their investment in the Company as a long hold in US dollars.
The Company decided not to hedge its currency exposure because it wanted to leave it to investors to decide
whether they want/need this exposure to the US dollar
or if they prefer to cover this risk.
Since inception of the Company, the USD/CHF exchange rate has been relatively stable at about 0.99 with
a variation between 1.03 and 0.96.

1.04
1.03
1.02
1.01
1.00
0.99
0.98
0.97
0.96
0.95
0.94
01.01.16

11.03.16

20.05.16

29.07.16

07.10.16

16.12.16

Source: Finanzen.ch
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Projections of this exchange rate vary almost daily and
they very much depend on what happens in the world
every day.
It is the opinion of the Company that currency diversification is needed in any portfolio and that diversity is a
stability factor for each investor.
OUTLOOK FOR 2017
In a very strong US market, with high demand in the
multifamily sector and a growing number of tenants,
the 2017 outlook is positive and will allow the Company to deliver strong results in line with management’s
previous guidance. In this growing market, with inflation
beginning to pick up, the value-add strategy allows owners to bring their assets to the next level and to realize
a significant capital gain at the time of disposition, whilst
keeping a solid return on investment during the holding
period.
Three priorities have been set for the coming year:
On the investment side, new properties will be acquired in the first half of 2017. As of March 31, 2017,
more than USD 95.1 million had already been invested in 5 different properties located in Texas, South
Carolina, Washington State and Missouri. Three additional deals in Texas, Missouri and Indiana should
be closed in April for a total of USD 40.1 million.
With regard to strategy, the second priority of the
year will be to work on the existing portfolio, especially in terms of renovation: do the planned works,
increase rents and optimize returns. This process will
take two years, but will show initial benefits in 2017.
Finally, in terms of results, the third priority will be to
deliver to investors stable returns through exposure
to a well-diversified and managed US multifamily real
estate portfolio as well as detailed and transparent
information.
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PORTFOLIO OVERVIEW
As of December 31, 2016 Varia US Properties’ portfolio comprised 38 properties spread
within 13 States of the United States of America, including Florida, Colorado, Kansas,
Oklahoma, Nebraska, Idaho, Iowa, Utah, Texas, Mississippi, Georgia, North Carolina,
New Mexico and Indiana. The portfolio is 100% residential and it included 5,353 units or
flats with a total gross potential income of USD 49,658,734. The total appraised value
of this portfolio amounted to USD 343 million.

Varia US Properties invests on the low to moderate
income level US multifamily real estate properties and
pursues a mid-to long-term investment perspective.
The Company pursues a threefold investment strategy
focusing on the pillars:
Properties that allow for value adding measures, including refurbishment, renovation and other operating measures, in order to maximize the rent potential
at limited incremental costs before looking for an attractive exit.
Properties profiting from Low Income Housing Tax
Credit (“LIHTC”) in order to generate attractive
rental profit and realize value growth once these
properties have been transitioned to the non-rent
restricted market.
Selective investments in stabilized properties with
limited improvement potential, such that it can benefit from secure rental income and the value growth
in the mid-to long-term.

As of December 31, 2016, LITHC properties amounted to approximately 42% of the portfolio’s value.
LIHTC properties benefit from a tax credit program
when they are built and are then subjected to rent and
tenant income level restrictions usually for the first fifteen years following construction. Once the restriction
period has lapsed, a transition to free market can be
negotiated. On the following pages, please find an overview of the full portfolio of Varia US Properties.
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ALTITUDE ON 5TH
CITY

Salt Lake City
NUMBER OF
UNITS

330

STATE

AQUISITION DATE

Utah

February 2016

NET RENTABLE AREA
(NRA)

GROSS
POTENTIAL INCOME

22,892 m2

3,951,232 USD

APPLEWOOD APARTMENTS
CITY

STATE

AQUISITION DATE

NUMBER OF
UNITS

NET RENTABLE AREA
(NRA)

GROSS
POTENTIAL INCOME

CITY

STATE

AQUISITION DATE

NUMBER OF
UNITS

NET RENTABLE AREA
(NRA)

GROSS
POTENTIAL INCOME

DeLand
160

Florida
9,204 m2

December 2015
1,288,380 USD

ASPEN RIDGE

38

Albuquerque
96

New Mexico
9,523 m2

February 2016
940,344 USD

BRANCHWOOD
CITY

Winter Park
NUMBER OF
UNITS

117

STATE

Florida
NET RENTABLE AREA
(NRA)

5,993 m2

AQUISITION DATE

December 2015
GROSS
POTENTIAL INCOME

1,156,692 USD

BRENT VILLAGE
CITY

STATE

AQUISITION DATE

NUMBER OF
UNITS

NET RENTABLE AREA
(NRA)

GROSS
POTENTIAL INCOME

Bellevue
180
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Nebraska
13,738 m2

August 2016

1,461,326 USD
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BRENTWOOD OAKS
CITY

STATE

AQUISITION DATE

NUMBER OF
UNITS

NET RENTABLE AREA
(NRA)

GROSS
POTENTIAL INCOME

Fredericksburg
74

Texas
6,929 m2

February 2016
758,900 USD

BROADVIEW OAKS APARTMENTS
CITY

STATE

AQUISITION DATE

NUMBER OF
UNITS

NET RENTABLE AREA
(NRA)

GROSS
POTENTIAL INCOME

Pensacola
90

Florida
4,281 m2

December 2015
759,680 USD

COTTAGES OF TOPEKA

39

CITY

STATE

AQUISITION DATE

NUMBER OF
UNITS

NET RENTABLE AREA
(NRA)

GROSS
POTENTIAL INCOME

CITY

STATE

AQUISITION DATE

NUMBER OF
UNITS

NET RENTABLE AREA
(NRA)

GROSS
POTENTIAL INCOME

CITY

STATE

AQUISITION DATE

NUMBER OF
UNITS

NET RENTABLE AREA
(NRA)

GROSS
POTENTIAL INCOME

Topeka
72

Kansas
6,134 m2

February 2016
638,500 USD

COUNTRYSIDE

Daytona Beach
190

Florida
10,890 m2

December 2015
1,712,760 USD

EAGLE’S NEST

Rifle
30

Colorado
2,519 m2

February 2016
267,644 USD
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HIGHLAND VISTA
CITY

STATE

AQUISITION DATE

NUMBER OF
UNITS

NET RENTABLE AREA
(NRA)

GROSS
POTENTIAL INCOME

CITY

STATE

AQUISITION DATE

NUMBER OF
UNITS

NET RENTABLE AREA
(NRA)

GROSS
POTENTIAL INCOME

CITY

STATE

AQUISITION DATE

NUMBER OF
UNITS

NET RENTABLE AREA
(NRA)

GROSS
POTENTIAL INCOME

Creedmoor

86

North Carolina

7,031 m2

February 2016

950,239 USD

NOVA GLEN

Daytona Beach
143

Florida
8,241 m2

December 2015
1,294,520 USD

NOVA WOOD II

40

Daytona Beach
119

Florida
6,796 m2

December 2015
1,030,180 USD

OAK SHADE APARTMENTS
CITY

STATE

AQUISITION DATE

NUMBER OF
UNITS

NET RENTABLE AREA
(NRA)

GROSS
POTENTIAL INCOME

Orange City
82

Florida
4,763 m2

December 2015
662,500 USD

PARKVIEW APARTMENTS
CITY

STATE

AQUISITION DATE

NUMBER OF
UNITS

NET RENTABLE AREA
(NRA)

GROSS
POTENTIAL INCOME

Caldwell
87
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Idaho
6,910 m2

February 2016
590,899 USD
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PARKWAY SQUARE APARTMENTS
CITY

STATE

AQUISITION DATE

NUMBER OF
UNITS

NET RENTABLE AREA
(NRA)

GROSS
POTENTIAL INCOME

Tallahassee

277

Florida

20,841 m2

April 2016

2,930,600 USD

PELICAN POINTE
CITY

STATE

AQUISITION DATE

NUMBER OF
UNITS

NET RENTABLE AREA
(NRA)

GROSS
POTENTIAL INCOME

Jacksonville
160

Florida
7,572 m2

December 2015
1,209,840 USD

REFLECTIONS SENIOR APARTMENTS
CITY

STATE

AQUISITION DATE

NUMBER
OF UNITS

NET RENTABLE AREA
(NRA)

GROSS
POTENTIAL INCOME

Fort Collins
72

Colorado
3,995 m2

41

February 2016
563,660 USD

SENIOR COTTAGES OF NORMAN
CITY

STATE

AQUISITION DATE

NUMBER OF
UNITS

SURFACE
AREA

GROSS
POTENTIAL INCOME

Norman
84

Oklahoma
7,434 m2

February 2016
679,720 USD

SHAWNEE STATION
CITY

STATE

AQUISITION DATE

NUMBER OF
UNITS

NET RENTABLE AREA
(NRA)

GROSS
POTENTIAL INCOME

Shawnee
228

Kansas
19,570 m2

February 2016
2,404,560 USD
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SKY PINES
CITY

STATE

AQUISITION DATE

NUMBER OF
UNITS

NET RENTABLE AREA
(NRA)

GROSS
POTENTIAL INCOME

Orlando

140

Florida

6,796 m2

December 2015

1,054,234 USD

SOUTH HILLS APARTMENTS
CITY

STATE

AQUISITION DATE

NUMBER OF
UNITS

NET RENTABLE AREA
(NRA)

GROSS
POTENTIAL INCOME

Bellevue
72

Nebraska
5,793 m2

February 2016
657,800 USD

STONEGATE VILLAGE

42

CITY

STATE

AQUISITION DATE

NUMBER OF
UNITS

NET RENTABLE AREA
(NRA)

GROSS
POTENTIAL INCOME

Pueblo
55

Colorado
5,570 m2

February 2016
458,939 USD

STONEWOOD APARTMENTS
CITY

STATE

AQUISITION DATE

NUMBER OF
UNITS

NET RENTABLE AREA
(NRA)

GROSS
POTENTIAL INCOME

Jacksonville
117

Florida
6,288 m2

December 2015
932,540 USD

SUNDANCE POINTE
CITY

STATE

AQUISITION DATE

NUMBER OF
UNITS

NET RENTABLE AREA
(NRA)

GROSS
POTENTIAL INCOME

Jacksonville
288
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Florida
27,252 m2

February 2016
2,473,308 USD

VARIA US PROPERTIES AG I ANNUAL REPORT 2016 I PORTFOLIO OVERVIEW

TALLY SQUARE APARTMENTS
CITY

STATE

AQUISITION DATE

NUMBER OF
UNITS

NET RENTABLE AREA
(NRA)

GROSS
POTENTIAL INCOME

Tallahassee

228

Florida

25,665 m2

April 2016

2,703,660 USD

THE WOODLANDS
CITY

STATE

AQUISITION DATE

NUMBER OF
UNITS

NET RENTABLE AREA
(NRA)

GROSS
POTENTIAL INCOME

Jackson
200

Mississippi
16,199 m2

February 2016
1,568,520 USD

TOWNE SQUARE VILLAGE

43

CITY

STATE

AQUISITION DATE

NUMBER
OF UNITS

NET RENTABLE AREA
(NRA)

GROSS
POTENTIAL INCOME

Boise
160

Idaho
10,421 m2

February 2016
1,412,855 USD

TUSCANY BAY APARTMENTS
CITY

STATE

AQUISITION DATE

NUMBER OF
UNITS

SURFACE
AREA

GROSS
POTENTIAL INCOME

Lawrenceburg
96

Indiana
9,717 m2

February 2016
881,126 USD

VILLAS AT KINGS CROSSING APARTMENTS
CITY

STATE

AQUISITION DATE

NUMBER OF
UNITS

NET RENTABLE AREA
(NRA)

GROSS
POTENTIAL INCOME

Jacksonville
133

Florida
7,358 m2

December 2015
1,044,740 USD
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VOLUSIA CROSSING
CITY

STATE

AQUISITION DATE

NUMBER OF
UNITS

NET RENTABLE AREA
(NRA)

GROSS
POTENTIAL INCOME

Daytona Beach

148

Florida

8,722 m2

December 2015

1,354,760 USD

WASHINGTON HEIGHTS SENIOR RESIDENCE
CITY

STATE

AQUISITION DATE

NUMBER OF
UNITS

NET RENTABLE AREA
(NRA)

GROSS
POTENTIAL INCOME

Kansas City
48

Kansas
3,066 m2

February 2016
453,120 USD

WILLOWS OF CUMMING

44

CITY

STATE

AQUISITION DATE

NUMBER OF
UNITS

NET RENTABLE AREA
(NRA)

GROSS
POTENTIAL INCOME

CITY

STATE

AQUISITION DATE

NUMBER OF
UNITS

NET RENTABLE AREA
(NRA)

GROSS
POTENTIAL INCOME

Cumming
156

Georgia
13,670 m2

February 2016
1,517,472 USD

WINGWOOD

Orlando
86

Florida
4,442 m2

December 2015
797,292 USD

WOOD HOLLOW
CITY

STATE

AQUISITION DATE

NUMBER OF
UNITS

NET RENTABLE AREA
(NRA)

GROSS
POTENTIAL INCOME

Euless
346
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Texas
20,040 m2

December 2016
3,959,380 USD
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WOODBRIDGE SENIOR APARTMENTS
CITY

STATE

AQUISITION DATE

NUMBER OF
UNITS

NET RENTABLE AREA
(NRA)

GROSS
POTENTIAL INCOME

Fort Collins

50

Colorado

2,708 m2

February 2016

360,420 USD

WOODLAND MANOR
CITY

STATE

AQUISITION DATE

NUMBER OF
UNITS

NET RENTABLE AREA
(NRA)

GROSS
POTENTIAL INCOME

Tulsa
305

Oklahoma
20,257 m2

April 2016

2,363,552 USD

WYNDAM PLACE

45

CITY

STATE

AQUISITION DATE

NUMBER
OF UNITS

NET RENTABLE AREA
(NRA)

GROSS
POTENTIAL INCOME

Shawnee
48

Kansas
3,105 m2

February 2016
412,840 USD
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CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE REPORT
This corporate governance report is written according to the Annex of the
Directive on Corporate Governance published by SIX Swiss Exchange.
The Articles of Incorporation of Varia US Properties AG may be downloaded
on its website at http://variausproperties.com/articlesofassociation

1.

GROUP STRUCTURE AND
SHAREHOLDERS

1.1. GROUP STRUCTURE
Varia US Properties AG is a Swiss listed real estate
company according to Article 77 of the Listing Rules.
It solely invests in the US residential real estate market
and generates all of its income from these real estate
investments.
It is the strategy of the Company to invest in secondary
and tertiary markets, in B and C types of multifamily
properties.
As of December 31, 2016, the Company owned:
100 % of the units of the Ariston Opportunity Fund,
a Bahamas Fund purchased on February 23, 2016,
with retroactive effect as of January 1, 2016.
100 % of 11 limited liability companies called
blockers.
The Fund as well as the blockers are equity members of
property limited liability companies (propco, PC), each
company being the owner of a property.

At the end of the period, Varia US Properties AG held
38 properties through that structure. 37 of these properties were co-investments with a local sponsor called
Peak Capital Partners, which usually owns 5 % of the
equity of each property (see chart below for exact
figures). The 38 th property was purchased without a
co-investor on December 28, 2016, after the December capital increase.
In the 37 properties with Peak Capital Partners or its
affiliates as co-investor, Peak Capital Partners is the
the propco manager, the asset manager and, often,
the property manager. The 38 th propco is managed by
Stoneweg US LLC, an affiliate of Stoneweg SA, asset
manager of Varia US Properties AG.
On the following chart, please note that the entities in
grey were formed at the end of the period, but the
corresponding properties were not definitely acquired
at the end of the year. It is usual to proceed that way
in the US, as the purchase and sale agreement (PSA) is
signed before the due diligence period and, therefore,
property companies are formed for the signing of the
PSA, about 2 months ahead of closing.
The list of the non-listed entities belonging to the
Group can be found with their head office and the
percentage of shares held by Varia on pages 112 and 113
of this report.
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Ariston
Opportunity
Fund Ltd

PC
Aspen
Ridge
LLC

PC
Brentwood
LLC

PC
Highland
LLC

PC
Norman
Cottages
LLC

PC
Parkview
LLC

PC
Reflections
LLC

PC
Stonegate
LLC

PC
Topeka
Cottages
LLC

PC
Tuscany
Bay
LLC

PC
Willows
LLC

PC
Woodlands
LLC

95%

95%

95%

95%

95%

95%

95%

93.33%

95%

95%

91.17%

92.98%

95%

88.86%

95%

81.61%

95%

95%

95%

95%

93.69%

PC
Northgate
LLC

PC
Shawnee
Station
LLC

PC
Sunset
Palms
LLC

PC
Towne
Square
LLC

PC
Wyndam
LLC

PC
Summerhill
LLC
(Sundance
Pointe)

100%
100%
100%

100%

100%

100%

100%

Varia US Properties AG

48

100%

100%

100%

100%

PC
Mesa Park
LLC
(Sundance
Pointe)

Holding

PC
Eagles Nest
LLC

PC
PC
Washington Woodbridge
Heights
LLC
LLC

PC Brent
Village
LLC

Varia US
Brent LLC

95%
PC
Applewood
LLC

Varia US
Daytona
LLC

Varia US
Jacksonville
LLC

Varia US
Orlando
LLC

PC
Countryside
LLC

PC
Nova Wood
LLC

95%

95%

95%

PC
King Crossing
LLC

PC
Pelican Pointe
LLC

PC
Stonewood
LLC

95%

95%

95%

PC
Branchwood
LLC

PC
Wingwood
LLC

PC
Sky Pines
LLC

95%

95%

95%

PC
Nova Glen
LLC
95%

PC
Oak Shade
LLC

PC
Volusia
Crossing
LLC

95%

95%

PC
Broadview
Oaks
LLC

Varia US
Pensacola
LLC

95%
Varia US
Tallahassee
LLC

PC
Parkway
Square
LLC

PC
Tally Square
LLC

95%

95%

PC
Woodland
Manor
LLC

Varia US
Tulsa
LLC

95%
Varia US
Dallas
LLC

PC
The Ridge on
Spring Valley
LLC

PC
Wood Hollow
LLC

100%

100%

PC
Crowne Lake
LLC

Varia US
Columbia
LLC

100%
PC
Pine Ridge
Bremerton
LLC

Varia US
PNW
LLC

100%
Varia US
Midwest
LLC

Blocker
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PropCo

PC
Maryland
Park
LLC

PC
Devonshire
LLC

100%

100%

PC
Devonshire
Place
LLC

PC
Devonshire
Gardens
LLC

100%

100%

Fund
Blocker
PropCo
Entities formed but
with no asset at year end
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1.2. SIGNIFICANT SHAREHOLDERS
Varia US Properties AG was listed on December 8,
2017, right after its capital increase, but before the
exercise of the greenshoe option.
On December 31, the number of shares issued by Varia
US Properties AG (464,562 greenshoe shares were issued only later) was 6,194,148. At that time, the main
shareholder in the Company was Varia SPC, a Cayman
Island fund grouping 38 nominee investors and representing 57.2 % of the issued shares.
On January 6, 2017, the greenshoe option was exercised
and the total number of shares issued was 6,658,710. At
that time, Varia SPC represented 53.2 % of the issued
shares.
In Varia SPC, none of the shareholders represents more
than 3 % of the issued shares. Outside of Varia SPC, only
Dreyfus Soehne represents 8 % of the share capital with
497,705 registered shares in their name on December
31, 2016. This figure declined to 7.5 % after exercise
and implementation of the greenshoe option. No other
investor represents more than 3 % of the issued shares.
The disclosures made during 2016 may be found at
https://www.six-exchange-regulation.com/en/home/
publications/significant-shareholders.html?companyId=
VARIA
1.3. CROSS-SHAREHOLDINGS
Varia US Properties AG has no cross-shareholdings.
2.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

A)

CAPITAL AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2016

Type of capital

Number
of shares

Value
per
share

Ordinary capital

6,194,148

1.00

Authorized capital
(greenshoe option)

464,562

1.00

Authorized capital
(general purpose)

665,871

1.00

Time
limit if any

B)

EXERCISE OF THE GREENSHOE
OPTION
The greenshoe option was exercised on January 6, 2017
and the total number of shares issued after this date
is 6,658,710. The authorized capital for the purpose of
the greenshoe option was therefore used and is, after
January 6, 2017, no longer available.
C)
ADDITIONAL AUTHORIZED CAPITAL
According to Article 2.3 of the Articles of Association
(http://variausproperties.com/articlesofassociation), the
Board of Directors is authorized to increase the share
capital at any time until November 13, 2018 by a maximum amount of CHF 665,871 by issuance of a maximum of 665,871 registered shares, of a par value of
CHF 1.00 each, to be fully paid up.
Increases through firm underwriting or in partial
amounts are permitted. The Board of Directors shall
determine the issue price, the date from which the
shares carry the right to dividends and how the shares
may be paid up.
The Board of Directors is authorized to exclude the
pre-emptive rights of the shareholders and to allocate
them to third parties in the event of the use of the
new shares for the purpose of: (1) acquiring real estate
(whether in the form of direct acquisition of real estate
or the acquisition of interests in a real estate company); (2) mergers, acquisitions of enterprises or participations, financing and/or refinancing of such mergers
and acquisitions and of other investment projects; or (3)
broadening the shareholder constituency.
The subscription as well as the acquisition of registered
shares out of authorized share capital for general purposes and any further transfers of registered shares
shall be subject to the transfer restrictions specified
in Article 2.6 of the Articles of Association
(http://variausproperties.com/articlesofassociation).

November
13, 2018
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D)

CHANGES IN CAPITAL

Date of entry into
daily register

Number of
shares

Share
nominal value

17.09.2015

100,000

1.00

Formation of the company

11.11.2015

1,182,464

1.00

1st capital increase (initial part)

18.01.2016

3,097,074

1.00

1st capital increase (second part)

07.12.2016

6,194,148

1.00

2nd capital increase (initial part)

10.01.2017

6,658,710

1.00

2nd capital increase (greenshoe option)

Varia US Properties AG was formed on September 17,
2015 with an initial share capital of 100,000 registered
shares.
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A first capital increase was conducted at the end of
2015, beginning of 2016.
A second capital increase was conducted at the end of
2016, beginning of 2017.
E)

PARTICIPATION CERTIFICATES AND
DIVIDEND-RIGHT CERTIFICATES
Varia US Properties AG has neither participation certificate nor dividend-right certificates.
F)
LIMITATION ON TRANSFERABILITY
According to Article 2.6 of the Articles of Association
(http://variausproperties.com/articlesofassociation), the
registration of acquirers of shares as shareholders with
voting rights is in any case subject to the approval by the
Board of Directors.
A person who has acquired registered shares will, upon
application, be entered in the share register as shareholder with voting rights, provided that he or she expressly states that he or she has acquired the shares
concerned in his or her own name for his or her own
account. Any person not providing such statement will
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Comments

be registered as nominee into the share register only if
he or she declares in writing that he or she is prepared
to disclose the name, address and shareholding of any
person for whose account he or she is holding shares
or he or she immediately discloses this information in
writing upon first demand. The vast majority of shares
are unregistered and under nominee names.
The Company may, after consulting with the affected
shareholder, cancel entries in the share register if such
entry was based on untrue information given by the
acquirer. The acquirer shall be informed of the cancellation immediately.
Varia US Properties AG has implemented no other
limitation on transferability. The above limitations may
be removed by a majority vote of the General Meeting
of shareholders.
However, a change in the group control would have to
be announced to the lenders in the US and would entail
an estimated financial cost of 1 % of the aggregate loan
value.
G)
CONVERTIBLE BONDS AND OPTIONS
At the end of the period, no convertible bonds and no
options with the shares of Varia US Properties AG as
underlying were outstanding.
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3.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

A)
COMPOSITION
The Board is composed of the following members:
Board Member

Function

First
appointed

End of
term

Nationality

Executive (E)
Non-Executive
(NE)*

Manuel Leuthold
Jaume Sabater

Chairman

2016

2017

Swiss

NE

Vice Chairman

2015

2017

Swiss

E

Taner Alicehic

Member

2015

2017

Swiss

E

Alexander Leviant

Member

2015

2017

US

NE

Patrick Richard

Delegate of the Board of Directors

2016

2017

Swiss

E

Dany Roizman

Member

2015

2017

Brazil

NE

Beat Schwab

Member, Chairman of the Risk and
Audit Committee, sole member of
the Compensation Committee

2016

2017

Swiss

NE
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* Executive members are those active for or within
Stoneweg SA, which is the Asset Manager of Varia US
Properties AG:
Jaume Sabater is CEO of Stoneweg SA
Patrick Richard is Head of US Investments for
Stoneweg SA (advisory position)
Taner Alicehic is in charge of investor relations for
Stoneweg SA (advisory position)
None of the non-executive members held an operational management position at the Company or one
of its subsidiaries during the last three years preceding
the period under review.
None of the non-executive members has significant
business connections with the Company or with any of
its subsidiaries.

B)

PROFESSIONAL BACKGROUND,
EDUCATION, OTHER ACTIVITIES
AND INTERESTS

i

MANUEL LEUTHOLD

Professional background
2012–2015: Edmond de Rothschild Group
1984–2011: UBS SA, various positions,
Member of the Swiss executive committee
Education
University of Geneva: Master of Law
University of Geneva: Master of Economics
Other activities and interests
Chairman of Compenswiss
(Swiss Federal Social Security Fund), Berne
Chairman of the Economic Development Board –
Canton of Vaud, Lausanne
Board member of the Clinique Générale Beaulieu
Holding SA, Geneva, listed at Berne eXchange BX
(Bern Stock Exchange)
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ii

52

JAUME SABATER

v

PATRICK RICHARD

Professional background
2015–Now: Founding partner and CEO of
Stoneweg SA
2003–2014: Edmond de Rothschild Group,
various positions,
Head of Real Estate Investments
Education
Community of European Management Schools,
St. Gallen University, and ESADE Barcelona:
Master in international management
Other activities and interests
No other activities
No other interests

Professional background
2016–Now: Head of US Investments
for Stoneweg SA
2007–2015: Co-founder and managing partner
of Procimmo SA,
a Swiss real estate asset manager
Education
University of Geneva: Law degree
Geneva Bar: Attorney at law
Board education program:
IMD, Swiss Board Institute
Other activities and interests
Chairman of the Board of Procimmo SA

iii

vi

TANER ALICEHIC

DANY ROIZMAN

Professional background
2008–Now: Founder and CEO of
Real Estate Investment Solutions SA
2000–2008: Banque Cantonale Vaudoise,
various positions
Education
EPFL: Master’s degree in physics
HEC Geneva: MBA
Other activities and interests
No other activities
No other interests

Professional background
2003–Now: Founder and CEO
of Brainvest Wealth Management SA
1996–2002: JP Morgan
(Sao Paulo, New York, Geneva)
Education
PUC Sao Paulo:
Bachelor in economics
Other activities and interests
No other activities
No other interests

iv

vii

ALEXANDER LEVIANT

Professional background
2002–Now: ICD Group,
President of ICD Group International Inc
Education
Georgetown University: Bachelor’s
Other activities and interests
Member of the Young Presidents
Organization (YPO)
Trustee of the French Institute/Alliance Française
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BEAT SCHWAB

Professional background
2012–Now: Credit Suisse, various positions,
Head of Global Real Estate
2006–2012: CEO of Wincasa AG
Education
University of Bern: PhD
Columbia University: MBA
Other activities and interests
Chairman of the Board of Zug Estates Holding
Member of the Board of CFF/SBB
(Swiss national railway company)
Member of the Board of Credit Suisse
Asset Management (Switzerland) AG
Member of the Board of pom+ Consulting AG
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C)

NUMBER OF AUTHORIZED ACTIVITIES
IN ACCORDANCE WITH ARTICLE 12,
PARAGRAPH 1, ITEM 1 OAEC
According to Article 4.7 of the Articles of Association
(http://variausproperties.com/articlesofassociation), the
members of the Board of Directors and the persons
whom the Board of Directors has entrusted with the
executive management shall not assume more than
(i) 15 additional remunerated mandates, of which not
more than 5 in companies listed at a stock exchange,
and (ii) 10 additional non-remunerated mandates,
whereas a reimbursement of expenses is not considered remuneration.
D)
ELECTIONS AND TERMS OF OFFICE
According to Article 4.1 of the Articles of Association
(http://variausproper ties.com/ar ticlesofassociation),
the Board of Directors shall consist of a minimum of
three and a maximum of nine members, who do not
need to be shareholders. The Board of Directors organizes itself, subject to election by the General Meeting
of shareholders of the Chairman and the members of
the Compensation Committee. The Board of Directors
may designate a Vice Chairman and a Secretary. The
Secretary does not have to be shareholder or a member of the Board of Directors.

Since inception, the Board of the Company met on 6
occasions and 2 resolutions were taken by circular resolution.
Unless otherwise specifically accepted by the Board
members, the Board is convened by its chairman,
at least 10 days prior to the meeting day. Supporting
documentation is sent with the invitation or at least
five days before the meeting. If a Board member cannot participate in person, a conference call or video
conference will be organized in order to make participation possible. If a Board member is not available,
he will speak with the chairman before the meeting in
order to make his points known. In case of a strong
disagreement, a decision may be postponed if needed.
Representatives of the Asset Manager always participate in the Board meetings as elected members of the
Board. It has however been the will of the Company
to have a majority of non-executive Board members.
Currently, the Board counts 4 non-executive members
and 3 executive members.
The agenda of the Board is discussed by the chairman
and the delegate of the Board, in order to take into
consideration all needed information.

The members of the Board of Directors shall be elected
by the General Meeting of shareholders for a term of
one year, beginning with the day of their election. Directors shall hold their offices until they are replaced or not
re-elected, unless they retire or are removed earlier. If a
director is replaced, his successor shall continue in office
until the end of his predecessor’s term.

Board resolutions shall be adopted by a majority vote of
all members present. In case of a tie, the chairman shall
have the casting vote.

INTERNAL ORGANIZATIONAL
STRUCTURE
On November 14, 2016, the Board of Directors approved the Organizational Regulations of Varia US
Properties AG, which then entered into force on
December 8, 2016. These regulations mainly contain
provisions with regard to:
General organization of the Board meetings
Rights and duties of the members of the Board
Duties of the Board and delegation to the
Delegate of the Board of Directors
Additional regulations for the Chairman and the
Delegate of the Board of Directors
Provisions regarding the committees of the Board

i.
Risk and Audit Committee:
The members of the Risk and Audit Committee are appointed by the Board of Directors for a term of office of
up to one year ending at the next ordinary shareholders’ meeting. The Risk and Audit Committee consists of
at least one member of the Board of Directors. For the
year 2016/2017, Beat Schwab is chairperson and Taner
Alicehic is member of the Risk and Audit Committee.

E)

In its duties, the Board is helped by two committees:
The Risk and Audit Committee
The Compensation Committee.

The Risk and Audit Committee has the following general duties and competencies:
Assisting the Board in fulfilling its duties of supervision of management in organizing the accounting,
financial control and financial planning activities;
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Reviewing the outcome of the annual accounts and
audit with the external auditor as well as issuing the
necessary proposals or recommendations to the
Board;
Examining and submitting proposals to the Board
regarding the approval of the annual and interim accounts of the Company (including significant off balance sheet positions);
Clearing of any differences of opinion between the
Asset Manager, the external real estate appraiser
and the auditors which may evolve in connection
with the preparation of the annual financial statements;
Evaluating the external auditors with regard to the
fulfilment of the necessary qualifications and independence according to the applicable legal provisions
and making proposals for the attention of the Board
concerning the choice of the external auditors at the
General Meeting of shareholders;
Assessing the work done by the external auditors
in office and approving the budget submitted by the
external auditors for the audit work;
Assessing the work done by the Asset Manager and
the external real estate appraiser;
Approving the necessary non-auditing services provided by the external auditors;
Examining, reviewing and approving the accounting
policies and the external auditing plan;
Reviewing the Company’s compliance with financial
laws, regulations and reporting requirements;
Setting the guidelines for the Company’s risk management system and internal control system and
assessing the effectiveness of the risk management
system and the internal control system;
Questioning the external auditor as to the significant
risks, contingent liabilities and other fundamental
obligations of the Company as well as assessing the
measures taken by the Company to handle them;
Making a summary assessment of the annual business
expenses incurred by the members of the Board and
the Asset Manager.
The Risk and Audit Committee is entitled to conduct
investigations in all matters of its competence. It may
also request the services of independent advisors and
experts to the extent required for the accomplishment
of its duties.
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ii.
Compensation Committee:
The Compensation Committee consists of at least one
member of the Board of Directors. Its sole member
and chairperson is Beat Schwab. For the year 2016/2017,
all members of the Compensation Committee are individually elected by the shareholders’ meeting for terms
of one year. Re-election is permitted. The chairperson
of the Compensation Committee is appointed by the
Board of Directors (Article 4.5 of the Articles of Association – http://variausproperties.com/articlesofassociation).
The Compensation Committee assists the Board of Directors in remuneration-related matters, namely by:
Presenting motions to the Board in view of the next
ordinary General Meeting of shareholders with respect to the remuneration of the members of the
Board;
Assisting the Board in the preparation of the remuneration report;
Implementing the resolutions passed by the General
Meeting of shareholders with respect to the remuneration of the members of the Board;
Assessing the principles of remuneration and presenting corresponding motions to the Board (in view
of the next ordinary General Meeting of shareholders);
Presenting motions to the Board regarding the issuance of compensation rules to be submitted to the
General Meeting of shareholders for approval.
The Compensation Committee is entitled to conduct
investigations in all matters of its competence. In particular, it has full access, to the extent required for the
accomplishment of its duties, to the employees, books
and records of the Company and its subsidiaries. It may
also request the services of independent advisors and
experts to the extent required for the accomplishment
of its duties.
Since the entry into force of the Organizational Regulations, the two committees have been involved in
the preparation of the compensation report, as well
as in the supervision of the preparation of the financial
statements. They made recommendations to the Board
for the preparation of the General Assembly.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACT
RELATIONSHIP WITH STONEWEG SA
Stoneweg SA has been appointed by the Company as
its exclusive Asset Manager according to a contract
signed most recently on November 15, 2016. According
to this contract, Stoneweg SA’s main missions are:

For the 2016/2017 capital increase, Stoneweg SA
received a placement fee of CHF 249,314.50.

Execute acquisitions and divestments according to
the investment strategy fixed by the Board
Manage the portfolio according to agreed targets
Interact with local counterparts such as brokers,
lenders, mortgage brokers, appraisers, local or regional asset managers, property managers, accounting firms, auditors, lawyers
Report to the Board and its committees
Investor relations
Capital increase organization and coordination, equity financing.

Stoneweg SA or its affiliates have offices in Milano,
Barcelona, Madrid and St Petersburg (FL).

F)

To help fulfil its mission, Stoneweg SA uses a company
called Stoneweg US LLC, which is currently based in
Florida.
For these activities, Stoneweg SA or its affiliates are
entitled to a fee of up to 1% of the purchase price of the
acquisitions closed.
In case of divestments, Stoneweg SA or its affiliates are
entitled to a disposal fee up of 1 % or alternatively to a
performance fee, calculated on the basis of the profit
realized after a specific hurdle.
For its portfolio activities, the Asset Manager or any of
its affiliates will be entitled to a fee (the “Management
Fee”) per financial year (and so in proportion for any
part of a financial year), which is calculated as one percent (1.00 %) of the rolling invested equity value. The
equity value is calculated every half-year as the addition
of the NAV of the last two semesters divided by two. A
semester shall be equal to six (6) months. Stoneweg SA
has decided to charge the fee only on the equity invested and not on the full equity raised by the Company.
For its activities related to equity financing, the Asset
Manager or any of its affiliates shall be entitled to a fee
of up to three percent (3.00 %) of new capital raised
for the purpose of equity financing (the “Placement
Fee”). For the 2015 and 2016 capital increases Stoneweg SA received placement fees of CHF 2,000,710.

Stoneweg SA is a Geneva-based international real
estate platform serving various clients and managing
investments, currently mainly in Spain, Italy and the US.

Jaume Sabater (Swiss) is founding partner and CEO of
Stoneweg SA. The other members of the management
team are Rui Inacio (Portuguese) and Joaquin Castellvi
(Spanish).
Before joining Stoneweg SA, Rui Inacio has worked
for 10 years at Edmond de Rothschild (Suisse) SA as a
real estate fund analyst and portfolio manager for the
real estate multimanager mandates. During these years
he co-managed the EDR real estate SICAV with more
than CHF 800 million of assets under management. Rui
Inacio has a degree in economics from the University
of Geneva.
Patrick Richard (Swiss) is Head of US Investments for
Stoneweg SA. He is currently under mandate with
Stoneweg SA and majority shareholder of Stoneweg
US LLC. Co-owner of Stoneweg US LLC is Thomas
Buckley (US citizen). Thomas Buckley has over 30 years
of experience in developing and executing investment
strategies in real estate, manufacturing and petroleum.
Prior to working with Stoneweg, he spent 9 years
working as an independent contractor in the multifamily
investment sector. He was educated at the University
of Colorado and completed an Executive Leadership
Program at Harvard University.
Patrick Richard is in charge of all legal, financial and
reporting activities, whilst Thomas Buckley is in charge
of acquisitions and portfolio management. Both are supported by the team of Stoneweg SA based in Geneva
and dedicated to the US market.
None of the people involved in the US activities of
Stoneweg SA has a political mandate or posts and none
has any other relevant activities other than the ones
mentioned above.
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4.

COMPENSATION,
SHAREHOLDINGS AND LOANS
The compensation of the Board of Directors is detailed
in the compensation report and the information regarding the compensation of the Asset Manager is provided
above.
No loans or credit facilities were granted to any member of the Board or any member of the Asset Manager
or other related parties during the period under review.
In terms of shareholdings, the table below indicates the
number of shares directly or indirectly held by each
member of the Board.
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Board member

Number of shares
directly held

Manuel Leuthold

none

Jaume Sabater

none

Taner Alicehic

3,000

Alexander Leviant

none

Dany Roizman

none

Patrick Richard

30,000

Beat Schwab

1,853

At the end of the period under review, there was
no participation or shareholding program in place, nor
had any options been distributed to Board member or
related parties.
The Board members have a fixed compensation only.
That compensation is evaluated by the Compensation
Committee based on compensation paid to Board
members of companies of a similar size. The proposal is
then submitted to the Board for discussion and approval. Finally, it is presented to the General Meeting of the
shareholders. The fees paid to the Asset Manager are
not variable, except for the performance fee, when applicable, which can vary depending on the performance
of assets at the time of divestment.
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5.

COMPENSATION RULES

A)

STATUTORY RULE ON
COMPENSATION
According to Article 4.4 of the Articles of Association
(http://variausproperties.com/articlesofassociation), the
members of the Board of Directors and the persons
whom the Board of Directors has entrusted with the
executive management are entitled to remuneration
commensurate with their activities. The remuneration
may be paid by the Company or by a subsidiary, provided it is covered by the total remuneration approved by
the General Meeting.
The members of the Board of Directors are paid a fixed
remuneration and other applicable elements of remuneration that are not dependent on performance.
Remuneration of the persons whom the Board of
Directors has entrusted with the executive management consists of a fixed compensation, which may be
complemented by a variable component. The amount
of the variable remuneration paid to the persons whom
the Board of Directors has entrusted with the executive management depends on the qualitative and quantitative targets and parameters defined by the Board of
Directors. The Board of Directors defines and assesses
the targets and their achievement or delegates this task
to the Compensation Committee. Variable remuneration may be paid in cash or in the form of equity instruments, conversion or option rights or other rights to
equity instruments.
The Board of Directors determines the respective
amounts of remuneration within the remuneration framework approved by the General Meeting of shareholders
upon proposal by the Compensation Committee.
If remuneration of the Board of Directors or of the persons whom the Board of Directors has entrusted with
the executive management takes the form of shares,
option rights or similar instruments, the Board of Directors shall set out the conditions and requirements that
are to apply in one or more plans or regulations. These
plans or regulations may stipulate the time of allocation,
valuation, holding, vesting and exercise periods (including their alteration or revocation under certain circumstances), the maximum number of shares, option rights
or other instruments that may be allocated, potential
claw-back mechanisms and discounts at allocation.
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For members of executive management who are appointed by the Board of Directors after the annual
total compensation has been approved, an additional amount per new member as defined by Article 19
of the Ordinance Against Excessive Compensation in
Stock Companies of no more than 100% of the total annual compensation last approved for the persons whom
the Board of Directors has entrusted with the executive management shall be available should the approved
total compensation for the approval period in question
prove to be insufficient.
B)
LOANS AND CREDIT FACILITIES
According to Article 4.6 of the Articles of Association
(http://variausproperties.com/articlesofassociation), loans
and credits in favor of a member of the Board of Directors
or of persons whom the Board of Directors has entrusted
with the executive management may only be granted at
market conditions (at arm’s length). The total amount of
loans and credits granted directly or indirectly to members
of the Board of Directors or persons whom the Board of
Directors has entrusted with the executive management
shall not exceed CHF 10 million.
C)

APPROVAL BY THE GENERAL MEETING
OF SHAREHOLDERS
The General Meeting of shareholders approves the
proposals of the Board of Directors regarding the maximum amounts separately every year with binding effect
as follows:
1. for the compensation of the Board of Directors for
the term of office until the next General Meeting of
shareholders;
2. for the compensation of the persons whom the
Board of Directors has entrusted with the executive management annually in advance until the next
General Meeting of shareholders or retroactively for
the period described in the proposal of the Board of
Directors.
No vote is required for the remuneration of the Asset
Manager.
If a compensation proposal is rejected by shareholders,
the Board of Directors may make new proposals at the
same General Meeting of shareholders or call for an extraordinary meeting of shareholders for that purpose.

6.

SHAREHOLDERS’
PARTICIPATION RIGHTS

A)
VOTE AND PROXY
According to Article 3.4 of the Article of Association
(http://variausproper ties.com/ar ticlesofassociation),
each share entitles to one vote. Voting by proxy is permitted under a written proxy. The Board of Directors
shall decide whether a proxy is to be accepted.
The General Meeting of shareholders shall elect an
Independent Proxy, who may be an individual, a legal
entity or a partnership. The independence of the Independent Proxy shall be construed in accordance with
Article 728 CO. The term of the Independent Proxy
shall end with the closing of the next ordinary General
Meeting of shareholders following the General Meeting
of shareholders that elected the Independent Proxy.
Re-election is permissible. The Independent Proxy shall
exercise his, her or its responsibilities in accordance
with the provisions of the law. The Board of Directors
shall ensure that the shareholders have the opportunity to give instructions to the Independent Proxy with
respect to each agenda point mentioned in the notice
to the meeting. In addition, the shareholders shall be
given the opportunity to give general instructions with
respect to motions made at the meeting concerning an
agenda item or with respect to an agenda item not previously announced in the invitation (Article 700 para.
3 CO). The Board of Directors shall ensure that the
shareholders may give their proxy or instructions, also
electronically, to the Independent Proxy until 4:00 p.m.
(local time) on the second business day before date
of the General Meeting. The Independent Proxy shall
exercise the voting rights granted to him, her or it by
the shareholders in accordance with their instructions.
If no instructions have been given, the Independent
Proxy shall abstain from voting.
Unless otherwise provided by law or the Articles of
Incorporation, the General Meeting of shareholders
passes its resolutions with the absolute majority of
the votes cast. If a resolution cannot be passed upon
the first voting there shall be a second voting at which
the relative majority shall decide, unless otherwise
stipulated by law or the Articles of Incorporation.
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B)

ORGANIZATION OF THE
GENERAL MEETING
General Meetings of shareholders are called by the
Board of Directors and, if necessary, by the auditors.
The liquidators are also entitled to call a General Meeting of shareholders.
The Annual General Meeting of shareholders shall
be held within six months following the close of the
business year; at least twenty days prior to the Annual
General Meeting of shareholders, the annual business
report and the auditors’ report must be submitted for
examination by the shareholders at the Company’s registered office. Any shareholder may request that a copy
of these documents be immediately sent to him. The
shareholders are to be notified hereof by letter.
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A General Meeting of shareholders is also to be called
upon demand of one or more shareholders representing at least ten percent of the share capital. The demand
to call a meeting shall be in writing and shall specify the
items and the proposals to be submitted to the meeting.
The General Meeting of shareholders shall be called not
less than twenty days prior to the meeting. The notice
shall be given in writing or by email.
The notice shall specify the place, date and time of the
meeting, as well as the items and proposals of the Board
of Directors and the shareholders who demanded that a
General Meeting of shareholders be called.
According to Article CO 699 §3, shareholders together
representing shares with a nominal value of 1 million
francs or holding at least 10% of the share capital may
demand that an item be placed on the agenda.
Shareholders or their proxies representing all shares issued may hold a meeting of shareholders without complying with the formalities required for calling a meeting
unless objection is raised. At such meeting, discussion
may be held and resolutions passed on all matters within the scope of the powers of a General Meeting of
shareholders for so long as the shareholders or proxies
representing all shares issued are present.

CHANGES OF CONTROL AND
DEFENSE MEASURES
According to Article 2.7 of the Articles of Association
(http://variausproperties.com/articlesofassociation), an
acquirer of shares in the Company shall not be bound
by the obligation to make a public takeover offer in
accordance with Articles 135 and 163 of the Federal
Act on Financial Market Infrastructures and Market
Conduct on Securities and Derivatives Trading (Financial Market Infrastructure Act).
7.

No other clause on changes of control is included in the
Articles of Association.
Changes of control have to be announced to US lenders
and loan servicers as it may trigger a transfer fee according to each of the respective loan agreement signed
by the subsidiaries of the Company.
8.
AUDITORS
KPMG has been the auditor of the Company since its
inception in 2015. At that time today’s lead auditor also
took office. The lead auditor of the Company must be
replaced after a period of seven years as set forth in
Article 730a(2) CO. The mandate of the auditor lasts
from one General Assembly to the next one and has to
be confirmed at each General Assembly.
Since inception, the audit company has issued the
following invoices:
Date
11.03.16
11.03.16

Amount

Topic

6,372 Capital increase november 2015
28,080 Capital increase February 2016

21.12.16

167,400 Mid year 2016 financial statements

31.12.16

120,960 Propspectus revision

31.01.17

208,440 Mid year 2016 financial statements

31.01.17

5,400 Greenshoe option exercise review

These invoices do not include the 2016 full year
audit, which was accrued in the financial statements
for CHF 300,000
The auditors were invited to the following two
Board meetings:
January 16, 2017
April 24, 2017.
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During the January meeting, the auditor made some
general comments about the June 30, 2016 financial
statements review and presented the audit plan for the
year-end results.
During the April meeting, the auditor presented the
year-end audit and the report of the auditors to the
Board of Directors.
9.
INFORMATION POLICY
The Company issues quarterly reports on real estate
performance of the last quarter. Usually these reports
are published less than two months after the end of the
quarter.
The Company publishes half-year results within three
months after the closing of the half-year period and a
full-year report within four months after the closing of
the yearly period.
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Quarterly and half-year results are neither reviewed
nor audited, whilst full-year reports are audited.
The Company is subject to ad hoc publicity according to
Article 53 of the Listing Rules.
All information is also available on the website
www.variausproperties.com
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COMPENSATION REPORT
Varia US Properties’ sustainable development and its continued success as a business are built
on a systematic, transparent compensation system. This report provides an overview of the
Company’s compensation principles and practices designed to support business goals and to
align the interests of the leadership team with those of the Company’s shareholders.

OVERVIEW
Varia US Properties AG is a real estate holding company incorporated in Zug. The Company has a Board of
Directors but no direct employees. Hence, the Company has retained Stoneweg SA as its exclusive Asset
Manager and all operational tasks have been outsourced
to that entity.

PURPOSE OF THE
COMPENSATION REPORT
The compensation report meets the provisions of the
Ordinance against Excessive Compensation in Listed
Companies (Article 13 and ff ) and is put to a consultative vote at the General Meeting.

For that reason, the compensation report only relates
to the compensation of the members of the Board of
Directors.

DECISION OF THE GENERAL
ASSEMBLY IN 2016
On November 14, 2016, the General Assembly of Varia
US Properties AG took the following decisions:

The compensation of the Board members under
contract with the Asset Manager, Stoneweg SA, is
included in the total remuneration package approved
by the General Meeting of shareholders, but is paid directly by Stoneweg SA with the asset management fee.
No extra charge is invoiced to Varia US Properties AG.
The only exception relates to the Delegate of the Board
of Directors, who receives a specific compensation for
his executive tasks.

1.	It elected the following persons as Board members:
Manuel Leuthold, Chairman
Jaume Sabater, Vice Chairman
Patrick Richard,
Delegate of the Board of Directors
Taner Alicehic, Member
Alexander Leviant, Member
Dany Roizman, Member
Beat Schwab, sole Member of the
Compensation Committee.
2. It approved the following compensation package for
the Board members according to Article 3.7 of the
Articles of Association:
Maximum amount of CHF 340,000 for the remuneration of the members of the Board until the next
ordinary General Meeting of shareholders in 2017.
Maximum amount of CHF 10,000 for the Delegate
of the Board for his management functions.
MANAGED BY
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DECISION OF THE BOARD RELATED
TO ITS COMPENSATION IN 2016
In its meeting of the same day, the Board of the
Company took the following decisions:
1. It elected the following persons as Risk and Audit
Committee members:
Beat Schwab, Chairman of the Committee
Taner Alicehic, Member of the Committee.
2. It resolved unanimously to approve the distribution
of the approved CHF 340,000 to members of the
Board of Directors exercising the respective functions as follows:

a)	Base fee for each member
of the Board of Directors:
CHF 40,000
b) 	Chairman of the Board of Directors:
additional CHF 30,000
c) Chairman of the Risk and Audit Committee:
additional CHF 20,000
d) 	 Chairman of the Compensation Committee:
		 additional CHF 10,000
1) For the Board members working with or
for the Asset Manager of the Company,
Stoneweg SA, it is understood that these
amounts will be paid indirectly by Stoneweg SA.
The Board also resolved to pay an extra CHF 10,000
to the Delegate of the Board of Directors for his
executive tasks.
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COMPENSATION PAID
Except for CHF 5,000 paid to each Jaume Sabater and Taner Alicehic in 2015, no compensation to the Board was
paid prior to November 14, 2016.
Compensation due from November 14, 2016, to the 2017 General Meeting of shareholders on May 23, 2017, of
which 20,000 CHF were already paid as of the date of issue of this report:
Member

Function

Manuel Leuthold
Jaume Sabater
Beat Schwab

Chairman of the Board
Vice Chairman of the Board
Chairman of the Compensation Committee,
Chairman of the Risk and Audit Committee
Member of the Risk and Audit Committee
Member of the Board
Member of the Board
Executive member of the Board
Delegate of the Board of Directors

Taner Alicehic
Alexander Leviant
Dany Roizman
Patrick Richard
Patrick Richard
Total
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Amount due
in CHF
35,000
20,000
35,000

Social security
contributions
in CHF
3,344

20,000
20,000
20,000
20,000
5,000
175,000

Paid by
Varia
Stoneweg
Varia
Stoneweg
Varia
Varia
Stoneweg
Varia

3,344
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FULL COMPENSATION DISCLOSURE
At that stage of company development, it is not intended to have any payment in kind or performance related
compensation.
Therefore, none of the Board members received any
compensation in shares or other stocks.
There was no performance related compensation.
There was no additional compensation to the Board
members for their role as Board member or for additional work, except for the Board members paid by
Stoneweg SA that are involved in the asset management
duties of the Company.
No loans or credit facilities were granted to members
of the Board of Directors, Executive Board or related
parties in the 2016 financial year, and there were no
such receivables outstanding as at December 31, 2016.

PROPOSAL TO THE ANNUAL GENERAL
MEETING OF MAY 23, 2017
The Board of Directors will submit the following compensation-related proposals to the Annual General
Meeting of May 23, 2017. Details will be stated in the
invitation to the Annual General Meeting, which will
govern in any event.
a) Remuneration of the Board members
According to the Articles of Association of the Company, the Board invites the AGM to approve a maximum amount of compensation in cash for the Board
of CHF 500,000 for the period ending at the 2018
Annual General Meeting of shareholders.
b) Remuneration of the Delegate of the Board of
Directors
According to the Articles of Association, the Board
invites the Annual General Meeting of shareholders
to approve a maximum amount of compensation in
cash for the Delegate of the Board of Directors of
CHF 20,000 for his executive tasks for the period
ending at the 2018 Annual General Meeting of shareholders.
c) Board expenses
Board expenses will be paid on top of the remuneration package proposed above, especially for Board
members travelling from abroad to Switzerland or to
the US for Board meetings.
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REPORT OF THE STATUTORY AUDITOR TO THE
GENERAL MEETING OF VARIA US PROPERTIES AG, ZUG
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VARIA US PROPERTIES AG AND SUBSIDIARIES					

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Expressed in US Dollars

Note

December 31, 2016

September 28, 2015

June 30, 2016
(Unaudited)

ASSETS
Current assets
· Cash and cash equivalents

E

96,300,017

23,920,065

104,637

· Rent and other receivables

F

631,716

376,386

–

· Income tax receivable

242,495

242,495

–

· Prepaid expenses

813,224

1,027,552

–

–

5,800,000

–

97,987,452

31,366,498

104,637

343,450,000

295,130,000

–

877,000

–

–
–

· Non-current asset classified as held for sale
Total current assets
Non-current assets
· Investment property

I

· Other assets
· Escrow accounts

E

5,028,566

4,184,233

· Goodwill

D

1,936,484

1,051,727

· Deferred tax asset

M

Total non-current assets
Total assets

536,372

2,768,191

–

351,828,422

303,134,151

–

449,815,874

334,500,649

104,637

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities
· Interest bearing loans and borrowings

G

1,595,838

2,856,489

–

· Trade and other payables

H

6,838,545

6,666,141

–

· Prepaid rent
Total current liabilities

223,359

219,541

–

8,657,742

9,742,171

–

Non-current liabilities
· Interest bearing loans and borrowings

G

201,473,883

196,712,862

–

· Deferred tax liability

M

14,682,580

13,202,027

–

224'814'205

219'657'060

–

Total liabilities
· Issued share capital

J

6,180,241

3,120,867

104,637

· Share premium from capital contributions

J

193,357,404

94,544,056

–

8,874,269

2,860,044

–

208,411,914

100,524,967

104,637

· Retained earnings
Equity attributable to Varia US Properties AG shareholders
Non-controlling interest (NCI)

J

16,589,755

14,318,622

–

Total equity

225,001,669

114,843,589

104,637

Total liabilities and equity

449,815,874

334,500,649

104,637

The Notes on pages 73 to 94 form an integral part of these financial statements
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VARIA US PROPERTIES AG AND SUBSIDIARIES					

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR
LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Period from
September 28,
2015 through
December 31,
2016

Period from
September 28, 2015
through
June 30, 2016

Rental income

36,525,232

17,439,403

Other income

2,622,533

1,417,294

4,185,000

4,185,000

Expressed in US Dollars

Bargain on purchase of subsidiary
Net gain from fair value adjustment on investment property

Note

D
I

Total income
Expenses for third party onsite workforces
Real estate operating expenses
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K

(Unaudited)

21,231,493

9,961,916

64,564,258

33,003,613

5,621,229

2,461,397

7,939,025

3,514,872

Real estate maintenance and renovation expenses

5,827,515

594,010

Property management fees

1,388,270

745,024

5,880,590

5,376,572

Real estate acquisition expenses
Other expenses

7,285,900

7,071,930

Total operating expenses

33,942,529

19,763,805

· Operating Profit

30,621,729

13,239,808

Finance Cost

K

L

8,645,081

4,782,323

21,976,648

8,457,485

5,800,197

1,948,200

16,176,451

6,509,285

–

–

16,176,451

6,509,285

· Varia US Properties AG shareholders

8,874,269

2,860,044

· Non-controlling interests

7,302,182

3,649,241

16,176,451

6,509,285

· Varia US Properties AG shareholders

8,874,269

2,860,044

· Non-controlling interests

7,302,182

3,649,241

16,176,451

6,509,285

3.37

1.39

· Profit before income tax
Provision for income tax expense

M

· Profit for the period
Other comprehensive income
· Total comprehensive income for the period
Profit attributable to:

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Earnings per share:
· Basic and diluted earnings, on profit for the period
The Notes on pages 73 to 94 form an integral part of these financial statements
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VARIA US PROPERTIES AG AND SUBSIDIARIES					

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE PERIOD FROM SEPTEMBER 28, 2015
(INCEPTION) THROUGH DECEMBER 31, 2016
Equity Attributable to Varia US Properties AG Shareholders

Issued Share
Capital

Share
Premium
from Capital
Contribution

Retained
Earnings

Total

Noncontrolling
Interests

Total
Equity

104,637

–

–

104,637

–

104,637

Profit for the period

–

–

8,874,269

8,874,269

7,302,182

16,176,451

· Other comprehensive income

–

–

–

–

–

–

Total comprehensive income

–

–

8,874,269

8,874,269

7,302,182

16,176,451

36,711,046

–

37,795,247

–

37,795,247

Expressed in US Dollars

Note

Share capital issued at date of
incorporation September 28, 2015

Ordinary share capital increases
· November 11, 2015

J

1,084,201

· February 1, 2016

J

1,932,029

57,833,010

–

59,765,039

–

59,765,039

· December 7, 2016

J

3,059,374

98,813,348

–

101,872,722

–

101,872,722

–

–

–

–

(1,735,154)

(1,735,154)

Net capital distributions
Non-controlling interest originating
through business combinations
Balance at December 31, 2016

D

–

–

–

–

11,022,727

11,022,727

6,180,241

193,357,404

8,874,269

208,411,914

16,589,755

225,001,669

The Notes on pages 73 to 94 form an integral part of these financial statements
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VARIA US PROPERTIES AG AND SUBSIDIARIES					

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE PERIOD FROM SEPTEMBER 28, 2015
(INCEPTION) THROUGH DECEMBER 31, 2016				
Expressed in US Dollars

Note

Operating activities
Profit before tax

21,976,648

Adjustments to reconcile profit before tax to net cash provided by operating activities
· Net gain from fair value adjustment on investment property

I

(21,231,493)

· Bargain on acquisition of subsidiary

D

(4,185,000)

· Finance costs

L

8,645,081

· Loss on disposal of investment property

230,110

5,435,346
Working capital adjustments
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· Decrease in rent and other receivables

F

· Increase in prepaid expenses
· Increase in escrow accounts

449,375
(17,824)

E

(956,664)

· Increase in other assets

(877,000)

· Increase in trade and other payables

2,614,650

· Increase in prepaid rent

223,359

Net cash provided by operating activities

6,871,242

Investing activities
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired

D

(76,703,826)

Acquisition of investment property

I

(28,473,063)

Proceeds received from sale of assets held for sale

I

3,803,822

Capital expenditure on investment property

I

(1,381,322)

Net cash used in investing activities

(102'754'389)

Financing activities
Payments of principal on interest bearing loans and borrowings

G

(8,581,704)

Interest paid

L

(8,388,476)

Payments of debt issuance costs

G

(281,542)

Proceeds from interest bearing loans and borrowings

G

11,889,000

J

199,433,008

Proceeds from issued share capital
Payments of distributions to non-controlling interests
Net cash provided by financing activities
· Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Exchange losses on cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period
The Notes on pages 73 to 94 form an integral part of these financial statements
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(1,735,154)
192,335,132
96,451,985
104,637
(256,605)
96,300,017
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NOTES TO THE
CONSOLIDATED IFRS
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2016

Varia US Properties AG and Subsidiaries

NOTE A – ORGANIZATION
AND ACTIVITIES
Varia US Properties AG (Varia, Parent or the Company)
was created on September 17, 2015 and registered with
the Zug register of commerce on September 28, 2015
under UID number CHE-320748.468. The Company is
a Swiss stock corporation established under the relevant
provisions of the Swiss code of obligations. Its address
is Gubelstrasse 19, 6300 Zug, Switzerland. Varia US
Properties AG has the tax status of a holding company.

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of
Varia US Properties AG and its subsidiaries (collectively,
the Group) for the period December 31, 2016 were
authorized by the Board of Directors for issue on
April 24, 2017.

As a Swiss real estate investment company, Varia’s
purpose is to acquire, hold, and sell properties in the
United States of America (USA and US). Accordingly,
the Company is fully dedicated to solid investments
in the US multifamily real estate market. Since 2015,
it has assembled a portfolio currently held through
Varia’s subsidiaries that mainly comprise low-moderate
income and workforce multifamily housing properties.
The Company and its subsidiaries (the Group) pursue
a long-term growth strategy aimed at offering investors
risk adjusted access to the US multifamily real estate
market.

NOTE B – BASIS OF PREPARATION AND
SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The accompanying consolidated financial statements of
the Company have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
(IASB). These consolidated financial statements for
the period ended December 31, 2016 are the first the
Group has prepared in accordance with IFRS.

The Board of Directors of the Company is ultimately responsible for the policies, the valuations, and the
management of the activities. Varia has no employees
as of December 31, 2016 and has never employed any
staff.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in
US Dollars (USD) and all values are rounded to the
nearest dollar, except when otherwise indicated.

Accordingly, the Company’s consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on the historical cost
basis, except for its investment properties that are
measured at fair values at the end of each reporting
period, as explained in the accounting policies hereafter.
Management has included the unaudited consolidated
statements of financial position and profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as of and for the period
ended June 30, 2016 as voluntary information.
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By its statutes and Swiss law, Varia will close its statutory books and prepare statutory financial statements
for the first time on December 31, 2016 for the period
from September 28, 2015 (inception) to December 31,
2016.
BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION
The accompanying consolidated financial statements
comprise the financial statements of Varia and its subsidiaries as of and for the period ended December 31,
2016. Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group
has control. The Group controls an entity when the
Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns
from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity.
74

Non-controlling interest is recognized at the holders’
proportionate interest in the recognized amount of the
identifiable net assets of the acquire, which comprise a
direct ownership percentage plus a promote in connection with net fair value gains (see Note N).
Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the equity holders of the
parent of the Group and to non-controlling interests,
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments are
made to the financial statements of the subsidiaries to
bring their accounting policies into line with the Group’s
accounting policies. All intercompany assets and liabilities, income, expenses, and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated
on consolidation.
Profit or loss and other comprehensive income of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the period are
recognized from the effective date of the acquisition, or
up to the date of disposal, as applicable.
For acquisitions of subsidiaries not meeting the definition of a business, the Group allocates the cost between the individual identifiable assets and liabilities in
the Group based on their relative fair values at the date
of acquisition. Such transactions or events do not give
rise to goodwill.
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FUNCTIONAL AND PRESENTATION
CURRENCY
The Board of Directors of the Company has assessed
the underlying characteristics of Varia’s currency exposure, of its investments, and transactions and considers
that USD is the currency that best reflects its underlying
transactions, events, and conditions for the preparation
of the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
In particular, the Company has assessed the USD as the
currency –
In which the funds from Varia financing activities
are invested into and in which receipt for operating
activities are usually retained. The Company obtains
interests and dividends primarily in USD.
That influences most of the Company’s transactions
and determines the prices of Varia subsidiaries investment properties and assessment of the performances and profits from the operational activities.
Most of the transactions have been and are expected
to continue to be transacted in USD, even if limited
administrative costs of the Company are expected
to continue in Swiss franc (CHF).
In which Varia’s shareholders are investing their
funds on the long-term for the return of their investments.
As a result, the accompanying consolidated financial
statements are presented in USD.
FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rate prevailing
on the dates of the transactions.
In preparing financial statements at the end of each
reporting period, monetary items denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the rates prevailing
at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value
that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rate prevailing at the date when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items that
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated at the exchange rate at the date
of the transaction. Exchange differences on monetary
items are recognized in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise, except for unrealized exchange profits
on long-term monetary assets and liabilities which are
deferred in the statement of financial position sheet, if
any.
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The following exchange rates have been applied to
translate the foreign currencies of significance for the
Company:
CHF/USD average exchange rate
for the period

1.03497

CHF/USD exchange rate
at December 31, 2016

1.01878

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash includes cash on hand and cash with banks. Cash
equivalents are short-term, highly-liquid investments
that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash,
with original maturities of three months or less, that are
subject to an insignificant risk of change of value. Cash
and cash equivalents are recorded at nominal value.
FINANCIAL ASSETS (RENT AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES AND ESCROW ACCOUNTS)
Financial assets are classified as loans and receivables.
The Company determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.
Financial assets are recognized on the consolidated
statements of financial position when the Company
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
financial instrument, and are measured at fair value less
transaction cost if the financial asset is not carried at fair
value through profit or loss.
Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a timeframe established by any
applicable regulation or convention in the marketplace
(regular way purchases) are recognized on the settlement date, i.e., the date a financial asset is delivered to
or by the Company.
INVESTMENT PROPERTY
Investment property comprises real estate that is heldto-earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both.
Investment property is measured initially at fair value.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment property is stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the reporting date. Gains or losses arising from
changes in the fair values of investment properties are
included in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise, including the corresponding tax effect.

Investment property is derecognized either when it
has been disposed of, or when it is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is
expected from its disposal. The difference between
the net disposal of proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset is recognized in profit or loss in the period
of derecognition.
Expenditures for repairs and maintenance are expensed
as incurred. Expenditures for major additions and improvements that exceed USD 2,500 and materially
extend the useful lives of the assets are capitalized.
BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL
Goodwill represents the purchase price of an acquired
business in excess of the fair value of net assets acquired.
Goodwill is not subject to amortization, but is reviewed
at least annually for impairment, or more frequently,
as necessary, if there are other indications of impairment. The Group recognized USD 1,936,484 of goodwill in connection with the acquisition of the Ariston
Opportunity Fund as further described in Note D.
As of December 31, 2016, there were no indicators of
impairment.
INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS, TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
All loans and borrowings, trade and other payables
are initially recognized at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs. After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest
method.
RENTAL INCOME
The Company’s operating subsidiaries are the lessors in
operating leases. Rental income arising from operating
leases on investment property is accounted for on a
straight-line basis over the lease terms, and is included
in revenue in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income due to its operating nature.
OPERATING EXPENSES
Operating expenses are recognized in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income in the period in which they are incurred (on an
accrual basis).
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INCOME TAXES
CURRENT TAX
Tax expense and income taxes payable are based on
reported income and calculated in accordance with
the applicable legislations and regulations. In Switzerland, Varia is taxed as a holding company at federal,
cantonal, and communal levels. In the United States,
Varia’s subsidiaries are limited liability companies taxed
as corporations.
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Income, including dividend income and capital gains
from its subsidiaries, are exempt from taxation at the
Zug cantonal and communal levels. Nevertheless, the
Company is subject to capital taxes that are included
in operating expenses in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. The
amount of current income tax payable or receivable is
the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be
paid. It is measured using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.
DEFERRED TAX
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for
the future tax consequences attributable to temporary
differences between the financial statement carrying
amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases, and operating loss and tax credit
carryforwards.
New IFRS
Pronouncements
IAS 7
IAS 12
IAS 40 amendments
IFRS 9
IFRS 15
IFRS 2 amendments
IFRS 16

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using
enacted or substantively enacted tax rates expected
to apply to taxable income in the years in which those
temporary differences are expected to be recovered or
settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities
of a change in tax rates is recognized in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income in the period that includes the enactment date.
Deferred tax assets are only recognized to the extent
that it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which they can be used.
Recorded deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that the related benefit will be realized.
NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
The IASB has issued new standards, amendments,
and interpretations to existing standards that are not
yet effective. The following other new standards may
potentially be relevant for the Company. Varia has
yet to adopt these standards and plans to do so for
the reporting period beginning on or after the effective
date stated in the respective standards:

Title

Effective date

Disclosure Initiative
Recognition of Deferred Tax Asset for Unrealized Losses
Transfers of Investment Property
Financial Instruments
Revenue From Contracts With Customers
Clarification and Measurement of Share-based Payment Transactions
Leases

January 1, 2017
January 1, 2017
January 1, 2018
January 1, 2018
January 1, 2018
January 1, 2018
January 1, 2019

Varia is currently evaluating the implication of the above new standards.
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NOTE C – CRITICAL ACCOUNTING
JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCE OF
ESTIMATION
The application of the Company’s accounting policies,
and the preparation of the consolidated financial statements require the Board of Directors to make judgments, estimates, and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the reported amounts
of income and expenses during the reporting period.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results could differ
from those estimates.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis.
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF
INVESTMENT PROPERTY
The main area involving assumptions and estimates that
are significant to the consolidated financial statements
of the Group is the fair value of its investment property.
The Group’s investment property does not have a
quoted market price, nor can the fair value be determined with respect to observable input variable. Accordingly, Varia’s subsidiaries obtain independent property appraisals for determining the fair value of each
investment property (see Note I and Note O).
CONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARIES
In deciding whether the consolidation of subsidiaries
is appropriate, the Board of Directors has assessed
the level of control it has over its subsidiaries. For that
purpose, the Board of Directors has considered all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it controls its subsidiaries. The assessment includes
the analysis of the percentage of detention, the decision making process in particular related to investment
decisions, and the contractual terms defined in different agreements which set conditions for operating
the business. These agreements between the Group
and its non-controlling interest party (Peak Capital
Management and its Affiliates, who also act as manager

of subsidiary property companies), include provisions
relating to the involvement of the non-controlling interest party in some decisions which result in limitations of control in specific areas. Pursuant to this analysis, the Board of Directors has, notwithstanding the
above-mentioned limitations, concluded that the Group
has the required power over the relevant activities
of these subsidiaries, is exposed to, or has rights to,
the variable returns from its involvement and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over
the subsidiaries.
INCOME TAXES
Uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation
of complex tax regulations, changes in tax laws, and
the amount and timing of future taxable income. Given
the wide range of international business relationships
and the long-term nature and complexity of existing
contractual agreements, differences arising between
the actual results and the assumptions made, or future
changes to such assumptions, could necessitate future
adjustments to tax income and expenses already recorded. The Group establishes provisions for income
taxes, based on reasonable estimates and interpretations of tax regulations by the taxable entity and the
responsible tax authority. Such differences in interpretation may arise for a wide variety of issues depending
on the conditions prevailing in the respective Group’s
domicile.
NOTE D – ACQUISITION OF
SUBSIDIARIES (BUSINESS
COMBINATION)
From its creation on September 28, 2015, the Group
has developed its investment portfolio with the acquisition on February 23, 2016 (effective January 1, 2016)
of the 100% equity shares of the Ariston Opportunity
Fund Ltd (Bahamas), and the establishment of 11 US
limited liability companies since December 2015 that
invest in multifamily residential real estate investment
properties in the USA. The chart of Varia’s investments
portfolio at December 31, 2016 is structured as follows:
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100%
100%
100%
100%
100%
100%

100%
100%

100%
100%

100%
100%

100%
100%

Varia
VariaUS
USProperties
PropertiesAG
AG
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100%
100%

100%
100%

100%
100%

100%
100%

100%
100%
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Holding
Holding

Ariston
Ariston
Opportunity
Opportunity
Fund Ltd
Fund Ltd

Varia US
Varia LLC
US
Brent
Brent LLC

PC
PC
Aspen
Aspen
Ridge
Ridge
LLC
LLC
95%
95%

PC
PC
Brentwood
Brentwood
LLC
LLC

PC
PC
Highland
Highland
LLC
LLC

95%
95%

95%
95%

92.98%
92.98%
PC
PCPark
Mesa
Mesa
Park
LLC
LLC
(Sundance
(Sundance
Pointe)
Pointe)

95%
95%

88.86%
88.86%

PC
PCNest
Eagles
Eagles
Nest
LLC
LLC

PC
PC
Northgate
Northgate
LLC
LLC

PC
PC
Norman
Norman
Cottages
Cottages
LLC
LLC
95%
95%

PC
PC
Parkview
Parkview
LLC
LLC

PC
PC
Reflections
Reflections
LLC
LLC

PC
PC
Stonegate
Stonegate
LLC
LLC

95%
95%

95%
95%

95%
95%

95%
95%
PC
PC
Shawnee
Shawnee
Station
Station
LLC
LLC

81.61%
81.61%
PC
PC
Sunset
Sunset
Palms
Palms
LLC
LLC

95%
95%
PC
PC
Towne
Towne
Square
Square
LLC
LLC

PC
PC
Topeka
Topeka
Cottages
Cottages
LLC
LLC
93.33%
93.33%

95%
95%
95%
95%
PC
PC
PC
Washington
PC
Woodbridge
Washington
Heights
Woodbridge
LLC
Heights
LLC
LLC
LLC

PC
PC
Tuscany
Tuscany
Bay
Bay
LLC
LLC
95%
95%

PC
PC
Willows
Willows
LLC
LLC

PC
PC
Woodlands
Woodlands
LLC
LLC

95%
95%

91.17%
91.17%

95%
95%

93.69%
93.69%
PC
PC
Summerhill
Summerhill
LLC
LLC
(Sundance
(Sundance
Pointe)
Pointe)

PC
PC
Wyndam
Wyndam
LLC
LLC

PC Brent
PC
Brent
Village
Village
LLC
LLC
95%
95%

Varia US
Varia
US
Daytona
Daytona
LLC
LLC

Varia US
Varia US
Jacksonville
Jacksonville
LLC
LLC

Varia US
Varia
US
Orlando
Orlando
LLC
LLC

Varia US
Varia US
Pensacola
Pensacola
LLC
LLC

Varia US
Varia US
Tallahassee
Tallahassee
LLC
LLC

Varia US
Varia
US
Tulsa
Tulsa
LLC
LLC

Varia US
Varia
US
Dallas
Dallas
LLC
LLC

Varia US
Varia US
Columbia
Columbia
LLC
LLC

Varia US
Varia
US
PNW
PNW
LLC
LLC

Varia US
Varia
US
Midwest
Midwest
LLC
LLC

PC
PC
Applewood
Applewood
LLC
LLC

PC
PC
Countryside
Countryside
LLC
LLC

PC
NovaPC
Wood
Nova
Wood
LLC
LLC

95%
95%
PC
King PC
Crossing
King LLC
Crossing
LLC

95%
95%
PC
PCPointe
Pelican
Pelican
Pointe
LLC
LLC

95%
95%
PC
PC
Stonewood
Stonewood
LLC
LLC

95%
95%
PC
PC
Branchwood
Branchwood
LLC
LLC

95%
95%
PC
PC
Wingwood
Wingwood
LLC
LLC

95%
95%
PC
SkyPC
Pines
SkyLLC
Pines
LLC

95%
95%
PC
PC
Broadview
Broadview
Oaks
Oaks
LLC
LLC
95%
95%
PC
PC
Parkway
Parkway
Square
Square
LLC
LLC
95%
95%
PC
PC
Woodland
Woodland
Manor
Manor
LLC
LLC
95%
95%
PC
PC on
The Ridge
The
Ridge
on
Spring
Valley
Spring
Valley
LLC
LLC
100%
100%
PC
PC Lake
Crowne
Crowne
LLCLake
LLC

95%
95%

95%
95%

100%
100%
PC
PinePC
Ridge
Pine
Ridge
Bremerton
Bremerton
LLC
LLC
100%
100%
PC
PC
Maryland
Maryland
Park
Park
LLC
LLC
100%
100%

Above
figures relatePropCo
to percentage of interests
Blocker
Blocker
PropCo
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PC
PCGlen
Nova
Nova
Glen
LLC
LLC
95%
95%

PC
OakPC
Shade
OakLLC
Shade
LLC
95%
95%

PC
PC
Volusia
Volusia
Crossing
Crossing
LLC
LLC
95%
95%

PC
TallyPC
Square
TallyLLC
Square
LLC
95%
95%

PC
PC
Wood
Hollow
Wood
Hollow
LLC
LLC
100%
100%

PC
PC
Devonshire
Devonshire
LLC
LLC
100%
100%

PC
PC
Devonshire
Devonshire
Place
Place
LLC
LLC
100%
100%

PC
PC
Devonshire
Devonshire
Gardens
Gardens
LLC
LLC
100%
100%

Fund
Fund
Blocker
Blocker
PropCo
PropCo
Entities formed but
Entities
formed
with
no asset
at but
year end
with no asset at year end
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The business model of Varia is to fully own its direct
holding investments by creating blockers for the purpose of acquiring multifamily properties in different
regions in the US, which themselves own the majority
(usually 95% of interests and 71.25% of voting rights) of
the outstanding equity of their investments in the real
estate partnerships. Non-controlling interest are also
entitled to a promotional fee under specific circumstances (see Note N).
Varia US Dallas LLC (Dallas), Varia US Columbia LLC
(Columbia), Varia US PNW LLC (PNW), Varia US
Midwest LLC (Midwest), and their subsidiaries are all
owned 100% by Varia. Dallas was formed to facilitate
the acquisition of investment property under IAS 40 of
USD 28,473,063 (see Note I) as of December 29, 2016
and is included in these consolidated financial state-

ments of the Group. Columbia, PNW, Midwest and
their subsidiaries were formed in 2016 to facilitate future acquisitions of investment properties commencing
in 2017 (see Note R) and were inactive for the period
ended December 31, 2016.
In the period, the Group acquired a number of businesses operating investment properties in different regions
in the US. While the Ariston Opportunity Fund was
acquired in one transaction, the remaining businesses
were acquired in four separate transactions. The information for these five transactions has been aggregated
based on the blockers established by the Group to hold
the respective businesses, which reflect property held
in different regions of the US. The following table summarizes the recognized amounts of acquired assets and
liabilities assumed at the time of acquisition:
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Acquisition
date
Cash
Investment property
Goodwill

Varia US
Jacksonville
LLC

Varia US
Daytona
LLC

Ariston
Opportunity
Fund

Varia US
Brent
LLC

January 1,
2016

August 1,
2016

Varia US
Pensacola
LLC

Varia US
Orlando
LLC

December 14, December 14, December 14, December 14,
2015
2015
2015
2015

Varia US
Tallahassee
LLC

Varia US
Tulsa
LLC

April 26,
2016

April 1,
2016

Total

7,528,876

567,972

1,031,516

201,789

541,237

187,359

746,367

502,239

11,307,355

160,179,122

7,800,000

38,095,000

14,890,000

15,550,000

4,050,000

40,800,000

16,800,000

298,164,122

1,936,484

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

1,936,484

–

–

(715,000)

(990,000)

(680,000)

(1,200,000)

(50,000)

(550,000)

(4,185,000)

1,012,545

67,228

–

–

–

–

1,318

–

1,081,091

Prepaid expense

652,519

43,167

69,220

16,191

23,936

5,932

(16,020)

455

795,400

Income tax receivable

242,495

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

242,495

1,943,851

482,923

329,442

560,600

190,303

30,316

410,192

124,275

4,071,902

(106,273,085)

(5,560,986)

(26,169,294)

(9,462,702)

(10,196,459)

(2,028,084)

(30,249,234)

Bargain on purchase
of subsidiary
Rent and other
receivables

Escrow accounts
Interest bearing loans
and borrowings

(12,100,301) (202,040,145)

Deferred tax liability

(8,461,924)

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

(8,461,924)

Trade and other
payables

(3,121,328)

(28,907)

(186,760)

(90,020)

(86,387)

(20,219)

(246,593)

(97,658)

(3,877,872)

Fair value of acquired
interest in net assets

55,639,555

3,371,397

12,454,124

5,125,858

5,342,630

1,025,304

11,396,030

4,679,010

99,033,908

Non-controlling
interests

(8,602,393)

(178,000)

(690,811)

(302,085)

(296,817)

(58,042)

(633,000)

(261,579)

(11,022,727)

(7,528,876)

(567,972)

(1,301,516)

(201,789)

(541,237)

(187,359)

(746,367)

(502,239)

(11,307,355)

39,508,286

2,625,425

10,731,797

4,621,984

4,504,576

779,903

10,016,663

3,915,192

76,703,826

Less cash and cash
equivalents of
subsidiary acquired
Net outflow of cash
and cash equivalents
on acquisition
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Acquisition costs in the amount of USD 5.9 million have
been recognized directly in the statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income.
The valuation of the investment properties at the acquisition date was performed by an independent professional appraiser with experience of the relevant market.
The fair value of cash and cash equivalents, rent and
other receivables, prepaid expenses, escrow account
and trade and other payables was considered to equal
the carrying value. The fair value of interest bearing
loans and borrowings was calculated based on discounted cash flow method. Amounts previously reported as
of June 30, 2016 were provisional amounts and have
been adjusted to reflect final amounts as of December
31, 2016.
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Badwill of USD 4,185,000 was recognized on those acquisitions where the valuation of the independent professional appraiser resulted in a higher fair value than
what was negotiated between both parties at the time
of sale. The badwill is predominantly due to the fact that
a group of businesses was acquired in a single business
combination, which resulted in a more favorable purchase price for the Group.
The direct subsidiaries hold investment in partnerships. Their ownership interest amounts to 81.6% to
95%, therefore non-controlling interest in the underlying partnerships exists. The non-controlling interest is
mainly held by Peak Capital Partners.
Profit for the period of each subsidiary is allocated to
the holders of the non-controlling interests based on
their ownership interest in the subsidiaries, but also includes a disproportionate allocation of net gain from fair
value adjustment on investment property due to promotional fees paid to Peak Capital Partners (see Note
N) upon the sale of investment property. However,
upon acquisition, non-controlling interest is recognized
at the holders’ proportionate interest in the recognized
amount of the identifiable net assets of the acquiree.
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The Group would incur undue cost and effort to provide the Group revenue and profit if the acquisition
of all the subsidiaries had occurred on September 28,
2015 (date of foundation of Varia) with all variables held
constant, therefore the Group abstains from disclosing
proformas.
NOTE E – CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS / ESCROW ACCOUNTS
At December 31, 2016, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in bank accounts in Swiss francs and USD,
of which USD 88,109,223 is at the full disposal of the
Group and USD 8,190,794 is at the property company
level. Cash at banks totaled USD 96,300,017 at December 31, 2016.
Escrow accounts consist of cash accounts held by third
party lenders in connection with interest bearing loans
and borrowings that are restricted for the Group and
used to pay real estate taxes and property insurance on
behalf of the Company’s operating subsidiaries, and to
hold reserves for expected maintenance and property
improvements. Any excess amounts held are returned
to the Company upon either sale of the investment
property or satisfaction of the related loan.
NOTE F – RENT AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES
At December 31, 2016, rent and other receivables of
USD 631,716 generally relates to amounts owed to the
Group’s operating subsidiaries from lessees under lease
agreements associated with its investment properties.
NOTE G – INTEREST BEARING LOANS
AND BORROWINGS
The Company’s subsidiaries maintain mortgages against
investment property, which are collateralized by the investment property, with various financial institutions as
of December 31, 2016, net of debt issuance costs of
USD 1,062,995, as follows:
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Property

Rate
in %

Maturity
Date

Original
Balance

Balance as of
December
31, 2016

Debt
Issuance
Loan Costs

Carrying
Amount
December 31,
2016

Altitude on 5th (Northgate)

4.00%

1/1/2025

27,680,000

27,680,000

–

27,680,000

Aspen Ridge

8.23%

3/1/2042

4,250,000

3,859,373

–

3,859,373

Expressed in US Dollars

Brentwood Oaks

4.21%

3/1/2026

3,360,000

3,360,000

66,915

3,293,085

Cottages of Norman

4.21%

3/1/2026

3,305,000

3,305,000

66,378

3,238,622

Cottages of Topeka

4.11%

3/1/2026

2,880,000

2,880,000

75,885

2,804,115

Eagles Nest

N/A

N/A

No loan

No loan

No loan

No loan

Highland Vista

4.16%

3/1/2021

3,620,000

3,450,049

–

3,450,049

Parkview

4.60%

1/1/2021

1,360,000

1,296,961

–

1,296,961

Reflections Senior

4.66%

4/1/2024

2,640,000

2,530,519

–

2,530,519

Shawnee Station

3.27%

7/1/2052

13,849,800

13,051,652

–

13,051,652

South Hills

4.39%

11/1/2025

3,280,000

3,280,000

39,976

3,240,024

Stonegate Village

4.21%

3/1/2026

2,344,000

2,344,000

–

2,344,000

Sundance Pointe

3.32%

11/1/2025

9,500,000

9,500,000

–

9,500,000

Towne Square

4.28%

12/1/2024

7,992,000

7,992,000

–

7,992,000

Tuscany Bay

4.28%

5/1/2021

4,320,000

4,134,302

–

4,134,302

Washington Heights Senior

4.60%

1/1/2021

1,360,000

1,296,961

–

1,296,961

Willows of Cumming

4.52%

7/1/2024

8,332,000

8,280,090

–

8,280,090

Woodbridge Senior

4.66%

4/1/2024

1,440,000

1,380,283

–

1,380,283

Woodlands

4.23%

9/1/2025

6,438,000

6,438,000

–

6,438,000

Wyndam Place Senior

4.60%

1/1/2021

1,520,000

1,449,545

–

1,449,545

Brent Village

3.48%

8/1/2047

5,936,800

5,530,481

2,968

5,527,513

Wood Hollow

N/A

N/A

No loan

No loan

No loan

No loan

Applewood

4.51%

1/1/2026

4,522,000

4,522,000

36,580

4,485,420

Countryside

4.51%

1/1/2026

6,580,000

6,580,000

47,501

6,532,499

Nova Glen

4.51%

1/1/2026

4,550,000

4,550,000

36,551

4,513,449

Novawood

4.51%

1/1/2026

3,107,000

3,107,000

25,519

3,081,481

Oak Shade

4.51%

1/1/2026

2,400,000

2,400,000

24,871

2,375,129

Volusia Crossing

4.51%

1/1/2026

5,250,000

5,250,000

40,296

5,209,704

Pelican Pointe

4.51%

1/1/2026

3,648,000

3,648,000

32,573

3,615,427

Stonewood

4.51%

1/1/2026

3,850,000

3,850,000

32,717

3,817,283

Villas at King's Crossing

4.51%

1/1/2026

2,064,000

2,064,000

23,252

2,040,748

Branchwood

4.51%

1/1/2026

5,075,000

5,075,000

39,093

5,035,907

Sky Pines

4.51%

1/1/2026

1,829,000

1,829,000

22,147

1,806,853

Wingwood

4.51%

1/1/2026

3,395,000

3,395,000

30,194

3,364,806

Broadview Oaks

2.96%

1/1/2026

2,054,000

2,054,000

23,108

2,030,892

Parkway Square

3.29%

5/1/2026

16,312,500

16,312,500

153,174

16,159,326

Tally Square

3.29%

6/1/2026

14,250,000

14,250,000

136,598

14,113,402

Woodland Manor

4.09%

4/1/2026

12,207,000

12,207,000

106,699

12,100,301

206,501,100

204,132,716

1,062,995

203,069,721
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NOTE H – TRADE AND OTHER
PAYABLES
Trade and other payables consist of the following at
December 31, 2016:

Future scheduled principal payments based upon contractual amounts owed under the term notes, excluding
any additional payments that may be required, consist of
the following as of December 31, 2016:
Expressed in
US Dollars

12 months ending December 31,
2017

Expressed in
US Dollars

1,595,838

Accounts payable

2018

2,161,986

Accrued interest

726,431

2019

2,489,468

Accrued real estate and other taxes

574,498

2020

2,971,417

Accrued expenses

1,246,397

2021

14,134,933

Security deposits

1,484,660

Thereafter

2,329,053

180,779,074

Income taxes payable

204,132,716

Other accrued expenses

115,824
361,682
6,838,545
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NOTE I – INVESTMENT PROPERTY
Varia’s subsidiaries have invested their funds, capital and loans funded by Varia, in various real estate over the
accounting period. The investment properties table is the following at December 31, 2016:
Properties Held

City

Expressed in US Dollars

Property
Acquired
through
Business
Combination

Property
Acquired
through
purchase of
Investment
Property

Capital
Improvements

Net Gain
Sale of
(Loss) From Investment
Fair Value
Property
Adjustment
on Investment
Property

Fair Value of
Investment
Property at
December
31, 2016

The Arbors

Grinnel

1,348,429

–

–

201,571

(1,550,000)

–

Aspen Ridge

Albuquerque

7,198,378

–

13,989

(112,367)

–

7,100,000

Brentwood Oaks

Fredericksburg

4,542,075

–

37,766

920,159

–

5,500,000

Cottages of Norman

Norman

4,592,768

–

–

207,232

–

4,800,000

Cottages of Topeka

Topeka

3,122,677

–

8,839

468,484

–

3,600,000

Eagles Nest

Rifle

1,906,049

–

–

(386,049)

–

1,520,000

Highland Vista

Creedmoor

5,272,052

–

84,168

843,780

–

6,200,000

Lynnwood

Marion

1,662,724

–

–

212,276

(1,875,000)

–

Sundance Pointe

Jacksonville

12,673,201

–

–

2,926,799

–

15,600,000

Altitude

Salt Lake City

38,526,531

–

94,131

379,338

–

39,000,000

Parkview

Caldwell

2,990,875

–

34,495

674,630

–

3,700,000

Pineview

Waterloo

2,139,236

–

–

235,764

(2,375,000)

–

Reflections Senior

Fort Collins

4,349,443

–

–

400,557

–

4,750,000

Shawnee Station

Shawnee

18,381,211

–

43,814

(25,025)

–

18,400,000

Stonegate Village

Pueblo West

2,727,273

–

8,199

734,528

–

3,470,000

South Hills

Bellevue

4,379,858

–

–

220,142

–

4,600,000

Towne Square

Boise

10,300,778

–

–

529,222

–

10,830,000

Tuscany Bay

Lawrenceburg

5,170,666

–

–

729,334

–

5,900,000
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Properties Held

City

Expressed in US Dollars

Washington Heights

Kansas City

Willows of Cumming

Cumming

Property
Acquired
through
Business
Combination

Property
Acquired
through
purchase of
Investment
Property

Capital
Net Gain
Sale of
Improve- (Loss) From Investment
ments
Fair Value
Property
Adjustment
on Investment
Property

Fair Value of
Investment
Property at
December
31, 2016

2,565,056

–

–

434,944

–

3,000,000

12,064,887

–

–

135,113

–

12,200,000

Woodbridge Senior

Fort Collins

2,636,026

–

–

203,974

–

2,840,000

Woodlands

Jackson

8,313,620

–

–

186,380

–

8,500,000

Wyndam Place

Shawnee

3,315,309

–

12,100

(27,409)

–

3,300,000

Brent Village

Bellevue

7,800,000

–

–

350,000

–

8,150,000

Wood Hollow

Euless

–

28,473,063

–

1,026,937

–

29,500,000

Applewood

Deland

6,460,000

–

78,141

661,859

–

7,200,000

Countryside

Daytona Beach

9,400,000

–

39,903

760,097

–

10,200,000

Nova Glen

Daytona Beach

6,500,000

–

76,667

1,123,333

–

7,700,000

Novawood II

Daytona Beach

4,780,000

–

61,221

958,779

–

5,800,000

Oak Shade

Orange City

3,455,000

–

44,792

500,208

–

4,000,000

Volusia Crossing

Daytona Beach

7,500,000

–

49,680

150,320

–

7,700,000

Villas at Kings Crossing

Jacksonville

3,890,000

–

41,713

968,287

–

4,900,000

Pelican Pointe I & II

Jacksonville

5,500,000

–

59,490

1,140,510

–

6,700,000

Stonewood

Jacksonville

5,500,000

–

–

160,000

–

5,660,000

Branchwood

Winter Park

7,250,000

–

70,049

399,951

–

7,720,000

Sky Pines I & II

Orlando

3,450,000

–

101,584

1,298,416

–

4,850,000

Wingwood

Orlando

4,850,000

–

54,200

205,800

–

5,110,000

Broadview Oaks

Pensacola

4,050,000

–

–

150,000

–

4,200,000

Parkway Square

Tallahassee

21,800,000

–

100,718

599,282

–

22,500,000

Tally Square

Tallahassee

19,000,000

–

89,945

910,055

–

20,000,000

Woodland Manor

Tulsa

16,800,000

–

175,718

(225,718)

–

16,750,000

298,164,122 28,473,063

1,381,322

21,231,493

Investment properties in the amount of USD 5.8 million
were sold during the period ended December 31, 2016.
Interest bearing liabilities and borrowings are secured by investment properties in the amount of
USD 312,430,000. The future minimum lease payments
under non-cancellable leases for the period not later
than one year amount to USD 25.3 million. The general
business terms for leases are for a maximum period of
one year.

(5,800,000) 343,450,000
Expressed in
US Dollars

Asset value at September 28, 2015
Property acquired through business
combination
Property acquired through purchase of
investment property
Capital improvements

–
298,164,122
28,473,063
1,381,322

Net gain from fair value adjustment on
investment property
Sale of investment property

21,231,493
(5,800,000)
343,450,000

The valuation of investment properties was carried
out by Colliers International Valuation & Advisory
Services (see Note O).
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NOTE J – SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Shareholders’ equity comprises the following at
December 31, 2016:

Expressed in
US Dollars

Issued share capital

6,180,241

Share premium

193,357,404
199,537,645

The share capital at December 31, 2016 is divided in
6,194,148 ordinary registered shares of a par value
of CHF 1.00 each. All the shares are fully paid as of
December 31, 2016.
Share
number

Share
capital

Share
premium

100,000

104,637

–

6,094,148 6,075,604

193,357,404

Balance at
6,194,148 6,180,241
December 31, 2016

193,357,404

Expressed in US Dollars
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Share capital issued
at September 28,
2015 (date of
incorporation)
Ordinary share
capital increases

The Company proceeded to three capital increases
during the accounting period raising net proceeds in
capital and premium of respectively USD 37,795,247
on November 11, 2015, USD 59,765,039 on February 1,
2016 and USD 101,872,722 on December 7, 2016.
For the first two capital increases the related equity
transaction costs amounting to USD 3,171,635 have
been deducted from the share premium. They mainly
included federal stamp duty taxes for USD 967,406 and
the asset manager placement fees of USD 2,183,155.
For the IPO share capital increases on December
7, 2016, a fee of CHF 1.70 was included in the offer
price of CHF 35 per share – resulting in a total reimbursement of equity issuance costs of USD 5,214,487
to cover the costs entailed by the equity transaction of
USD 5,351,102. The resulting net loss of CHF 156,114
has been charged to profit and loss account.
Share premiums are considered under Swiss law as reserves from capital contributions.

MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS
The following table indicates Varia’s major shareholders holding shares and voting rights of 3% and more as of
December 31, 2016 (number of shares according to the public disclosures of shareholdings at SIX Swiss Exchange
voting rights) and in aggregate the other shareholders:
Shareholders

Investor type

Number of shares

Participation in %

Varia SPC

Fund

3,541,194

57.2

DREYFUS SOEHNE

Bank

497,705

8.00

Others shareholders with a participation
below 3% individually

Banks, funds, pension funds,
foundation and companies

2,155,249

34.8

6,194,148

100.00

The fund Varia SPC is representing approximately 35
different investors who are directly or indirectly holders
of fund’s units.
CAPITAL MANAGEMENT
The main purpose of Varia is to acquire, hold and sell
properties directly and/or indirectly in the USA. The
Company may establish branch offices and subsidiaries
in Switzerland and abroad. Varia has the tax status of
a holding company. Varia presents itself as an investor whose objective is to develop, produce or market
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products with its investees and, therefore, the entity
will earn returns from the development, production or
marketing activity as well as from its investments, (i.e.
Varia will earn returns from improving in various ways)
as well as managing the properties.
The Group’s policy is to maintain a strong equity base
so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to sustain future development of the business. Management monitors the return on equity as
well as the level of dividends to ordinary shareholders.
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The Board of Directors seeks to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with higher
levels of borrowings and the advantages and security afforded by a sound equity position.
USD

EARNINGS PER SHARE
Earnings (losses) per share attributable to equity holders for the period
·P
 rofit (loss) per share attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company from continuing

operations – basic
(calculated on the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding, see below)
·P
 rofit (loss) per share attributable to the ordinary equity holders of the Company from continuing
operations – fully diluted
(calculated on the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding, see below)
Net profit (loss) for the period attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company

3.37
3.37
8,874,269

Calculation of weighted average number of shares
· Shares issues at the establishment of the Company

100,000
978,924
1,390,173
161,586
2,630,684
2,630,684

· Effect of capital increase on 11 November 2015
· Effect of capital increase on 1 February 2016
· Effect of capital increase on 7 December 2016

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding – basic for the period
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding – fully diluted for the period

Expressed in US Dollars

Equity attributable to Varia US
Properties AG Shareholders
Number of shares

208,411,914
6,194,148

NAV per share

33.65

NOTE K – REAL ESTATE OPERATING
EXPENSES AND OTHER EXPENSES
Real estate operating expenses and other expenses
consist of the following for the period from September
28, 2015 (inception) through December 31, 2016:

Utility expenses
Property and other taxes
Property insurance
Advertising expenses

3,458,958
2,989,896
1,066,691
423,480

Total real estate operating expenses

7,939,025

Legal and accounting fees
Contract services

1,886,507
1,302,080

Professional fees

808,731

Asset management fees
Commissions
General and administrative

1,226,903
630,449
1,431,230

Total other expenses

7,285,900

See next page
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NOTE L – FINANCE COSTS
The finance costs of the period amounting to
USD 8,645,081 include mainly interest paid and accrued on interest bearing loans and borrowings of
approximately USD 8.4 million and the foreign currency exchange net loss of USD 256,605 (losses of
USD 1,525,105 less gains of USD 1,268,500) resulting
from the negative evolution of the exchange rate between the CHF and the USD currency rates on foreign
currency bank accounts, which is included in administrative expenses.
NOTE M – INCOME TAXES
Expressed in
US Dollars

Provision for income tax expense
Deferred US federal and state income tax

86

Current Swiss federal income tax

5,684,284
115,913
5,800,197

CURRENT TAXES
Provision for tax payable on net income earned by Varia
is calculated and recorded based on the applicable tax

rate in Switzerland and for Varia subsidiaries in the
US based on the applicable federal and state tax rates
(approximately 38%). For Swiss federal tax purposes, income tax at an effective tax rate of 7.8% is levied.
The tax on the Group’s profit before tax differs from
the theoretical amount that would arise using weighted
average tax rate on the applicable profit of the consolidated companies as follows:
Expressed in
US Dollars

Profit before tax
Less profit attributable to NCI

21,976,648
(7,302,182)

Profit attributable to equity holders of the
parent before provision for income tax

14,674,466

Income tax using the Group’s weighted average income tax rate of 38%
Effect of different tax rate
Effect of distributions to non-controlling
interests
Non-deductible expense
Income tax expense

5,576,297
(448,791)
659,359
13,332
5,800,197

DEFERRED TAXES
Deferred income taxes reflect the effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for tax purposes. Deferred income tax expense for
the period from September 28, 2015 (inception) through December 31, 2016 was USD 5,684,284. The components
of deferred tax assets (liabilities) at December 31, 2016 are as follows:

Expressed in US Dollars

Net operating loss carryforward
Investment property
Misc. other
Tax assets (liabilities) before set-off

Acquired
Through
Business
Combination

Recognized In
Profit
Or Loss

Deferred
Tax Assets

Deferred Tax
Liabilities

5,111,554

6,208,079

11,319,633

11,319,633

–

(13,666,421)

(12,335,792)

(26,002,213)

–

(26,002,213)

92,943

443,429

536,372

536,372

–

(8,461,924)

(5,684,284)

(14,146,208)

11,856,005

(26,002,213)

(11,319,633)

11,319,633

536,372

(14,682,580)

Set-off of tax
Net assets (liabilities)

In connection with the acquisition of subsidiaries acquired through business combinations (see Note D), the
Group assumed deferred tax liabilities of approximately
USD 8.5 million, as outlined above.
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Total

In assessing the deferred tax assets, the Group’s management considers whether it is more likely than not
that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will
not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred
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tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future
taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences become deductible. Management
considers the scheduled reversal of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, and tax planning
strategies in making this assessment.
No deferred taxes have been recognized for the tax
effect of approximately USD 3.3 million on unremitted earnings of approximately USD 8.5 million for the
Company’s subsidiaries as the remittance is within the
full control of the Group.
As of December 31, 2016, the Group has approximately
USD 29.8 million of federal and state net operating loss
carryforwards which are recognized as deferred tax asset. The utilization is limited to future taxable earnings
of the Company. The carryforwards begin to expire in
2033.
NOTE N – RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS
Related parties are individuals and companies where
the individual or company has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or to exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial
and operating decisions. Related parties include:
Board of Directors of Varia US Properties AG
Stoneweg SA, Geneva (Switzerland)
Peak Capital Partners (USA)
TRANSACTIONS WITH STONEWEG SA
Varia US Properties AG entered into an Asset Management Agreement with Stoneweg SA (Stoneweg) to
manage the investments and the administration activities of the Company.
Per agreement, Stoneweg and its branches are entitled
to an acquisition fee of 1% maximum of the purchase
price, currently 0.5%; an asset management fee of 1% of
the equity invested; and a disposal fee of 1% maximum
of the sale price, currently 0.5%. By contract, the disposal fee could be replaced by a promote fee.
During the accounting period ended December 31,
2016, Stoneweg SA has charged the Company approximately USD 2 million in placement and capital increase
fees that have been accounted for as transaction costs
against the share premium proceeds.

Stoneweg remuneration fees for the other services provided to Varia subsidiaries and underlying investments
during the reporting period were as follows:
Asset management fees charged to Varia direct
subsidiaries during the accounting period up to
December 31, 2016 amounted to USD 848,279;
Transaction fees invoiced for the period amounted
to USD 841,500; and
Ariston Opportunity Fund restructuring fees of
USD 789,950.
Outstanding amounts due to Stoneweg as of December
31, 2016 represent USD 222,301.
TRANSACTIONS WITH PEAK
CAPITAL PARTNERS
Per agreement, Peak is entitled during the accounting
period to an acquisition fee of 2% maximum of the purchase price, a financing fee of 1% of the nominal amount
of the interest bearing liability (the includes third party
origination fees), and property and asset management
fees of 5% of the gross income of the investment properties, as well as promotional fees of 25% of the net fair
value gains on investment properties upon disposal of
the entity, with a 10% internal rate of return hurdle on
initial capital contributions of Preferred A unit holders
of the real estate partnership, and subject to a catchup
clause.
Peak remuneration fees for the services provided to
Varia subsidiaries investments during the reporting period were the following:
Acquisition fees of USD 2,310,875;
Ariston Opportunity Fund restructuring fees of
USD 789,950;
Financing fees during the accounting period up to
December 31, 2016 amounted to USD 271,343;
Property management fees for the period amounted
to USD 1,389,270;
Asset management fees for the period amounted to
USD 625,139;
Software setup expenses for the period amounted
to USD 153,836; and
Promotional fees of USD 507,711.
Outstanding amount due to Peak as of December 31,
2016 represent USD 0.
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Additionally, Peak holds most of the non-controlling
interest in real estate subsidiaries. This shareholding
additionally entitles Peak Capital Partners to returns
in excess of their direct shareholding, in the form of a
promotional fee as described above.
KEY MANAGEMENT COMPENSATION
The Board of Directors is considered as key management. In the period under consideration, expense in
the amount of CHF 62,500 was incurred, of which CHF
20,000 was paid to the Board of Directors as compensation as of December 31, 2016. Please refer to the
compensation report on page 61.
NOTE O – FINANCIAL RISK
MANAGEMENT
88

RISK MANAGEMENT STRATEGY
The investment objective of the Group is to realize
long-term capital appreciation, investment income or
both in USD by assembling a portfolio of investment
property in the US multifamily real estate market.
The investments are diversified among the geographical states in the US through its investments entities
located in the US.
Varia’s activities expose the Group to a variety of financial risks, namely market risk (including interest rate
risk, currency risk and other price risks), liquidity risk
and credit risk. The Group observes and manages these
risks. The risks could result ultimately in a reduction of
the Group’s net assets.
Varia seeks to minimize these risks and adverse effects
by considering potential impacts from the financial and
the US real estate markets. The Group manages these
risks, where necessary, via collaboration with service
partners that are market leaders in their respective area
of expertise. Additionally, the Group has internal guidelines and policies in place to ensure that transactions are
effected in a consistent and diligent manner.
INTEREST RATE RISK
Varia property companies are subject to cash flow
interest rate risk due to fluctuations in the US real estate
market interest rates. Changes in interest rates affect
mainly the interest bearing liabilities and borrowings.
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At December 31, 2016, Varia has entered into interest
bearing liabilities and borrowing contracts with several
lenders, mainly the three US governmental agencies,
amounting to USD 204.1 million and periodic reimbursements until their principal maturity dates spread
out between 2021 and 2052. Only USD 42.1 million of
these mortgages are subject to variable interest rates.
Accordingly, an increase or decrease of these variable
rates of 1% would affect in aggregate the net total annual profit or loss of the real estate companies by only
USD 421,000, with a corresponding adjustment to the
equity of the group by the same amount.
CURRENCY RISK
The net asset value per share is calculated in USD,
the functional and presentation currency of the Group.
The Group’s investments are mainly denominated in
USD.
Varia is exposed to a certain degree of currency risk towards the CHF, which can adversely affect performance
in that currency which is the currency of presentation
of Varia statutory financial statements. Fluctuations of
the USD currency exchange rate with the CHF affect
the net result and the equity in CHF of the Group in
its statutory financial statements and, ultimately, the
profits available for distribution of dividends. Over the
period ended December 31, 2016, the Group did not
enter into currency contracts to mitigate this currency
risk. The Group is assessing the risk and may enter into
such currency contracts in the future, when needed.
The Group’s currency positions at December 31, 2016
are predominately in USD as presented on the statement of financial position except for those in CHF as
follows:
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Rent and other receivables

USD 4,378,805
149,888

Total assets

4,528,693

Liabilities
Trade and other payables

2,244,280

Net assets CHF

USD 2,284,413
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A reasonably possible 5% strengthening (weakening) of
the CHF against the USD at December 31, 2016 would
not have a material effect on the measurement of financial instruments denominated in CHF.
OTHER PRICE RISKS
Other price risks (i.e. changes in market prices other
than from interest rate risks or currency risk) may affect the value of the investment property held by Varia’s
subsidiaries.
The Group is exposed to price risk other than in respect of financial instruments, mainly property price risk
but also property rentals risk.
Varia’s asset manager monitors on a monthly basis the
performance of the real estate companies by analyzing regular reports and through direct contact with its
real estate partner and service providers in the USA.
Appraisal of the properties by independent experts
take place every 6 months to determine ultimately the
fair value of the subsidiaries as described in Note I. The
Board of Directors reviews and subsequently approves
the valuations.
The Company attempts to minimize the property price
risk incurred at the level of its investments through effective due diligence prior to investing in real estate
properties, and monitors on a permanent basis their
activities and performances directly with its Asset manager or indirectly with its services partners in the USA.
The Company mitigates these risks also by investing
in a diversified real estate portfolio, spreading its investments through different regions, size of assets, and
typology of multifamily asset (senior housing, free rent,
LIHTC rents).

Expressed in US Dollars

Trade and other payables, less accrued real estate
and other taxes
Interest bearing loans and borrowings

One of the main risks for Varia is ultimately the value
of the properties held in the portfolio of the property
companies. The value of these properties is dependent
on a multitude of factors. These factors are mainly the
balance between supply and demand on the US multifamily real estate market, financing conditions, level of
rents, and vacancies.
The Group values its properties every six months by
external independent valuations to determine the potential proceeds to be received in the case of selling all
the portfolio and the unrealized profit or loss impacting
the property companies’ net assets values.
The independent market value of the properties as of
December 31, 2016 was USD 343.5 million.
LIQUIDITY RISK
Due to the nature of the real estate equity companies
in which the Group invests, through its investments, immediate and full investment of assets is not always possible. Additional investments by Varia are triggered by the
availability of cash resulting mainly from new share capital increases, cash resulting from loan interest payments
and paid dividends from its subsidiaries, or subsidiaries
loans or capital reimbursements.
Varia pursues a long-term investment strategy with a
mixture of core-plus, value-add, and opportunity assets
in the US multifamily real estate portfolio, with average
holding periods between five to seven years, three to
seven years, and one to five years, respectively, before
the properties are divested. Actual strategy of Varia is
to reinvest the net proceeds resulting from the sales of
either the shares of the underlying investment property
or of properties they own.
The maturity analysis of financial liabilities, actual cash
flows including interest, as of December 31, 2016 is as
follows:

Within
12 months

From
1–4 Years

Later than
5 years

Total

6,688,657

–

–

6,688,657

10,000,343

54,053,926

218,065,044

282,119,313

16,689,000

54,053,926

218,065,044

288,807,970
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CREDIT RISK
The Group enters in credit exposure only to established, creditworthy third parties, so that no collateralization is required. Receivables are monitored
continuously. The Board of Directors monitors credit
risk on a regular basis.
The Company holds the majority of its cash with multiple internationally renowned financial institutions which
have an investment grade rating.
Varia monitors, on a regular basis, the standing of
the financial institutions in which it is entering or has
business directly or indirectly through its subsidiaries
and underlying investments.
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The maximum credit risk exposure for cash and cash
equivalents, rent and other receivables and escrow accounts is the amount recognized on the statement of
financial position. Cash and cash equivalents, rent and
other receivables and the escrow accounts are neither
past due nor impaired.
FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transactions between market participants at the measurement
date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or based on another estimated valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the Group takes into account the characteristics of the
asset or liability if market participants would take those
characteristics into account when pricing the asset or
liability at the measurement date.
In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorized into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to fair value measurements are observable and the significance
of the inputs to fair value measurement in its entirety,
which are described as follows:
Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the
entity can access at the measurement date;
Level 2 inputs, other than quoted prices included in
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or
liability either directly or indirectly; and
Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset
or the liability.
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In certain cases, the inputs used to measure fair value
may fall into different levels of the fair value hierarchy.
In such cases, an investment’s level within the fair value
hierarchy is based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The Company’s
assessment of the significance of a particular input to
the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment, and considers factors specific to the investment.
At December 31, 2016, Varia’s investment properties
are measured at fair value on a recurring basis by the
above fair value hierarchy level as follows:
Expressed in
US Dollars

Investment
property

Level 1 Level 2
–

Level 3

Total

– 343,450,000 343,450,000

There was no transfer between Levels 1 and 2 and
Level 3. See Note I for a reconciliation from the opening
to the ending balance of investment property.
VALUATION METHOD, STANDARDS,
AND PRINCIPLES
The properties are generally valued by using the income capitalization via direct capitalization methodology, which is the most common methodology employed in valuing multifamily apartment communities in
the United States. In addition, the independent valuer
uses comparable sales analysis of recent transactions to
derive market capitalization rates, as well as indicative
sales prices of comparable asset sales. In the preparation of valuation analysis, the independent valuer typically relies on current rent rolls, year-to-date operating statements, historical operating statements (where
available), operating budgets, and capital expenditure
budgets. Based thereon, the independent valuer defines
fair value consistent with the definition of market value
as commonly applied in the United States.
The appraisal at fair value is based on the assumption
that the most probable price which a property should
bring in a competitive and open market under all conditions requisite to a fair sale, the buyer and seller each
acting prudently, knowledgeably, and assuming that the
price is not affected by undue stimulus. Implicit in this
definition is the consummation of a sale as of a specified date and the passing of title from seller to buyer under conditions whereby: (i) buyer and seller are
typically motivated; (ii) both parties are well-informed
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or well-advised, and acting in what they consider their
own best interests; (iii) a reasonable time is allowed for
exposure in the open market; (iv) payment is made in
terms of cash in United States dollars or in terms of
financial arrangements comparable thereto; and (v) the
price represents the normal consideration for the property sold unaffected by special or creative financing or
sales concessions granted by anyone associated with the
sale.
The market value (fair value) makes no allowance for
cost of sale oriented expenses indicative of a net realizable value, nor does it consider any outstanding liens or
delinquent property taxes should they exist.
The independent valuer performs the appraisals in accordance with national and international standards and
guidelines in particular with the International Valuation
Standards (IVS and RICS/Red Book), as well as in accordance with the requirements of IFRS 13. The property
values determined correspond to the market value (Fair
Value) consistent with IFRS Standard according to IFRS
as it relates to fair market value. The definition of fair
value in IFRS is generally consistent with market value,
which are discussed in IVS 300 Valuations for Financial
Reporting.
Level 3 investments consist of the investment in properties. These are by nature unquoted. The fair values of
these entities is derived based on independent appraisals of the underlying investment property.
The valuation was determined using significant unobservable inputs. These inputs include:
Future Rental Cash
Inflows

Estimated Vacancy
Rates

Maintenance Costs
Capitalization Rates

Based on the actual location, type
and quality of the properties and
supported by the terms of any
existing lease, other contracts or
external evidence such as current
market rents for similar properties.
Based on current and expected
future market conditions after
expiry of any current lease.
The vacancy rates applied range
from 0.7%–9.3%.
Including necessary investments to
maintain functionality of the property for its expected useful life.
Based on actual location, size and
quality of the properties and taking
into account market data at the
valuation date. The capitalization
rates range from 5.75%–8.00%.

Fair value increases with lower capitalization rates and
vacancies and with higher market rents and sales prices.
The economic environment can be considered as exerting the greatest influence on input factors, with the
factors outlined above influences to varying degrees by
market developments. Any intensification on pressure on
market rents by negative economic sentiments is usually
accompanied by a rise in property vacancy rates. At the
same time, a lower capitalization rate may prevail in such
market circumstances and to a certain extent, the changes of input factors offset each other.
On the basis of a sensitivity analysis of investment
real estate with fair value as of the balance sheet of
USD 343,450,000, an isolated increase in the capitalization rates by 50 basis points would lead to a decrease
of approximately USD 21.4 million in value while a decrease in the capitalization rate by 50 points would
lead to an increase of approximately USD 29.8 million
as illustrated by the following table in increments of
10 basis points:
Average
capitalization
rate
6.3%

Change in
fair value
in %
8.7

Change in
fair value
in USD
29,836,000

6.4%

7.0

23,985,000

367,375,000

6.5%

5.3

18,314,000

361,704,000

Fair value
in USD
373,226,000

6.6%

3.7

12,817,000

356,207,000

6.7%

2.2

7,483,000

350,873,000

6.8%

–

–

343,450,000

(valuation at
December 31, 2016)

6.9%

– 0.8

(2,718,000)

340,672,000

7.0%

– 2.2

(7,599,000)

335,791,000

7.1%

– 3.6

(12,343,000)

331,047,000

7.2%

– 4.9

(16,954,000)

326,436,000

7.3%

– 6.2

(21,439,000)

321,951,000
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PROPERTY PORTFOLIO AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2016
(TOTAL RENTAL GROSS INCOME BASED ON COLLIERS FIGURES)

92

Property

Address

City

State

Zip
Code

Altitude
Applewood
Aspen Ridge
Branchwood
Brentwood Oaks
Brent Village
Broadview Oaks
Cottages of Norman
Cottages of Topeka
Countryside
Eagle's Nest
Highland Vista
Nova Glen
Novawood II
Oak Shade
Parkview
Parkway Square
Pelican Pointe I & II
Reflections Senior
Shawnee Station
Sky Pine I & II
South Hills
Stonegate Village
Stonewood
Sundance Pointe
Tally Square
Towne Square
Tuscany Bay
Villas at Kings Crossing
Volusia Crossing
Washington Heights
Willows of Cumming
Wingwood
Woodbridge Senior
Woodland Manor
Woodlands
Wood Hollow
Wyndam Place

135 South 500 West
101 East New Hampshire Avenue
820 Louisiana Boulevard SE
7785 Branchwood Lane
604 S. Eagle Street
1409 Buck Drive
6101 College Parkway
2901 Oak Tree Avenue
620 Northwest Lyman Road
1200 Beville Road
1041 West 24th Street
320 Hidden Valley Drive
1000 South Nova Road
1220 South Nova Road
2317 South Volusia Avenue
415 Sunset Court
2855 Apalachee Parkway
1333 Dunn Avenue
321 East Troutman Pkwy
6405 Maurer Road
4990 North Lane
904 Kasper Street
393 East Spaulding Avenue
8300 Old Kings Road
5681 Edenfield Road
1112 S Magnolia Drive
244 North Allumbaugh Street
100 River Road
7241 Old Kings Road South
395 Bill France Boulevard
7701 Armstrong Avenue
225 Nancy Lane
5749 St Charles Prado
1508 West Elizabeth Street
8641 East 61st Street
2119 Woodland Way
3875 Post Oak Boulevard
15510 West 63rd Street

Salt Lake City
Deland
Albuquerque
Winter Park
Fredericksburg
Bellevue
Pensacola
Norman
Topeka
Daytona Beach
Rifle
Creedmoor
Daytona Beach
Daytona Beach
Orange City
Caldwell
Tallahassee
Jacksonville
Fort Collins
Shawnee
Orlando
Bellevue
Pueblo West
Jacksonville
Jacksonville
Tallahassee
Boise
Lawrenceburg
Jacksonville
Daytona Beach
Kansas City
Cumming
Orlando
Fort Collins
Tulsa
Jackson
Euless
Shawnee

Utah
Florida
New Mexico
Florida
Texas
Nebraska
Florida
Oklahoma
Kansas
Florida
Colorado
North Carolina
Florida
Florida
Florida
Idaho
Florida
Florida
Colorado
Kansas
Florida
Nebraska
Colorado
Florida
Florida
Florida
Idaho
Indiana
Florida
Florida
Kansas
Georgia
Florida
Colorado
Oklahoma
Mississippi
Texas
Kansas

84101
32724
87108
32792
78624
68005
32504
73072
66608
32114
81650
27522
32114
32114
32763
83606
32301
32218
80525
66217
32808
68147
81007
32217
32277
32301
83704
47025
32217
32114
66112
30040
32822
80521
74133
39209
76040
66217

Total
(1) As of December 31, 2016, 100% of the lettable area of the properties was for residential use.
(2) As percentage of the total gross potential rent.
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Fair Value Ownership Ownership
Year of
form
percentage construction
of shares
in USD
39,000,000
Sole
88.68
2002
7,200,000
Sole
95
1982
7,100,000
Sole
95
2001
7,720,000
Sole
9
1980
5,500,000
Sole
95%
1998
8,150,000
Sole
95
1971
4,200,000
Sole
95
1985
4,800,000
Sole
95
1998
3,600,000
Sole
93.33
1999
10,200,000
Sole
95
1982
1,520,000
Sole
95
2000
6,200,000
Sole
95
1997
7,700,000
Sole
95
1984
5,800,000
Sole
95
1980
4,000,000
Sole
95
1985
3,700,000
Sole
95
1999
22,500,000
Sole
95
1975
6,700,000
Sole
95
1987
4,750,000
Sole
95
2000
18,400,000
Sole
95
2002
4,850,000
Sole
95
1985
4,600,000
Sole
81.62
1995
3,470,000
Sole
95
2000
5,660,000
Sole
95
1980
15,600,000
Sole
93.16
2001
20,000,000
Sole
95
1972
10,830,000
Sole
95
1995
5,900,000
Sole
95
1999
4,900,000
Sole
95
1984
7,700,000
Sole
95
1979
3,000,000
Sole
95
2001
12,200,000
Sole
95
1996
5,110,000
Sole
95
1980
2,840,000
Sole
95
2001
16,750,000
Sole
95
1997
8,500,000
Sole
91.18
2000
29,500,000
Sole
100.00
1985
3,300,000
Sole
95
2001
343,450,000

Year of
renovation

Use(1)

Vacancy
Rate(2)

Cap
Rate

2015
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
2014
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
2014
2015
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A

Residential
Residential
Residential
Residential
Residential
Residential
Residential
Residential
Residential
Residential
Residential
Residential
Residential
Residential
Residential
Residential
Residential
Residential
Residential
Residential
Residential
Residential
Residential
Residential
Residential
Residential
Residential
Residential
Residential
Residential
Residential
Residential
Residential
Residential
Residential
Residential
Residential
Residential

4.00
7.50
6.00
6.00
3.50
7.00
8.00
5.25
5.50
6.00
6.00
4.80
5.50
4.50
7.50
3.50
9.00
5.50
3.00
6.00
8.50
6.00
4.00
5.00
4.50
9.00
3.50
5.00
8.50
9.00
5.50
3.00
7.00
3.00
5.50
12.00
8.00
3.50

in %
5.75
7.50
6.25
7.76
7.00
7.25
7.50
6.75
6.75
8.25
6.75
7.50
8.00
8.00
7.50
6.75
6.50
7.75
6.50
6.50
7.75
7.00
6.75
7.75
6.50
6.50
6.25
7.25
8.00
8.00
7.50
6.50
7.25
6.50
6.75
7.00
6.00
6.25

Gross
Potential
Income
in USD
3,951,232
1,288,380
940,344
1,156,692
758,900
1,461,326
759,680
679,720
638,500
1,712,760
267,644
950,239
1,294,520
1,030,180
662,500
590,899
2,930,600
1,209,840
563,660
2,404,560
1,054,234
657,800
458,939
932,540
2,473,308
2,703,660
1,412,855
881,126
1,044,740
1,354,760
453,120
1,517,472
797,292
360,420
2,363,552
1,568,520
3,959,380
412,840

Net
rentable
Area
(in sq. ft.)
246,414
99,072
102,504
64,512
74,578
147,875
46,080
80,024
66,024
117,216
27,115
75,686
88,704
73,152
51,264
74,379
224,330
81,504
43,002
210,648
73,152
62,360
59,958
67,680
293,340
276,251
112,176
104,592
79,200
93,888
33,000
147,148
47,808
29,150
218,040
174,368
215,705
33,420

49,497,766

4,115,319
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
NOT MEASURED AT FAIR VALUE
Cash and cash equivalents, rent and other receivables, escrow accounts, and trade and other payables
are short-term in nature and, therefore, the carrying
amount is deemed to be fair value.

The Group has entered into various leases of its investment property. The leases typically have lease terms
of 1 year. Future minimum rentals receivable under
non-cancellable operating leases as of December 31,
are as follows:
Expressed in US Dollars

Expressed in
US Dollars

Interest
bearing
loans and
borrowings

94

Level 1 Level 2
–

Level 3

– 204,132,716

Total
204,132,716

The fair value of interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are determined using the discounted cash flow method.
The valuation model considers the present value of expected payment, discounted using a credit risk-adjusted
discount rate. During the period under consideration no
transfer between the levels took place.
NOTE P – COMMITMENTS,
CONTINGENCIES AND OTHER OFFBALANCE SHEET TRANSACTIONS
As of December 31, 2016, the Company has signed
a tenancy agreement for the Company office in Zug
which started on January 1, 2017 and requires monthly
rental payments of CHF 840. This rent can be terminated with a six-month notice at the end of each quarter.
The Group had no contingencies and other off-balance
sheet transactions that would be required to be disclosed herein.
At December 31, 2016, the Group has entered into a
commitment to buy multiple new multifamily housing
properties in the amount of USD 90.05 million through
newly-formed entities as detailed in Note R.
The operations of the Group may be affected by legislative, fiscal, and regulatory developments for which
provisions would be made when and where deemed
necessary.

MANAGED BY

2017

23,779,887

2018

1,414,242

2019

61,017
25,255,146

NOTE Q – SEGMENT REPORTING
The Group has determined that Varia and its subsidiaries and underlying investments operate in the sole
segment of investment property in the US multifamily
real estate market.
NOTE R – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
The Board of Directors has evaluated events subsequent
to the consolidated statement of financial position date
of December 31, 2016 and through April 24, 2017, which
was the date the consolidated financial statements were
available to be issued. Other than as disclosed below,
there were no subsequent events which would require
adjustment to or disclosure in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
During 2016, the Company set up three new Varia US
subsidiaries: Varia US Columbia LLC, Varia US PNW
LLC, and Varia US Midwest LLC to facilitate the investment of the proceeds of its IPO capital increase
to acquire new investment properties. On February 7,
2017, the Company invested USD 23.6 million in
Crowne Lake (272 units) in Columbia, South Carolina
and on February 9, 2017 USD 18.3 million in The Ridge
on Spring Valley in Dallas (208 units).
Six other deals are currently under contract for a
total acquisition cost close to USD 93.35 million. These
properties are located in Missouri (St. Louis), Indiana
(Evansville), Washington State (Bremerton – Seattle)
and Texas (Dallas – Fort Worth area).

VARIA US PROPERTIES AG AND SUBSIDIARIES

SUPPLEMENTARY
INFORMATION
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CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Ariston
Opportunity
Fund Ltd

Varia US
Brent
LLC

Varia US
Dallas
LLC

Varia US
Daytona
LLC

Varia US
Jacksonville
LLC

· Cash and cash equivalents

3,956,430

500,373

150,209

1,483,737

924,678

· Rent and other receivables

249,996

2,048

–

113,493

31,575

· Income tax receivable

242,495

–

–

–

–

· Prepaid expenses & other non-current assets

319,295

51,964

54,464

71,147

28,224

4,768,216

554,385

204,673

1,668,377

984,477

17,260,000

Expressed in US Dollars

Assets
Current assets

Total current assets
Non-current assets
· Investment property

96

164,810,000

8,150,000

29,500,000

42,600,000

· Other assets

–

–

–

–

–

· Long-term loans

–

–

–

–

–

· Escrow accounts

1,981,796

486,386

1,305,675

381,604

256,565

· Goodwill

1,936,484

–

–

–

–

· Deferred tax asset

7,969,047

194,838

4,047

1,314,075

616,053

Total non-current assets
Total assets

176,697,327

8,831,224

30,809,722

44,295,679

18,132,618

181,465,543

9,385,609

31,014,395

45,964,056

19,117,095

Liabilities and equity
Current liabilities
· Interest bearing loans and borrowings
· Trade and other payables
· Prepaid rent
Total current liabilities

793,720

102,778

–

375,813

136,072

2,460,509

180,858

69,857

906,943

546,269

82,791

7,182

7,062

52,842

17,357

3,337,020

290,818

76,919

1,335,598

699,698

Non-current liabilities
· Interest bearing loans and borrowings,
net of current maturities and debt issuance costs
· Loans from member
· Deferred tax liability

106,465,837

5,424,759

–

25,821,869

9,337,386

–

2,265,300

20,018,043

8,531,504

3,758,455

19,263,058

140,219

400,667

2,283,265

1,242,131

Total non-current liabilities

125,728,895

7,830,278

20,418,710

36,636,638

14,337,972

Total liabilities

129,065,915

8,121,096

20,495,629

37,972,236

15,037,670

· Issued share capital
· Share premium from capital contributions
· Retained earnings (accumulated deficit)

–

–

–

–

–

45,833,498

1,183,674

9,882,617

4,593,886

2,023,783
1,021,327

3,900,680

(89,142)

636,149

1,580,953

· Treasury stock at cost

(8,749,500)

–

–

–

–

· Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent

40,984,678

1,094,532

10,518,766

6,174,839

3,045,110

Non-controlling interests (NCI)

11,414,950

169,981

–

1,816,981

1,034,315

Total equity

52,399,628

1,264,513

10,518,766

7,991,820

4,079,425

181,465,543

9,385,609

31,014,395

45,964,056

19,117,095

Total liabilities and equity
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Varia US
Orlando
LLC

Varia US
Pensacola
LLC

Varia US
Tallahassee
LLC

Varia US
Tulsa
LLC

Varia US
Properties
AG

Eliminations

Consolidated

614,141

253,350

920,510

764,515

35,397

2,724

92,187

2,046

86,732,074

–

96,300,017

102,250

–

–

–

–

–

631,716

–

–

242,495

32,399

5,720

51,085

49,038

1,327,778

(1,177,890)

813,224

681,937

261,794

1,063,782

815,599

88,162,102

(1,177,890)

97,987,452

17,680,000

4,200,000

42,500,000

16,750,000

71,618,198

(71,618,198)

343,450,000

–

–

–

–

877,000

–

877,000

–

–

-

–

50,003,893

(50,003,893)

–

227,813

28,456

267,577

92,694

–

–

5,028,566
1,936,484

–

–

–

–

–

–

528,511

150,566

831,344

–

(11,319,633)

536,372

18,436,324

4,379,022

43,598,921

247,524
–
17,090,218

122,499,091

(132,941,724)

351,828,422

19,118,261

4,640,816

44,662,703

17,905,817

210,661,193

(134,119,614)

449,815,874

146,560

40,895

–

–

–

–

1,595,838

352,834

81,528

850,707

317,651

2,249,279

(1,177,890)

6,838,545

14,629

283

32,136

9,077

–

–

223,359

514,023

122,706

882,843

326,728

2,249,279

(1,177,890)

8,657,742

10,061,006

1,989,997

30,272,728

12,100,301

–

–

201,473,883

3,665,711

716,830

7,817,550

3,230,500

–

(50,003,893)

–

1,090,915

477,741

848,831

255,386

–

(11,319,633)

14,682,580

14,817,632

3,184,568

38,939,109

15,586,187

–

(61,323,526)

216,156,463

15,331,655

3,307,274

39,821,952

15,912,915

2,249,279

(62,501,416)

224,814,205

–

–

–

–

6,180,241

–

6,180,241

1,973,845

385,986

4,209,450

1,739,500

193,357,404

(71,826,239)

193,357,404

917,530

533,709

27,428

12,825

8,874,269

(8,541,459)

8,874,269

–

–

–

–

–

8,749,500

–

2,891,375

919,695

4,236,878

1,752,325

208,411,914

(71,618,198)

208,411,914

895,231

413,847

603,873

240,577

–

–

16,589,755

3,786,606

1,333,542

4,840,751

1,992,902

208,411,914

(71,618,198)

225,001,669

19,118,261

4,640,816

44,662,703

17,905,817

210,661,193

(134,119,614)

449,815,874
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CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

Expressed in US Dollars

Ariston
Opportunity
Fund Ltd

Varia US
Brent
LLC

Varia US
Dallas
LLC

Varia US
Daytona
LLC

Varia US
Jacksonville
LLC

Income
· Rental income

19,314,265

541,882

25,352

6,072,740

2,739,776

· Equity in earnings of subsidiaries

–

–

–

–

–

· I nterest income on long-term loans

–

–

–

–

–

1,220,042

39,967

–

816,038

300,984

· O ther income (loss)
· B argain on purchase of subsidiary

–

–

–

715,000

990,000

· N et gain from fair value adjustment on investment
property

10,093,377

350,000

1,026,937

4,154,596

2,268,797

Effective income

30,627,684

931,849

1,052,289

11,758,374

6,299,557

Operating expenses

98

· T hird party salaries and employees

(2,957,066)

(67,836)

–

(879,708)

(476,748)

· U tilities

(1,850,173)

(38,045)

–

(649,184)

(261,575)

· G eneral and administrative expenses

(719,244)

(36,027)

–

(399,672)

(165,369)

· M arketing

(229,865)

(2,372)

–

(54,645)

(38,842)

· Repairs and maintenance

(887,977)

(29,101)

–

(311,735)

(150,463)

(631,355)

(23,865)

(736)

(177,277)

(169,966)

(1,688,751)

(69,535)

(4,815)

(432,759)

(184,621)
(75,769)

· C ontract services
· Real estate and other taxes
· I nsurance

(561,514)

(16,195)

–

(190,830)

· A sset management fee

(597,089)

(24,040)

–

(219,700)

(94,470)

· P roperty management fee

(705,950)

(21,780)

–

(259,370)

(114,887)

· P rofessional fees

(357,185)

(12,452)

(3,000)

(131,439)

(91,059)

(11,186,169)

(341,248)

(8,551)

(3,706,319)

(1,823,769)

19,441,515

590,601

1,043,738

8,052,055

4,475,788

· D ebt interest

(4,877,029)

(74,829)

–

(1,300,872)

(471,291)

· C apital expenditures

(1,101,548)

(37,128)

–

(514,029)

(369,979)

· Total other property expenses

(5,978,577)

(111,957)

–

(1,814,901)

(841,270)

13,462,938

478,644

1,043,738

6,237,154

3,634,518

Total operating expenses
Net operating income
Other property expenses

N et property income
Administrative expenses
· N et currency foreign exchange loss

–

–

–

–

–

· M ember loan interest

–

(94,956)

(10,969)

(895,224)

(394,380)

Total administrative expenses

–

(94,956)

(10,969)

(895,224)

(394,380)

Exceptional expenses
Professional fees in relation to set up of structures
Acquisition costs
Non recurring expenses

(420,642)

(73,011)

–

(5,215)

(7,450)

(1,971,272)

(182,532)

–

(1,073,066)

(513,428)

(420,609)

(276,404)

–

(226,521)

(271,198)

Total exceptional expenses

(2,812,523)

(531,947)

–

(1,304,802)

(792,076)

Operating profit (loss)

10,650,415

(148,259)

1,032,769

4,037,128

2,448,062

3,916,647

(4,498)

–

1,486,985

800,657

Profit (loss) attributable to noncontrolling interests
Profit (loss) attributable to equity holders of the parent
before provision for income tax
Provision for income tax
Profit (loss) attributable to equity holders
of the parent
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6,733,768

(143,761)

1,032,769

2,550,143

1,647,405

(2,832,087)

54,619

(396,620)

(969,190)

(626,078)

3,901,681

(89,142)

636,149

1,580,953

1,021,327
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Varia US
Orlando
LLC

Varia US
Pensacola
LLC

Varia US
Tallahassee
LLC

Varia US
Tulsa
LLC

2,584,414

637,426

1,613,463

2,995,914

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

2,634,307

(2,634,307)

–

314,216

67,945

49,566

272,815

(459,040)

–

2,622,533

550,000

4,185,000

680,000

1,200,000

1,904,167

150,000

5,482,797

2,055,371

Varia US
Properties
AG

Eliminations

Consolidated

–

–

36,525,232

8,542,460

(8,542,460)

–

50,000

–

–

1,509,337

–

–

1,987,311

4,828,066

10,717,727

(11,176,767)

(225,718)

21,231,493
64,564,258

(435,539)

(103,070)

(239,534)

(397,090)

(64,638)

–

(5,621,229)

(215,088)

(45,415)

(112,086)

(287,392)

–

–

(3,458,958)

(155,270)

(36,133)

(112,527)

(298,224)

(139,213)

–

(2,061,679)

(33,264)

(9,319)

(11,411)

(43,762)

–

–

(423,480)

(112,353)

(21,247)

(17,890)

(182,457)

–

–

(1,713,223)

(132,323)

(32,127)

(39,491)

(83,732)

(11,208)

–

(1,302,080)

(180,167)

(45,061)

(104,867)

(279,320)

–

–

(2,989,896)

(62,805)

(16,067)

(57,845)

(84,996)

(670)

–

(1,066,691)

(68,930)

(21,335)

(51,492)

(149,847)

–

–

(1,226,903)
(1,389,270)

(108,426)

(27,217)

(53,514)

(98,126)

–

–

(77,776)

(32,339)

(36,550)

(66,931)

–

–

(808,731)

(1,581,941)

(389,330)

(837,207)

(1,971,877)

(215,729)

–

(22,062,140)

3,900,856

1,666,041

1,150,104

2,856,189

10,501,998

(11,176,767)

42,502,118

(507,160)

(64,604)

(385,382)

(707,309)

–

–

(8,388,476)

(183,180)

(62,959)

(31,002)

(290,291)

–

–

(2,590,116)

(690,340)

(127,563)

(416,384)

(997,600)

–

–

(10,978,592)

3,210,516

1,538,478

733,720

1,858,589

10,501,998

(11,176,767)

31,523,526

(256,605)

–

–

–

–

(256,605)

–

(384,649)

(75,218)

(243,394)

(535,517)

–

2,634,307

–

(384,649)

(75,218)

(243,394)

(535,517)

(256,605)

2,634,307

(256,605)

(3,652)

(824)

(64,670)

(55,832)

(1,255,211)

–

(1,886,507)

(482,649)

(132,617)

(392,035)

(1,132,991)

–

–

(5,880,590)

(137,523)

(85,582)

(10,585)

(94,754)

–

–

(1,523,176)

(623,824)

(219,023)

(467,290)

(1,283,577)

(1,255,211)

–

(9,290,273)

2,202,043

1,244,237

23,036

39,495

8,990,182

(8,542,460)

21,976,648

722,109

383,353

2,349

(5,420)

–

–

7,302,182

1,479,934

860,884

20,687

44,915

8,990,182

(8,542,460)

14,674,466

(562,404)

(327,175)

(7,862)

(17,487)

(115,913)

–

(5,800,197)

917,530

533,709

12,825

27,428

8,874,269

(8,542,460)

8,874,269
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STATUTORY AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE GENERAL MEETING OF VARIA US PROPERTIES AG, ZUG
REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Statutory Auditor’s Report
To the General Meeting of Varia US Properties AG, Zug

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Varia US Properties AG and its subsidiaries (the Group),
which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at 31 December 2016, the consolidated
statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
the consolidated statement of cash flows for the period from 28 September 2015 through
31 December 2016, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.
In our opinion the consolidated financial statements (pages 69 to 94) give a true and fair view of the consolidated
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2016 and its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the period from 28 September 2015 through 31 December 2016 in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and comply with Article 17 of the Directive on Financial
Reporting (Directive Financial Reporting, DFR) of SIX Swiss Exchange and Swiss law.
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Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law, International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) and Swiss
Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those provisions and standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the provisions of Swiss law and the requirements of the Swiss audit profession, as
well as the IESBA Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Key Audit Matters
Valuation of investment properties

Assessment of control

Completeness, existence and accuracy of deferred tax assets and liabilities
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters.

1
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Valuation of investment properties

Key Audit Matter

Our response

Investment properties form a substantial part of the In the course of our audit, we assessed the external
balance sheet and showed the following values as at valuation expert’s competence and independence. We
31 December 2016 (in USD):
inquired with management about the valuation
methodology. We involved our own real estate valuation
— Investment properties USD 343,450,000
specialists to support our audit procedures.
The Group’s total investment properties portfolio is For a sample of investment properties identified based on
valued at fair value as at the balance sheet date.
quantitative and qualitative factors, we performed,
The valuation is based on the external valuation amongst others, the following audit procedures:
expert’s report. For the purpose of determining the fair
value, the external valuation expert systematically
performs two valuation approaches: the income
approach and the sales comparison approach. The
expert considers the result of the two and then selects
the most appropriate approach. The fair value
estimates are significantly influenced by assumptions
and estimates with regard, in particular, to the expected
future income and expenses and the capitalisation rate
used for each property depending on its individual
rewards / circumstances for the income approach and
the choice of the peer group for the sales comparison
approach.

— assessing the reasonableness of the methodology
and key assumptions used;
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— assessing the reasonableness of the fair value
estimates as of 31 December 2016.
We also considered the appropriateness of disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements.

For further information on the valuation of investment properties refer to the following:
—

Note B – Basis of Preparation and Significant Accounting Policies, section “Investment Property”

—

Note C – Critical Accounting Judgments and Key Source of Estimation, section “Fair Value Measurement
of Investment Property”

—

Note I – Investment Property

—

Note O – Financial Risk Management, sections “Fair Value Measurement” and “Valuation Method,
Standards, and Principles”

2
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Assessment of control

Key Audit Matter

Our response

The Group has developed its investment portfolio with
the acquisition of the Ariston Opportunity Fund and the
establishment of eleven U.S. limited liabilities
companies, including three not yet used for
investments. These vehicles hold the majority of the
shares of 46 property companies owning themselves
multifamily properties, apart from seven empty ones.

In the course of our audit, we critically assessed the
client’s considerations in relation to the assessment of
control.

The Board of Directors has assessed the level of
control over its subsidiaries which includes the analysis
of the percentage of voting rights, the decision making
process and the contractual terms defined in different
agreements which set conditions for operating the
business. Pursuant to this analysis, the Board of
Directors has concluded that the Group has the
required power over the relevant activities of these
subsidiaries, is exposed to, or has rights to, the variable
returns from its involvement and has the ability to affect
those returns through its power over the subsidiaries.
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— We analyzed, amongst others, business purposes of
the Group and its subsidiaries;
— We reviewed the Board of Directors’ assessment in
particular major contracts between different parties
involved in the decision-making and management
process.

For further information on the assessment of control and consolidation refer to the following:
—

Note C – Critical Accounting Judgments and Key Source of Estimation, section “Consolidation of
Subsidiaries”

3
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Completeness, existence and accuracy of deferred tax assets and liabilities

Key Audit Matter

Our response

As at 31 December 2016, deferred tax assets and In the course of our audit, we critically assessed the
liabilities amounted to
calculation of deferred taxes on investment properties
with the support of our tax specialists.
— Deferred tax assets: TCHF 536,372
— Deferred tax liabilities: TCHF 14,682,580.
Based on the overall portfolio, we performed, amongst
Deferred taxes arise due to temporary differences
between the values in the tax accounts and the
consolidated balance sheet. The calculation of deferred
taxes takes into account the expected point in time
when, and the manner in which, the assets and
liabilities are expected to be realized or settled. The
applied tax rates correspond to those that are enacted
or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.
Deferred taxes primarily result from valuation
differences between the fair values of investment
properties and their values for tax purposes.

others, the following audit procedures:

— evaluating the calculation method used to determine
deferred tax assets and liabilities;
— critically assessing the assumed tax rates applicable
to each US location at the time the tax differences
are realized.
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For a sample identified based on quantitative and
qualitative factors, we performed, amongst others, the
following audit procedures:

—
In the calculation of the deferred taxes, assumptions
and estimates must be made with regards to the fiscally
relevant investment costs and the fair values of the
properties as well as the tax rates applicable at the time
—
the tax differences are realized.
—
In assessing the deferred tax assets, management
considers the extent to which it is probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow the —

reconciling the fair value with the valuation
documentation and the fiscally relevant investment
costs with the fixed asset accounting or the client’s
detailed records;
assessing future taxable income projections;
assessing future reversals of existing taxable
temporary differences;

determining if it’s probable that future taxable profit
will be available against which the unused tax losses
benefit of part or all of those deferred tax assets The
can be utilized;
ultimate realization of deferred tax assets relating to
temporary differences is dependent upon the
— considering prudent and feasible tax-planning
generation of future taxable profit during the periods in
strategies for any remaining deferred tax assets;
which those temporary differences become deductible.
Management considers the scheduled reversal of — concluding on the need for and amount of the
deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income,
valuation allowance on deferred income tax assets;
and tax planning strategies in making this assessment.
— testing the mathematical accuracy of the deferred
tax calculation.
For further information on deferred taxes refer to the following:
—

Note M – Income Taxes

4
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Other Information in the Annual Report
The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information in the annual report. The other information comprises
all information included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements, the standalone financial statements of the Company, the remuneration report and our auditor’s reports thereon.
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information in the annual report and
we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other
information in the annual report and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
Responsibility of the Board of Directors for the Consolidated Financial Statements
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The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in accordance with IFRS, Article 17 of the Directive on Financial Reporting (Directive Financial
Reporting, DFR) of SIX Swiss Exchange and the provisions of Swiss law, and for such internal control as the Board
of Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with Swiss law, ISAs and Swiss Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with Swiss law, ISAs and Swiss Auditing Standards, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:
— Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
— Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.
— Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made.
— Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

5
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VARIA US PROPERTIES AG, ZUG

STATUTORY FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2016
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VARIA US PROPERTIES AG, ZUG					

BALANCE SHEET AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2016

Expressed in CHF

Note

December 31, 2016

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents

88,361,189

Other short-term receivables

104,171

Prepaid expenses

152,704

Accrued interest income

2.1

Current Assets

108

1,200,015
89,818,079

Long-term loans

2.1

49,813,362

Investments

2.2

64,089,220

Non-Current Assets

113,902,582

Total Assets

203,720,661

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Trade accounts payable

2.3

1,518,643

2.4

654,882

Other short-term liabilities due to shareholders
Accrued expenses

4

Provision for taxes

118,000

Short-term liabilities

2,291,529

Liabilities

2,291,529

Share capital

2.5

Reserves from capital contributions

2.5

Legal capital reserves
Net profit for the period
Voluntary retained earnings

6,194,148
193,960,755
193,960,755
1,274,229
1,274,229

Shareholders’ equity

201,429,132

Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ equity

203,720,661
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VARIA US PROPERTIES AG, ZUG					

PROFIT AND LOSS STATEMENT
FOR THE PERIOD FROM SEPTEMBER 28, 2015
TO DECEMBER 31, 2016

Notes

From September 28, 2015
to December 31, 2016

Interest income on long-term loans

2.1

2,693,379

Loss on redemption of shares

2.2

-340,796

Expressed in CHF

Net income

2,352,583

Directors’ fees and social charges

-65,559

Publicity and marketing

-47,491

Travel and entertainment expenses

-9,561

Contributions

-2,000

Accounting and administration expenses

2.6

-321,421

Legal and other consulting fees

2.7

-627,439

Audit fees

-300,000

Incorporation expenses
IPO share capital increase expenses

-53,318
2.5 | 2.8

Insurances

-156,114
-757

IT costs

-11,346

Other operating expenses

14,570

Direct taxes on capital

-9,045

Operating expenses

-1,618,622

Operating result before financial result and income taxes

733,961

Financial income

2.9

2,763,404

Financial expenses

2.9

-2,114,182

Profit before income taxes

1,383,184

Income taxes

-108,955

Net profit for the period

1,274,229
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NOTES TO THE STATUTORY
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE
PERIOD FROM SEPTEMBER 28,
2015 TO DECEMBER 31, 2016			
Varia US Properties AG, Zug
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1
PRINCIPLES				
1.1 GENERAL INFORMATION
Varia US Properties AG (“Varia” or “the Company”)
was created on September 17, 2015 and registered with
the Zug Commercial register on September 28, 2015
under UID number CHE-320.748.468. The Company is
a Swiss stock corporation established under the relevant
provisions of the Swiss code of obligations (“SCO”). Its
address is Gubelstrasse 19, 6300 Zug, Switzerland. Varia
US Properties AG has the tax status of a holding company.
As a Swiss real estate investment company, Varia’s purpose is to acquire, hold and sell properties in the United
States of America (“USA”). Accordingly, the Company
is dedicated to investments in the US multifamily real
estate market. Since 2015, it assembled a portfolio currently held through Varia’s subsidiaries that mainly comprise low-moderate income and workforce multifamily
housing properties. The Company pursues a long-term
growth strategy aimed at offering investors risk adjusted access to the US multifamily real estate market. 		
		
On December 8, 2016, the Company proceeded to its
initial public offering (“IPO”) and listed its shares on
the SIX Swiss Exchange in Zürich (Switzerland). At that
date, 3,097,074 new shares have been already issued
and subscribed at the offer price of CHF 35 each. On
January 6, 2017, the bank acting on behalf of the Company exercised the full over-allotment option (Greenshoe) of 464,562 new shares at CHF 35 per share (from
the authorised capital) and completed the IPO total
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issuance of 3,561,636 new shares. Varia’ shares are traded under the ticker symbol VARN.			
1.2 GENERAL ASPECTS
These financial statements were prepared in accordance with the Swiss accounting legislation (32nd title of
the Code of Obligations).		
		
The Board of Directors of the Company is ultimately responsible for the policies, the valuations, and the
management of the activities. The statutory financial
statements of Varia US Properties AG for the period
ending December 31, 2016 were approved by the Board
of Directors on April 24, 2017.
The financial statements are presented in Swiss francs
(CHF) and all values are rounded to the nearest CHF,
except when otherwise indicated.			
When not prescribed by the law, the principles applied
in the annual accounts are described below.			
				
1.3 FINANCIAL ASSETS
Financial assets include long-term loans. Loans granted
in foreign currencies are translated into Swiss francs
(CHF) using the exchange rate prevailing on the dates
of the transactions. At the balance sheet date, the loans
are valued on the historical cost basis.			
1.4 INVESTMENTS
Investments include subsidiaries. The acquisitions in foreign currencies are translated into Swiss francs (CHF)
using the exchange rate prevailing on the dates of the
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transactions. At the balance sheet date, the investments
are valued at the lower of the historical cost basis or net
realisable value if permanently impaired.			
1.5 FOREIGN CURRENCY ITEMS
The company’s functional currency is the US dollar
(USD) but the company’s reporting and presentation
currency, as per article 958d alinea 3 of SCO, is the
Swiss franc (CHF).
Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are
converted at the exchange rate on the balance sheet
date. Non-monetary assets as well as equity items are
presented at historical rate. Transactions in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rate on the day
the transaction takes place.
Foreign exchange profits and losses are recorded in
the profit and loss statement, except for unrealized
exchange profits on long-term monetary assets and
liabilities which are deferred in the balance sheet, if any.

For the translation of USD into CHF, the closing rate
applied at the end of the period is 1.01878 and the
average exchange rate of the period is approximately
1.03497.				
		
			
2
INFORMATION ON BALANCE
SHEET AND PROFIT AND LOSS
STATEMENT BALANCES		
				
2.1 LONG-TERM LOANS –
ACCRUED INTERESTS INCOME
The company is financing partially the operations of its
subsidiaries through long-term loans by mean of promissory notes contracts for periods less than five years
bearing interests at 10% per annum. At the end of the
period, interests were not fully paid and therefore accounted for in accrued interests income. The remaining
interest payments should be required by Varia within
the next twelfe months.

Loans to subsidiairies
Expressed in CHF

Company name

Long-term loans
31.12.2016

Accrued interest
31.12.2016

Interest income for
the period 2016

Varia US Daytona LLC

8,366,828

219,080

916,518

Varia US Jacksonville LLC

3,685,909

193,026

403,138

Varia US Orlando LLC

3,594,955

94,131

393,798

702,994

18,407

77,007

Varia US Pensacola LLC
Varia US Tulsa LLC

3,093,163

165,912

248,496

Varia US Tallahassee LLC

7,618,769

401,544

546,507

Varia US Brent LLC

2,232,865

96,740

96,740

Varia US Dallas LLC

20,517,879

11,175

11,175

49,813,362

1,200,015

2,693,379

Total

		
2.2 INVESTMENTS
From its creation, the Company has developed its
investments’ portfolio by means of the establishement
of newly created investments entities and the acquisition of the shares of the Ariston Opportunity Fund
Ltd on February 23, 2016 (effective January 1, 2016). At
December 31, 2016, the investments are the following:		
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Expressed in CHF

Investments
Ariston Opportunity Fund Ltd

Returned capital
during the period

Acquisition
value at
31.12.2016

45,496,054

-9,005,134

36,490,920

Varia US Daytona LLC

4,505,215

4,505,215

Varia US Jacksonville LLC

1,984,720

1,984,720

Varia US Orlando LLC

1,935,745

1,935,745

Varia US Pensacola LLC

378,535

378,535

Varia US Tallahassee LLC

4,102,414

4,102,414

Varia US Tulsa LLC

1,665,550

1,665,550

Varia US Brent LLC

1,166,451

1,166,451

Varia US Dallas LLC

10,966,727

10,966,727

250,467

250,467

Varia US Columbia LLC
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Acquisition value
or Initial capital
investment

Varia US PNW LLC

127,903

127,903

Varia US Midwest LLC

514,573

514,573

Total investments at acquisition costs

At year-end 2016, the accumulated share value of Varia
US in its investments’ equities – including the result for
the period then ended – amounted to USD 71.6 million
or CHF 73.9 million at USD/CHF closing exchange rate,
presenting therefore a total value in excess of CHF 9.8
million over the investments acquisition values.
In October 2016, Ariston Opportunity Fund Ltd proceeded to the redemption of 61,400 of its shares at a unit
price of USD 142.50 (value date of September 30, 2016)
for a total amount of USD 8,749,506. The Company assessed that proceed as a reimbursement of capital investment and accordingly reduced the acquisition book value
Company (directly held)

Domicile

Ariston Opportunity Fund Ltd
Varia US Daytona LLC

73,094,354

-9,005,134

64,089,220

of its Ariston investment by CHF 9,005,114. The net loss
of CHF 340,796 resulting from this redemption of shares
is accounted for in the profit and loss statement.
			
As of December 31, 2016 the investments in Varia
US Columbia LLC, Varia US PNW LLC and Varia US
Midwest LLC were only related to deposits made to
secure real estate future acquisitions. Accordingly these
subsidiairies did not own any underlying property at
year-end 2016.			
The investments directly held by Varia US or indirectly
through its subsidiaires are the following:
31.12.2016
Share in capital
in %

31.12.2016
Voting rights
in %

Incorporation
date

Nassau, Bahamas

100.00

100.00

24.09.2013

Delaware, USA

100.00

100.00

19.11.2015

Varia US Jacksonville LLC

Delaware, USA

100.00

100.00

19.11.2015

Varia US Orlando LLC

Delaware, USA

100.00

100.00

19.11.2015

Varia US Pensacola LLC

Delaware, USA

100.00

100.00

19.11.2015

Varia US Tallahassee LLC

Delaware, USA

100.00

100.00

17.03.2016

Varia US Tulsa LLC

Delaware, USA

100.00

100.00

01.03.2016

Varia US Brent LLC

Delaware, USA

100.00

100.00

17.03.2016

Varia US Dallas LLC

Delaware, USA

100.00

100.00

27.10.2016

Varia US Columbia LLC

Delaware, USA

100.00

100.00

28.10.2016

Varia US PNW LLC

Delaware, USA

100.00

100.00

17.11.2016

Varia US Midwest LLC

Delaware, USA

100.00

100.00

07.12.2016
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Company (indirectly held)

Domicile

31.12.2016
Share in capital
in %

31.12.2016
Voting rights
in %

PC Aspen Ridge LLC

Utah, USA

95.00

71.25

PC Brentwood LLC

Utah, USA

95.00

71.25

PC Cottages of Norman LLC

Utah, USA

95.00

71.25

PC Cottages of Topeka LLC

Utah, USA

93.33

70.00

PC Eagles Nest LLC

Utah, USA

95.00

71.25

PC Highland LLC

Utah, USA

95.00

71.25

PC Mesa Park LLC

Utah, USA

92.98

69.74

PC Northgate LLC

Utah, USA

88.86

66.51

PC Parkview LLC

Utah, USA

95.00

71.25

PC Reflections LLC

Utah, USA

95.00

71.25

PC Shawnee Station LLC

Utah, USA

95.00

71.25

PC Stonegate LLC

Utah, USA

95.00

71.25

PC Summerhill LLC

Utah, USA

93.69

68.38

Indirectly held by Ariston Opportunity Fund Ltd

PC Sunset Palms LLC

Utah, USA

81.61

61.21

PC Towne Square LLC

Utah, USA

95.00

71.25

PC Tuscany Bay LLC

Utah, USA

95.00

71.25

PC Washington Heights LLC

Utah, USA

95.00

71.25

PC Willows LLC

Utah, USA

95.00

71.25

PC Woodbridge LLC

Utah, USA

95.00

71.25

PC Woodlands LLC

Delaware, USA

91.17

68.38

PC Wyndam LLC

Utah, USA

95.00

71.25

				

See next page
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Company (indirectly held)

Domicile

31.12.2016
Share in capital
in %

31.12.2016
Voting rights
in %

Indirectly held by other Varia US subsidiaires
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PC Applewood LLC

Delaware, USA

95.00

71.25

PC Branchwood LLC

Utah, USA

95.00

71.25

PC Brent Village LLC

Delaware, USA

95.00

71.25

PC Broadview Oaks LLC

Utah, USA

95.00

71.25

PC Countryside LLC

Utah, USA

95.00

71.25

PC Crowne Lake LLC

Delaware, USA

100.00

100.00

PC Devonshire Gardens LLC

Delaware, USA

100.00

100.00

PC Devonshire Place LLC

Delaware, USA

100.00

100.00

PC Devonshire LLC

Delaware, USA

100.00

100.00

PC King Crossing LLC

Utah, USA

95.00

71.25

PC Maryland Park LLC

Delaware, USA

100.00

100.00

PC Nova Glen LCC

Utah, USA

95.00

71.25

PC Nova Wood LLC

Utah, USA

95.00

71.25

PC Oak Shade LLC

Utah, USA

95.00

71.25

PC Parkway Square LLC

Delaware, USA

95.00

71.25

PC Pelican Pointe LLC

Utah, USA

95.00

71.25

PC Pine Ridge Bremerton LLC

Delaware, USA

100.00

100.00

PC Sky Pines LLC

Utah, USA

95.00

71.25

PC Stonewood LLC

Utah, USA

95.00

71.25

PC Tally Square LLC

Delaware, USA

95.00

71.25

PC The Ridge on Spring Valley LLC

Delaware, USA

100.00

100.00

PC Volusia Crossing LLC

Utah, USA

95.00

71.25

PC Wingwood LLC

Utah, USA

95.00

71.25

PC Wood Hollow LLC

Delaware, USA

100.00

100.00

PC Woodland Manor LLC

Delaware, USA

95.00

71.25

2.3 TRADE ACCOUNTS PAYABLE
At December 31, 2016, trade accounts payable of
CHF 1,518,643 included the invoice of CHF 421,580
due to the legal firm that advised the Company for its
quotation at the SIX and for the IPO capital increase,
as well as the stamp duty of CHF 1,038,090 on the
December 7, 2016 capital increase. 			
					

2.4

ACCRUED EXPENSES			

Expressed in CHF

31.12.2016

Capital increase fees

264,600

Audit fees

300,000

Accounting fees

22,094

Directors’ fees

54,000

Administration fees
VAT on acquisition of services abroad
Total

833
13,355
654,882

In 2016, in addition to the accrued amount for the audit
of CHF 300,000, audit fees amount to CHF 491,900,
including CHF 143,900 for non-audit services.			
		
MANAGED BY

VARIA US PROPERTIES AG I ANNUAL REPORT 2016 I NOTES TO THE STATUTORY ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE PERIOD FROM SEPTEMBER 28, 2015 TO DECEMBER 31, 2016

2.5
SHARE CAPITAL | RESERVES FROM
CAPITAL CONTRIBUTIONS		
The share capital at December 31, 2016 is divided in
6,194,148 ordinary registered shares of a par value of
CHF 1.00 each, fully paid.
Expressed in CHF

Share capital at date of incorporation

Number
of shares

31.12.2016
Share capital

31.12.2016
Share premium

100,000

100,000

–

Ordinary share capital increases

6,094,148

6,094,148

193,960,755

Total

6,194,148

6,194,148

193,960,755

The Company proceeded three capital increases during
the period raising net proceeds in capital and premium of respectively CHF 38,102,733 on November 11,
2015, CHF 61,841,903 on February 1, 2016 and CHF
103,132,564 on December 7, 2016.			
For the two first capital increases, the related equity
transaction costs amounting to CHF 3,022,297 have
been deducted from the share premium recorded
therefore net in the reserves for capital contributions
in accordance with the Swiss code of obligations.		
		
For the IPO share capital increase on December 7,
2016, a fee of CHF 1.70 was included in the offer price
of CHF 35 per share – resulting in a total reimbursement of equity issuance costs of CHF 5,265,026 – to
cover the costs entailed by the equity transaction of
CHF 5,421,140 detailed in Note 2.8 below. The resulting
net loss of CHF 156,114 has been charged to the profit
and loss account.
			
Share premiums are considered under Swiss law as
reserves from capital contributions.		

The Swiss federal tax authorities did not yet confirm the
amount of the reserves from capital contributions in the
sense of article 20 paragraph 3 of the Federal Income
Tax Act. 				
On January 6, 2017, the bank acting on behalf of the
Company exercised the full over-allotment option of
464,562 new shares (with nominal value of CHF 1) at
a price of CHF 35 per share from the authorised capital decided on November 14, 2016 and completed the
IPO total issuance of 3,561,636 new shares. This last
capital increase took place on January 10, 2017 bringing
the Company total number of shares to 6,658,710 for
an equivalent share capital of CHF 6,658,710.			
Major shareholders				
The following table indicates Varia’s major shareholders holding shares and voting rights of 3% and more
as of December 31, 2016 (number of shares according
to the public disclosures of shareholdings at SIX Swiss
Exchange voting rights) and in aggregate the other
shareholders:		

		
Shareholders

Investor type

Number of shares

Participation in %

Varia SPC

Fund

3,541,194

57.2

Dreyfus Soehne

Bank

497,705

8.0

Other shareholders with
a participation below 3%
individually

Banks, funds, pension
funds, foundations and
companies

2,155,249

34.8

6,194,148

100

Total

MANAGED BY

115

VARIA US PROPERTIES AG I ANNUAL REPORT 2016 I NOTES TO THE STATUTORY ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE PERIOD FROM SEPTEMBER 28, 2015 TO DECEMBER 31, 2016

The fund Varia SPC is representing approximately 35
different investors who are directly or indirectly holders
of fund’s units.				
					
2.6 ACCOUNTING AND ADMINISTRATION
EXPENSES
Expressed in CHF

Accounting and tax consultants fees
Accounting and tax consultants fees

2016
158,405

Banks custody fees

98,899

Transaction fee on Ariston Opportunity Fund
Ltd redemption of shares

64,117
321,421

		
2.7 LEGAL AND OTHER CONSULTING FEES
Expressed in CHF
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Baker & McKenzie legal and advisory fees for
the Company listing at the SIX and prospectus
and other services

503,213

DLA Piper consulting fee

105,088

Other legal and consulting fees

19,138
627,439

				
2.8 IPO SHARES CAPITAL
INCREASE EXPENSES
Expressed in CHF

Fee IPO capital increase paid by
the shareholders

5,265,026

IPO capital increase expenses
Legal fees

421,579

Audit fees

320,000

Listing fees

554,841

Rights offering fees

1,298,649

Placement fees

1,647,095

Stamp tax duty

1,038,090

Other expenses
Total expenses including Greenshoe
(over-allotment)
Costs related to Greenshoe capital
increase to account for in January 2017
Net expenses for period
Net IPO capital increase expenses
in profit and loss statement
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266,210
5,546,464
-125,324
5,421,140
156,114

2.9

FINANCIAL RESULT

Expressed in CHF

Financial income
Foreign currency exchange gains
Total

2,763,404
2,763,404

Financial expenses
Interests to shareholders

2,750

Other interests

2,827

Bank fees

8,128

Foreign currency exchange losses

2,100,477

Total

2,114,182

2.10 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Related parties are individuals and companies where
the individual or company has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the other party or to exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial
and operating decisions. Related parties of the Company and its subsidiaries include:
Board of Directors of Varia US Properties AG
Stoneweg SA, Geneva (Switzerland)
Peak Capital Partners (USA).
Board of Directors				
The Board of Directors is considered as key management. In the period under consideration, expense in
the amount of CHF 65,559 was paid or accrued as of
December 31, 2016, of which CHF 10,000 was paid as
compensation to the directors Jaume Sabater and Taner
Alicehic in 2015 (CHF 5,000 each).
There was no other compensation to the Board members for their role or for additional work, except for the
Board members paid by Stoneweg SA that are involved
in the asset management duties of the Company. In particular, no performance related compensation and no
compensation in shares or other stocks were allocated
to Board members. No loans or credit facilities were
granted to any member of the Board or related parties
during the period and there were no such receivable
outstanding as December 31, 2016.
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Transactions of Varia US with Stoneweg SA		
Varia US Properties AG entered into an Asset Management Agreement with Stoneweg SA (Stoneweg) to
manage the investments and the administration activities of the Company.
During the accounting period ended December 31,
2016, Stoneweg SA has charged the Company about
CHF 2.0 million in placement and capital increase fees
that have been accounted for as transaction costs
against the share premium proceeds.
Transactions of Varia US subsidiaires
with Stoneweg SA and Peak Capital Partners
Stoneweg SA and Peak Capital Partner remuneration
fees for the services provided to Varia subsidiaries
and underlying investments during the reporting period are disclosed in note N to Varia US Properties AG
consolidated financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2016.
Additionally, Peak holds most of the non-controlling
interest in Varia real estate subsidiaries. 		
Shareholding rights of
Board of Directors members		
Beat Schwab, sole Member of the Compensation Committee and Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee
owns 1,853 shares of the Company as of December 31,
2016. Patrick Richard, Executive Member and Delegate
of The Board of Directors, owns 30,000 shares of
the Company as of December 31, 2016. The other
members of the Board are not directly shareholders
of Varia US Properties AG.				
				

3

OTHER INFORMATION

3.1

DECLARATION ON THE NUMBER
OF FULL-TIME POSITIONS ON
ANNUAL AVERAGE			
Varia US Properties AG has no employees at December
31, 2016 and has never employed any staff.			
						
3.2 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As of December 31, 2016, the Company has signed
a tenancy agreement for the Company office in Zug
which started on January 1, 2017 and requires monthly
rental payments of CHF 840. This rent can be terminated with a six month notice at the end of each quarter.
The Company had no other contingencies and other
off-balance sheet transactions at December 31, 2016
that would have to be disclosed herein.
At December 31, 2016, the Company has entered
into various business commitments to buy multiple
new multifamily housing properties in the amount
of USD 90.05 million through its newly formed subsidiaries as detailed in Note 3.3 below.
The operations of the Company may be affected by
legislative, fiscal and regulatory developments for which
provisions would be made when and where deemed
necessary.
					
3.3 SIGNIFICANT EVENTS OCCURRING
AFTER THE BALANCE SHEET DATE
During the 2016 second semester, the Company set
up three new Varia US subsidiaries – Varia US
Columbia LLC, Varia US PNW LLC, and Varia US
Midwest LLC – and started investing in new properties
the proceed of its IPO capital increase. On February
7, 2017, it invested USD 23.6 million in Crowne Lake
(272 units) in Columbia (South Carolina) and on February 9, USD 18.3 million in The Ridge on Spring Valley in
Dallas (208 units).
Six other deals are currently under contract for a total acquisition cost close to USD 93.35 million. These
properties are located in Missouri (St. Louis), Indiana
(Evansville), Washington State (Bremerton – Seattle)
and Texas (Dallas Fort Worth area).			
Since the balance sheet date as of December 31, 2016,
there has been no other further event that would
have a material impact on the financial statements and
related disclosure.		
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Expressed in CHF

Proposition of appropriation of the available earnings
Voluntary retained earnings at December 31, 2016
Net profit for the period from September 28, 2015 to December 31, 2016

Available earnings

1,274,229

1,274,229

The Board of Directors of Varia US Properties AG proposes to the annual general meeting the following appropriation of the
accumulated profits:

Proposition of appropriation
Allocation to the general legal reserve issued from net profit
Dividend
Balance to be carried forward
Total

64,000
998,807
211,422
1,274,229
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Proposition of distribution of reserves from capital contributions			
The Board of Directors proposes to the Annual General Meeting a withholding tax exempt distribution of CHF 1.20
per share from the reserves from capital contributions. Based on the total number of shares issued of 6,658,710, this
distribution is equivalent to a reduction in the reserves from capital contributions of CHF 7,990,452.			
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STATUTORY AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE GENERAL MEETING OF VARIA US PROPERTIES AG, ZUG
REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Statutory Auditor’s Report
To the General Meeting of Varia US Properties AG, Zug

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Varia US Properties AG, which comprise the balance sheet as at
31 December 2016, and the profit and loss statement for the period from 28 September 2015 to 31 December 2016,
and notes to the statutory financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.
In our opinion the financial statements (pages 108 to 118) for the period ended 31 December 2016 comply with
Swiss law and the company’s articles of incorporation.
Basis for Opinion

119

We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under
those provisions and standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the entity in accordance with the provisions of Swiss law
and the requirements of the Swiss audit profession and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with these requirements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Report on Key Audit Matters based on the circular 1/2015 of the Federal Audit Oversight Authority
Valuation of Investments

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of
the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

1
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Valuation of Investments

120

Key Audit Matter

Our response

The company developed its investment portfolio by
means of the establishment of investment entities and
the acquisition of the shares of the Ariston Opportunity
Fund (“investments”). At the balance sheet date, these
investments amount to CHF 64 million. The
investments are valued at the lower of the historical
cost and the recoverable amount. Management
undertake an annual impairment assessment to
compare the book values to their recoverable amount.
That recoverable amount is determined by the net
assets of each investment.

As part of our audit, we challenged management's
assessment of investments and the valuation
methodology used.
Our procedures included the following:
— We reperformed impairment tests on the basis of net
assets according to audited financial information of
investments;
— If the recoverable amount of an investment was less
than the carrying amount, we tested that a
corresponding impairment loss was recognized.

For further information on the valuation of investments refer to note 1.4 “Investments”.

Responsibility of the Board of Directors for the Financial Statements
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements in accordance with the
provisions of Swiss law and the company’s articles of incorporation, and for such internal control as the Board of
Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the entity’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the entity or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with Swiss law and Swiss Auditing Standards, we exercise professional judgment
and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:
— Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
— Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
internal control.

2
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SHARE INFORMATION
KEY STOCK EXCHANGE FIGURES PER SHARE

VARIA STOCK AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE
2016
Listing

SIX Swiss Exchange
(standard for Real Estate
Companies)

Ticker symbol

VARN

Swiss security number

30 528 529

ISIN

CH 030 528 529 5

Nominal value per
share (CHF)

CHF 1.00 per registered
share

Total registered shares

6,658,710

Registered share capital

CHF 6,658,710

Conditional share capital

CHF 0

Total voting rights

6,658,710

Authorized share capital

CHF 665,871

CHF

2016

Share price high

37.00

Share price low

34.90

Closing rate

36.60

Average volume per trading
day (number of shares)
Market capitalization per
December 31

6,365
CHF 243,708,786
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KEY FIGURES PER SHARE
USD

2016

Earnings per share – basic

USD 3.37

Earnings per share – diluted

USD 3.37

Operational cash flow
per share

USD 1.11

Free cash flow per share

USD 0.89

Equity per share attribuable
to Varia

USD 33.65

Distribution per share1)

SHARE PRICE
December 8, 2016 – April 10, 2017
VARN Share
Swiss Performance Index (SPI) rebased

CHF 1.35

1) Board of Directors’ proposal to the Annual General Meeting
on May 23, 2017

42
40
38
36

06.04.17

30.03.17

23.03.17

16.03.17

09.03.17

02.03.17

23.02.17

16.02.17

09.02.17

02.02.17

26.01.17

19.01.17

12.01.17

05.01.17

29.12.16

22.12.16

15.12.16

08.12.16

34

Varia US Properties shares are listed on the Swiss Stock Exchange (SIX) since December 8, 2016. The shares have
been issued at the offer price of CHF 35.00 per share. The all-time high in the reporting year was CHF 37.00. At the
end of 2016, share price was at CHF 36.60. On December 31, 2016, market capitalization was CHF 243,708,786.
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SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE
As at December 31, 2016, there were 190 shareholders entered in the share register. 93.68% of registered
shareholders were domiciled in Switzerland, 6.32% outside Switzerland. The following shareholders held 3%
or more of the outstanding share capital of Varia US
Properties at year-end:
Name
Varia SPC, Cayman Island

124

Dreyfus Soehne, Basel
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31.12.2016
57.2%
8.0%

After the exercise of the 464,562 greenshoe shares
in the Company’s IPO increasing the total number of
shares issued to 6,658,710 on January 6, 2017, these
figures declined to:
Name
Varia SPC, Cayman Island
Dreyfus Soehne, Basel

06.01.2017
53.2%
7.5%
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CONTACT

CONTACT FOR INVESTORS
Michael Dueringer
c/o IRF Communications AG
Raemistrasse 4
P.O. Box
CH-8024 Zurich
Phone +41 43 244 81 42
investors@variausproperties.com
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